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DAY 1 – 23 JUNE 2015 

 

  [10.02 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning, everyone.  So in terms of appearances it is 5 

Ms Hill for the Airport, LPC and Waterloo? 

 

MS HILL:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does anyone else want to record their appearance who 10 

hasn’t been here yet?   

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, I need to, Ms Limmer for Fulton Hogan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you very much, Ms Limmer.  Okay, 15 

Mr Cleary, all right.  Okay, now, Ms Viskovic, just before we get 

underway, so are there any preliminary issues anyone would like to 

raise before we get going on any matters arising from minutes or 

anything else?  

 20 

 One thing I recorded in one minute was that there were some witnesses 

no one seeks to cross-examine and I can now indicate that the Panel has 

no questions of those witnesses either.  So I will leave it to counsel as 

to whether parties wish to have those witnesses called on that basis and 

it is on the usual basis that obviously for any witness we can’t give any 25 

assurance that we will accept their evidence necessarily at this stage of 

the inquiry but should put that out there in terms of the value it might 

provide in terms of additional time. 

 

 Now, Ms Viskovic, you have indicated in your submissions that the 30 

Council would be open to caucusing, I think you describe, at some 

stage with other parties and their witnesses? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes, sir, that is correct.  Given the changes, and the Council 

appreciates that these were circulated relatively late in the piece, the 35 

Council would be open to caucusing, perhaps planner caucusing in 

relation to the revised proposal that the Council is now supporting. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well, we won’t make any ruling on that at the 

moment, it depends on what other parties feel about that as well but I 40 

can just indicate that inquiries are being made as to the availability of 

an Environment Commissioner.  If a Commissioner is available it is 

likely to be on the days that we are not sitting, that parties should sort 

of think about their diaries on the latter part of this week and on 

Monday next week.  Probably I would suggest for a day if that is what 45 

the parties want. 
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 So following your opening, Ms Viskovic, we are going to have 

Mr Long sworn and simply for the purposes of providing clarification 

on the changes that are in the most recent version, given that like us I 

suspect all parties are in the same position of maybe not even having 5 

had a chance to read them before they come into this room, and to give 

those parties an opportunity to understand what the Council’s position 

is on matters that are of interest to them.  So that will happen following 

your opening. 

 10 

  [10.05 am] 

 

 There may be one or two questions of clarification from the Panel 

arising from that and if parties wish to ask any questions of Mr Long, 

in terms of clarification matters, if they could do so through the Chair 15 

and cross-examination will be reserved until later on.  So, Ms Viskovic, 

your opening, thank you. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir, and I will just begin by introducing my 

colleague and Ms Yargish (ph 0.42) to the Panel. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   These opening submissions are made on behalf of the 

Christchurch City Council in respect of proposal 8, the subdivision, 25 

development and earthworks part of the proposal in relation to the 

proposed Christchurch Replacement District Plan. 

 

 This proposal is important to the plan as it provides the framework for 

subdivision of land within the Christchurch district.  This supports the 30 

residential, commercial and industrial provisions of the plan and will 

enable development to occur within the district.   

 

 The Council and submitters have been involved in facilitated mediation 

as well as informal mediation and this has resulted in the agreement on 35 

a number of suggested changes to the proposal.  The Council has also 

given consideration to the main point of contention between the parties 

that existed following the mediations and the exchange of submitter 

and rebuttal evidence, namely the activity status that subdivision should 

have in the Christchurch district. 40 

 

 The Council has now developed a framework for a controlled activity 

status for subdivision which is contained in the version of the 

subdivision proposal it now supports and that suggested framework is 

provided as annexure A to these submissions. 45 
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 Given the amount of reformatting that the chapter has undergone, the 

Council has not shown the changes it is now proposing as red line as it 

did not consider that such a version of the chapter would be of 

assistance to the Panel.  However, this morning we have circulated to 

the Panel and to the other parties a red line version which compares the 5 

version of the proposal that was attached to Mr Long’s rebuttal 

evidence as annexure B and the revised proposal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. Now, Ms Viskovic, I haven’t interrupted you to date 

but you could probably present a highlights package. 10 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Sure.  So in section 2 I have just set out the scope of the 

hearing.  There are a number of provisions that have been deferred for 

later consideration or have already been considered by the Panel.  I just 

note in paragraph 2.2 that the Council and Ngāi Tahu consider that the 15 

definition of springs could perhaps be deferred also to be considered as 

part of stage 2.   

 

 And also the counsel for the Radford Family Trust approached the 

Council, as recorded in paragraph 2.3, regarding the deferral of some 20 

provisions which relate to the Industrial General zone North Belfast as 

the zoning and so on will be considered as part of stage 3, so it may 

also be appropriate to consider the subdivision provisions which 

specifically relate to that area as part of stage 3 also. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, in terms of the package of objectives and policies 

and so forth there are some on the likes of cultural landscape, I take it 

that we deal with those now? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   In section 3 of my submissions I have set out the issues 

arising from the strategic directions decision and just note that the 35 

Council has refined the objectives and policies slightly as a result of the 

strategic directions chapter and to more clearly express those.  And just 

note at paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 that the proposal that the Council is now 

supporting is a more refined package, a more refined framework, a 

simpler structure of the subdivision proposal and the Council considers 40 

that it better meets the statement of expectations and objective 3.3.2 of 

the operative replacement district plan. 

 

 In section 4 of my submissions I have discussed the controlled 

activities for New Neighbourhood Zones.  In this section the Council 45 

has set out the reasons for the position it took regarding the activity 
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status of subdivision in the New Neighbourhood Zone in its evidence.  

However, I note that following the filing of submitters evidence the 

Council, in particular Mr Long, has given further consideration to the 

activity status of the New Neighbourhood Zone in line with the 

redrafting of the subdivision proposal to enable subdivision as a 5 

controlled activity in that zone. 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 The Council is now satisfied that although some of the outline 10 

development plans included in stage 1 of the plan may not meet all of 

the requirements of policy 6.3.3 of the Canterbury Regional Policy 

Statement sufficient information has been provided in those ODPs and 

is covered in the rule package that relates to the ODP areas to enable 

subdivision to be a controlled activity in the New Neighbourhood 15 

Zone.   

 

 Specifically the Council considers that outline development plans 

notified in stage 1 cover the critical matters relating to servicing, 

density and roading when they are considered in the context of the 20 

proposed replacement district plan rule and policy framework. 

 

 Finally, the Council also considers that a policy could be added to the 

subdivision proposal to set out the requirements of future outline 

development plans to be included in the plan.  This proposed policy is 25 

included as policy 8.1.2.9 in annexure A and it aligns with policy 6.3.3 

of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement. 

 

 In section 5 of my submissions I have discussed the restricted 

discretionary activity status versus controlled activity status more 30 

broadly in relation to subdivision and note that a number of submitters 

oppose the use of a restricted discretionary activity status as the default 

status for subdivision in the replacement district plan.   

 

 Primarily the Council’s concerns regarding use of a controlled activity 35 

status for subdivision are related to issues that could arise if a site was 

unable to be adequately serviced.  However, as discussed by Mr Long 

in his evidence, the Council also had concerns around achieving a mix 

of densities and potentially needing to turn down applications in certain 

circumstances where there are specific issues in particular relating to 40 

iwi.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In relation to your earlier point is the Council’s position 

that the jury will remain out on the activity status for that matter in 

regard to springs until those matters are considered on their merits 45 

later? 
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MS VISKOVIC:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 5 

MS VISKOVIC:   I suppose we are just noting this here as there may be some 

circumstances in which it may be appropriate although they are not 

necessarily being considered as part of this hearing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just following up on that, you may not know the answer to 10 

this, but in stage 3 when broader cultural and natural heritage matters 

are going to be considered, could that potentially amend some of the 

subdivision provisions in some of the zones that are covered in stage 1 

and 2? 

 15 

MS VISKOVIC:   I think it will add to the subdivision provisions, it would be 

my understanding, so there may be further assessment matters or 

matters that must be met.  I think there is a placeholder in annexure A 

which shows where some of those matters may be covered off. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   For assessment matters, yes, but could it potentially have a 

different activity status, for example in a significant ecological area or 

something like that?  I mean that is just - - - 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I am not sure what exactly is proposed but, yes, I understand 25 

that something additional could be potentially added to cover that off. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, thank you very much.  So we don’t need to 

worry about those sorts of things now? 

 30 

MS VISKOVIC:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, 5.4, well, you refer to annexure A in 5.3 which 35 

is in front of us. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes.  In relation to servicing of subdivided sites, while there 

is acknowledgement from the submitters that subdivision should not be 

approved where there are capacity constraints evidence presented on 40 

behalf of a number of submitters suggested ways in which a controlled 

activity status for subdivision could work. 

 

 In evidence the following suggestions were made as to how that 

framework could work for subdivision.  These include: inclusion of a 45 

constraints overlay; referencing of the Infrastructure Design Standard 
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in controlled activity assessment criteria’s; and the concept of 

applicants to demonstrate that capacity is available to enable 

subdivision. 

 

 While the Council considers that a controlled activity status for 5 

subdivision could be provided it has concerns regarding the inclusion 

of a constraints overlay or the incorporation of the IDS by reference 

into the plan for the reasons that I have set out in my submission. 

 

  [10.15 am] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   In relation to the constraints overlay, this has been suggested 

by a number of submissions, the proposal is that an overlay could be 15 

used to determine areas of the city with servicing constraints with 

subdivision in those areas being assessed as a restricted discretionary 

activity and those without constraints having a controlled activity 

status. 

 20 

 While the Council does not oppose such a concept at a conceptual level 

there are some issues with how it would actually work in practice and 

these include issues relating to how this would be mapped and how that 

map would be updated over time.  I have set out in paragraph 5.7 of my 

submissions some of the concerns that have been raised by the 25 

Council’s technical experts in relation to this matter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   In relation to referencing the Infrastructure Design Standard 30 

at paragraph 5.9, a number of witnesses have suggested that this could 

remove the need for prescription in the Council’s proposed rule 

framework as it was proposed by Mr Long previously and they have 

suggested that the IDS be an activity standard that must be met to 

enable controlled activity subdivision. 35 

 

 Again, conceptually the Council does not necessarily oppose the 

concept of referencing the IDS however there are again some practical 

issues with doing so.  As discussed by Mr Long, Ms O’Brien and 

Mr Norton, the IDS is updated frequently and cross-references to other 40 

non-statutory documents.  The Council considers the IDS essentially to 

be a living document and would not want to be constrained in updating 

it.  And the issue that it has with including the IDS by reference into the 

plan would be that a plan change would be required to ensure that the 

most appropriate version or most up-to-date version of the IDS is 45 

referenced at any time.  You could end up with a potential situation 
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where by the time the plan change has run through the IDS itself is 

already out of date. 

 

 Some of the language in the IDS is also quite general. For example, 

section 5.6.1 which relates to integrated stormwater systems to achieve 5 

the six values, it includes broad language and references the 

Waterways, Wetlands and Drainage Guide and that further non-

statutory document is referenced quite significantly in the stormwater 

parts of the Infrastructure Design Standard as well.  

 10 

 It is also recorded that as a whole the IDS is quite a broad document 

that relates to infrastructure development throughout Christchurch.  It 

includes 12 parts that relate to different types of infrastructure 

including, for example, roading, lighting, open space as well as 

provision of water, wastewater, stormwater et cetera. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the Council’s position is effectively if the IDS was 

able to be used by way of a reference without being incorporated into 

the plan, such as in a ready reference document of some kind, that 

might be okay but as a reference point for standards it is not a suitable 20 

document? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 25 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And it is currently referred to in the provisions of the plan, it 

is noted, I can’t remember the exact reference but there is reference to 

the IDS currently included in the subdivision proposal.   

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   We have been provided with a copy of the IDS which is 

helpful, thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, so 5.1.6. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Applicants to demonstrate that capacity is available.  As an 

alternative to the use of a constraints overlay a proposal has been 

advanced that controlled activity standards could be included that 40 

require the applicant to demonstrate there is sufficient servicing 

capacity for the development.  Essentially this is the approach that 

Council has adopted in drafting the version of the subdivision proposal 

it is now supporting. 

 45 
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 In the attached version of the subdivision proposal rule 8.2.2.1 

generally provides for subdivision as a controlled activity provided the 

specified activity standards are met.  In relation to servicing the activity 

standards at rule 8.2.3.1.7A, 8A and 9A require that the proposed 

subdivided site has adequate water, wastewater and stormwater 5 

servicing. 

 

 In relation to the ability for the Council to amend an application for 

controlled activity subdivision I note that this matter seems to also be 

covered in the Crown’s submissions, I don’t propose to read that unless 10 

it is of assistance. 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 15 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And then I also note, as we have already discussed this 

morning, at 5.23 the Council is happy to be involved in witness 

caucusing if it would assist the Panel. 

 20 

 At section 6, a number of submitters have sought that compliance with 

outline development plans be in general accordance with, rather than in 

accordance with outline development plans, this is traversed in the 

Council’s evidence but I note that the Council considers that there is 

already a level of flexibility in the outline development plans through 25 

the plans showing fixed and flexible elements and so does not consider 

that that amendment is appropriate.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 30 

MS VISKOVIC:   In section 7 I have discussed the residential medium net 

density site area provisions and note that in setting the provisions per 

hectare the Council is being constrained by the necessity to give effect 

to the requirements of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, 

therefore it does not consider that it is able to amend policy 8.1.2.8, 35 

which sets out the density targets for the city.  

 

 At 7.3, I note that through mediation, and as discussed by Mr Long in 

his rebuttal evidence, the Council has agreed that the minimum net site 

area in the residential medium density zone should be 200 metres 40 

squared, and then at 7.4 I have noted consequential amendments 

proposed to the minimum allotment dimension. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 45 
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MS VISKOVIC:   I note that at sections 8-18 of the submissions this sets out 

the Council’s position in relation to specific issues raised by submitters.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MS VISKOVIC:   If it is helpful, I can take the Panel through those, but 

otherwise I assume - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think we could probably assume those are read. I 

had one question, I take it with 13.1 on bird strike, that the intention 10 

there is for the policy to apply broadly, is that right, or is it a policy 

subject to a three kilometre surplus? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   That the policy is to apply broadly, that’s my understanding. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. All right, Ms Dawson, any further questions? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I just had a general question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, well, there may be a couple of general 20 

questions from Panel Members, Ms Viskovic. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Ms Viskovic, I just wanted to make sure I was absolutely 

clear about what aspects of the New Neighbourhood Zones are before 

us as part of this set of hearings, as opposed to stage two and stage 25 

three.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Sure. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So there are the outline plans that are before us, and my 30 

understanding is that in front of us are just two outline plans at the 

moment, so I am not - - - 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes, although I understand that there was a proposal to 

perhaps bring in two other areas that was discussed in the residential 35 

hearing though. In relation to the New Neighbourhood Zone I 

understand that the evidence was primarily before the Panel in relation 

to the residential hearing, Mr Long was tasked with redrafting the 

subdivision provisions in relation to the controlled activity status that 

was put forward during that hearing, but in terms of what was notified 40 

in the plan, I understand there are just the two outline development plan 

areas. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, the North Halswell and the Masham/Buchanans Road 

area. 45 
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MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So then there’s the matter of the subdivision rules for that 

zone, because my recollection in the residential hearing is that the New 

Neighbourhood Zone for Prestons and Wigram was potentially going to 5 

be replaced with an established New Neighbourhood Zone for at least 

those areas that are established, and I understand that might be coming 

up in stage three. So I just need – I mean, it would be good to know, 

and maybe Mr Long can answer this more clearly, as to the extent to 

which the New Neighbourhood provisions are just generally before us 10 

and will therefore apply to whatever comes along at a later stage as 

New Neighbourhood Zone, even if it’s not zoned in stage one yet, but 

might come along and it’s grey in the planning maps for stage one, or 

whether for areas like Wigram and Prestons eventually that will be 

rezoned or will come up as another zone again, as an established New 15 

Neighbourhood Zone. 

 

  [10.25 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I will need to confirm, but my understanding is that the 20 

notified provisions are essentially before the Panel and then those will 

presumably also apply to future outline development plan areas that 

will be notified at later stages, but that the intention is that the rule 

framework is put in place through this process. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, unless a subsequent stage yet again changes those to 

another zone again. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   To another zone entirely, yes, in which case they will be 

obviously re-notified at that later stage. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, which could be stage three because it is not notified yet. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. I only ask questions, so I will be 

interested in what Mr Long says about the extent to which the 

residential provisions for outline plans for Prestons and Wigram are a 

matter for us to consider at the moment and why and for what purpose. 

 40 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will put that question when Mr Long is called first, 45 

because it is a question of clarification. 
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MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple of matters, Ms Viskovic, and it may be that 

these can be covered at some stage in closing. On the concept of a – 5 

you made submissions in regard to the difficulty that would be 

presented with having to update a document from time to time and the 

need for plan change, I am thinking about that concept a little bit in 

regard to what’s now proposed, and it occurs to me, for instance, that 

there may be some enquiries we want to make about the helpfulness or 10 

otherwise of a constraints map tool, but on the basis that it sits outside 

the plan as a document able to be updated.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I am interested in submissions on the capacity for us to 

do that without getting into difficulty. That issue has come up in 

previous hearings as well, a ready reference tool of some kind, for 

instance, to indicate green areas that people say, well, you are 

automatically controlled activity if you’re in the green area. 20 

 

 The other issue which I am interested in submissions on is in regard to 

the concept of certification and whether or not, for instance, and I will 

ask the relevant witnesses about this, whether or not there might be 

some value in allowing a process of certification that there is 25 

infrastructure capacity available, again to give an automatic green light 

if that certification is secured through the relevant Council manager as 

a prerequisite to the application being controlled, and obviously the 

default may well be controlled if you can establish it. 

 30 

 But anyway, these are matters for discussion during the course of the 

hearing and I do not expect you to answer them now, but there are 

some legal parameters to that. I take it from your submission that they 

are relevant because your submission related to the need to update the 

plan from time to time and I am wondering whether we can escape that 35 

noose by having a tool outside the plan that the plan references in a 

vires way. Nevertheless, that’s a matter for submission at some stage. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly. We will give that some thought and cover that in 

our closing. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. The other substantive matter of a legal nature, again I 

need submissions on this issue, is in regard to the environmental 

compensation policy. Now, this, as far as I can tell, isn’t really 

addressed in any substantive sense by any witness as far as I can tell for 45 
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anyone. Policy 8.1.1.3A – I had the pages all sorted before, but now I 

have to find them again. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Page 3? 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, on page 3, there’s a policy there which simply is to 

apply the concept of environmental compensation where net benefit 

would arise et cetera. Now, first of all I want to know where that policy 

came from, was it the Council who initiated it or did it come from 

another party? Do you know the answer to that? 10 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I don’t know the answer to that off the top of my head, but - 

- - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Long could possibly help me there. 15 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Mr Long can probably help. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Secondly, that is going to relate to the second question as 

to where I see the burden of legal submissions on that as to what the 20 

concept of environmental compensation where net benefit would arise 

actually means. Where does it derive from under the Act? Does it 

derive from section 5.2C and the other aspects of section 5? How does 

it sit with the protection aspects of section 6? Have relevant cases been 

considered in developing that concept, the Transmission Gully Board 25 

of Inquiry decision, I think the Environment Court made a decision on 

this in regard to one plan, in regard to the concept of environmental 

compensation, and how does it sit with the Regional Policy Statement 

and in particular policy 9.3.1? So those are outstanding questions for 

me at the moment on that policy. 30 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 

 And the next question I’ve got in regard to the whole framework of 

policies and I’ll explore these with relevant witnesses, is given the 35 

Council’s change of position, what implications does it have for the 

framing of various policies that use coercive language, such as “ensure 

this”, “ensuring that”, “must do this and that”, can that sit with a 

controlled activity in the same way as it was proposed to be aligned to a 

restricted discretionary activity. 40 

 

 I thought I will just flag those, you may not have answers for them at 

the moment, but your relevant witnesses listening can tune their ears to 

that and provide answers to the Panel in due course. 

 45 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. So are we going to call Mr Long now, have him 

sworn, have him produce these updated provisions and answer any 

questions of clarification from the Panel or through the Chair? 

 5 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly. The Council calls Mr Long. 
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<ANDREW JEFFREY LONG, affirmed [10.31 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Before Mr Udale has answered any preliminary questions, 

I omitted something as a matter of courtesy to my Panel members, I 

should have introduced the new Panel member to my right, Mr Udale, 

Mr Martin Udale, so you will see Mr Udale from time to time on 

matters going forward, thank you. 5 

 

 Ms Viskovic. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.32 pm] 

 10 

MS VISKOVIC:   Can you please confirm your full name is Andrew Jeffrey 

Long and that you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

your evidence-in-chief dated 21 May 2015? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 15 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this 

particular hearing, an evidence-in-chief dated 21 May 2015 and a 

rebuttal statement dated 15 June 2015? 

 20 

MR LONG:   Yes, correct. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any changes or amendments you would like to 

make those statements? 

 25 

MR LONG:   There was one clarification to my rebuttal evidence at paragraph 

10.5. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Actually just pause before you go any further. I think the 

only value I see now in Mr Long presenting is just to explain what has 30 

been updated. Certainly we could go through and make corrections to 

his substantive statements but normally we would expect to be done - - 

-  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: - - - when he’s called for the purposes of cross-examination 

and it may save a bit of time, so I’m happy for that to be left till later 

unless you think those clarifications need to be made to understand his 

update. 40 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   No, I don’t think so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 45 
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MS VISKOVIC:   The only other thing, and I’ll take guidance from the Panel 

on this, is Mr Long has also prepared an update to his accept/reject 

table - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - which does take into account I understand the changes 

that are now proposed, so I was going to have Mr Long. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, what I think we will do is we’ll produce these as 10 

three exhibits - - -  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - 1, 2 and 3, and so perhaps you could – just for the 15 

purposes of confirming and bringing these in, if you could just do that I 

think, we’ll call the first one the “untrack version of exhibit 1”. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Sure. So Mr Long, I understand that you have prepared an 

updated version of the subdivision proposal? 20 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, correct. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And this is the version that was attached to the Council’s 

opening legal submissions and could you now please present that as an 25 

exhibit. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Exhibit 1. 

 

EXHIBIT #1 – CHAPTER 8 – REVISED PROPOSAL ATTACHED TO 30 

LEGAL SUBMISSION, 22 JUNE 2015 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I also understand that there is a redline version of the 

chapter which compares the version which was presented as annexure 

B of your rebuttal evidence and the revised proposal which the Council 35 

is now putting forward? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And do you present that as an exhibit? 40 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It’s exhibit 2. 

 45 
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EXHIBIT #2 – RED-LINED VERSION COMPARISON ANNEXURE B 

OF REBUTTAL 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And finally, I understand you have prepared this document - 

- -  5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now this one I don’t have in front of me – and to counsel, 

yes, thank you. 

 

MR………:   Thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do counsel have a copy? 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 15 

MS VISKOVIC:   Which is entitled “Updates to the Accept/Reject Table”? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you briefly explain what this document is. 20 

 

MR LONG:   Sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just pause a minute, I think just to make sure counsel have 

it in front of them so that they can understand this – it’s important that 25 

parties who are being represented here know where the Council has 

changed its position. 

 

 Thank you, Ms Viskovic. 

 30 

MS VISKOVIC:   Mr Long, if you could just explain what this document is. 

 

MR LONG:  Certainly, the accept/reject table tabled this morning updates only 

those rows that have changed since the original accept/reject table on 

the 21st of May, and it accompanies the revised proposal which is 35 

exhibit A or 1 today, 22nd of June/23rd of June. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And will you now produce that document as an exhibit. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Exhibit 3. 40 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

EXHIBIT #3 – UPDATES TO THE ACCEPT/REJECT TIMETABLE 

 45 
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MS VISKOVIC:   Now I understand that you have prepared a summary of the 

changes that the Council is now proposing to the subdivision, could 

you please take the Panel through those and then remain to answer any 

questions of clarification that the Panel may have. 

 5 

MR LONG:   So the submissions in evidence raised issue with the format of 

the chapter as notified. The Council agrees that there are formatting 

issues with the chapter as notified and to that end I included in my 

rebuttal evidence a revised format at attachment B to my rebuttal, 

revised proposal dated 23rd of June builds on that format and 10 

represents my preferred position. 

 

 It is my view that the revised format is simpler, easier to follow, 

reduces bulk and repetition. It resolves issues the notified version had 

with the standards which were triggers for assessment rather than 15 

standards, and with appearing to some to require multiple consents. The 

revised format is much clearer in that a single consent being required 

subject to standards. 

 

 The revised format is more like the format of other chapters and is set 20 

out as follows: Objectives and policies, administrative provisions, 

activity tables which identify activity status, relevant activity standards 

and matters for control or discretion – it then sets out activity standards 

and then the matters for control and discretion, there are then 

appendices. 25 

 

 The revised proposal brings together the numerous activity tables, 

included a notified version, and relocates the standard contained in 

those tables to an activity standard section or where appropriate matters 

for control or for discretion. 30 

 

 How the format works is in tied into activity status and there are 

significant changes in this regard also which I’ll set out now. In terms 

of activity status the Council’s starting position in drafting the chapter 

for notification was that subdivision should be a restricted discretionary 35 

activity. This was based on the understanding that section 104(a) of the 

RMA required controlled activity consent to be granted to an 

application largely as it was received and not modified through 

conditions of consent. 

 40 

 The opposing view is that while consent must be granted the Council 

can impose any conditions provided there is scope to do so within 

matters for control. 

 

 During consideration of this matter and preparation of my rebuttal 45 

evidence, my understanding of this interpretation has changed. It’s now 
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my view that the Council is able to impose conditions on the consent 

where there are matters of control, providing scope. 

 

 My view therefore is that the controlled activity status is appropriate, 

provided that matters of control are included which provides scope and 5 

provided that some matters where the Council has additional 

responsibility or concerns have an elevated activity status or are 

covered by appropriate assessment standards. 

 

 In my view this is better because it allows the rules to be less 10 

prescriptive and more flexible and also better achieves the objectives in 

the strategic directions chapter, in particular objective 3.3.2(a)(2) and 

the order in Council, schedule 4(a)(2). 

 

 The Council in processing subdivision consent applications has adopted 15 

a collaborative approach, and I expect the revised version of 23 June 

will better enable that to continue. 

 

 In terms of the residential new neighbourhood zone, the revised 

proposal of 23 June continues to provide for subdivision as a controlled 20 

activity, in line with the direction from the hearings on proposal 14, 

residential. 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 25 

 Given what I have just said in relation to interpretation of section 

104A, I am now comfortable with this and note the concerns identified 

in my rebuttal evidence have been allayed.  For the same reasons, I am 

comfortable that the ODPs in stage one do not need to be revised as 

suggested in my rebuttal.   30 

 

 In terms of concerns raised in my evidence-in-chief and rebuttal around 

servicing constraints, revised proposal includes activity standards for 

water, waste water and stormwater.  These are not of the prescriptive 

type as previously for the reasons I have noted but set out capacity and 35 

connection requirements as well as system type requirements where 

necessary. 

 

 It is my expectation that in practise the chapter will enable the existing 

collaborative approach to consenting to continue.  If an application 40 

were received that the Council considered would not provide adequate 

capacity, I expect the Council would seek to reach agreement and/or 

address this through conditions of consent before elevating the activity 

status.  That is all I have. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Long.  Look, there may be just one or two 

minor questions of clarification, appreciating that you will be recalled 

later on for cross-examination.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Mr Long, just so that, I am sorry, I have not had 5 

as much time as I would like to read it, so just – because you have said 

that that you have included some standards, either standards that the 

controlled activity must meet to remain a controlled activity where 

Council has specific concerns and sometimes the activity status may be 

elevated or something similarly.   10 

 

 Can you just tell us what additional standards you have included in here 

relating to controlled activity status?  Is it just the standards relating to 

the servicing capacity or to the need to include any other additional 

standards? 15 

 

MR LONG:   I think the standards that are included in the revised proposal are 

the same group of standards as in the notified version, they are 

reformatted and some have been deleted for easements for example as 

previously subject to a standard and now it is a matter for control or 20 

discretion. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because I only mean really between the version that came 

with your rebuttal and this version, what additional changes have you 

found - - - 25 

 

MR LONG:   In terms of standards? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well the first part of my question is in terms of standards.  I 

guess it is this red line version that I have got in front of me and to save 30 

me flicking through, you just tell me what was done. 

 

MR LONG:   So my memory is I have not necessarily deleted or added any 

standards but I will just make sure that that is the case.  So what you 

are seeing in purple is the additions.  In terms of New Neighbourhood 35 

Zones and servicing, those are taken from what was there previously so 

the previous version has set out a number of standards with controlled 

activity standards specific to the New Neighbourhood Zone and 

because the alternative is now controlled activities those two sets of 

standards have been put together. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So like the standard for storm water in Masham and North 

Halswell, they are now in a standards but they were there? 

 

MR LONG:   They were there before, they were just combined with the other 45 

standards. 



 Page 21 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

 

MS DAWSON:   In that big long list previously, so those two have remained. 

 

MR LONG:   That is correct. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Well, have you picked out any sorts of subdivision where you 

needed to say, “now that is not going to be part of this new controlled,” 

like any areas or I think the port is, in terms of its overlays - - - 

 

MR LONG:   The port is one. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   The port will not, has not been brought into controlled, has 

it? 

 

MR LONG:   No.  And the other one is subdivision, floor level and floor 15 

management area. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, all right.  That was just the sort of thing I wanted to 

make sure I had my head around.  Have you, you have not done any 

particular reformatting of the matters of control, you have left those 20 

much as they were in the - - - 

 

MR LONG:   Matters for discretion?  Matters for control are largely I guess 

new.  There were some for residential New Neighbourhoods in the 

previous version because they were controlled but because subdivision 25 

and the rest of the district covered by stage one was previously 

restricted discretionary activity, there were not matters for control so 

those matters listed now as matters for control are a combination of 

new matters and those taken from what was there previously for a New 

Neighbourhood Zone. 30 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, yes, so there is a big new set of number four 

there under matters controlled so that is all new and then the industrial 35 

ones have been kept. 

 

MR LONG:   Carried over. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, no, that is good to know.  Thank you very 40 

much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions Mr Udale? Just two matters very briefly, 

Mr Long, on the matter of the environmental compensation policy 

8.1.1.3, did that come in through a submitter? 45 
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MR LONG:   No, there was a policy in the existing city plan or operative city 

plan that that was based on, we also looked at the regional policy 

statement obviously. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I will have more questions on this later.  And are 5 

you satisfied that in the time available to produce this latest iteration; 

you have had enough time to consider the fine wording of the policies 

that are associated with these provisions? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, all right, Ms Viskovic, thank you.  So we will 

stand this witness down, he is free to talk to you about anything and we 

will re-swear him when he comes back. 

 15 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Long. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.46 am] 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, the next witness, Ms O’Brien. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   So the Council calls Ms O’Brien. 

25 
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<BRIDGET MARY O’BRIEN, affirmed [10.47 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.47 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now with all witnesses, bear in mind the Panel has read 

the evidence, we are well familiar with it and the witnesses can be brief 

in their summaries.   5 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Can you please confirm that your full name is Bridget Mary 

O’Brien and that you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

evidence you have previously presented to this Panel? 

 10 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I understand you have prepared two statements of evidence 

for this particular hearing evidence-in-chief, dated 21 May 2015 and 

rebuttal statement dated 15 June 2015. 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any changes or amendments to those 

statements? 20 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   No. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I understand you have prepared a brief summary of your 

evidence in relation to this hearing.  Could you please take us through 25 

that summary and then remain where you are to answer any questions. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   My evidence focuses on water and wastewater infrastructure 

aspects of the subdivision chapter in the proposed replacement district 

plan.  It is important to consider water and wastewater servicing of a 30 

new subdivision including any upgrades required in the wider network 

at the subdivision application stage of the project. 

 

 In my opinion, subdivision consent should only be granted where there 

are Council water and wastewater networks with sufficient capacity to 35 

support the subdivision or where the Council has definite plans to 

undertake a project to extend the network or increase the capacity of 

that network by the time the new units are expected to connect unless 

the developer is providing water and/or wastewater services on site or 

undertaking the necessary upgrades. 40 

 

 Ideally, information about water and wastewater capacity issues that 

affect subdivision should be publically available so that this can be 

taken into account by the property owner or perspective purchaser.  I 

am about to prepare a citywide map showing wastewater constraints 45 

and plan to make this publically available on the Council’s website.  
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This map will need to be updated every one to two years for example to 

show a reduced constraint area where upgrades to the wastewater 

network have resolved capacity issues. 

 

 I do not support including this map in the District Plan as updating the 5 

map would require a plan change which would be unnecessarily 

onerous and would reduce the frequency of map updates.   

 

 There is also some uncertainty about capacity issues in areas where the 

Stronger Christchurch Infrastructure Rebuild Team, SCIRT, is 10 

changing the wastewater network and actual capacity will not be 

known until the rebuild is complete in 2016, flow monitoring 

undertaken in 2017 and the start of the (INDISTINCT 4.58) to 

calibrate the network model. 

 15 

  [10.50 am] 

 

 I support the proposed Outline Development Plan policy and consider 

that the two layer diagrams – one showing land use and the other 

showing infrastructure, including water and wastewater and the 20 

corresponding narrative, would enable an appropriate level of detail to 

be provided to ensure that the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement is 

implemented.  In my opinion the ODPs and PRDP should be updated to 

meet the requirements of this policy. 

 25 

 For those areas served by vacuum or pressure sewer system, in my 

opinion, these should be included on the ODP as a fixed element.  For 

areas where there is insufficient wastewater capacity, I have been 

recently involved in developing an acceptable solution that will allow 

development to proceed without exacerbating overflows from the 30 

wastewater network during a storm event. 

 

 For smaller developments, the developer is provided to replace private 

wastewater lateral or undertake a closed circuit television (CCTV) 

inspection to demonstrate that it is sound.  This is to reduce 35 

groundwater infiltration to Council’s wastewater network which would 

otherwise reduce the capacity of the network.   

 

 For larger scale residential developments or for commercial and 

industrial properties where wastewater flows are expected to increase, 40 

the property owner is required to install an on-site storage system for 

wastewater which allows the Council to remotely monitor and control 

the discharge and prevent discharge from the property during storm 

event when the network is already at capacity. 

 45 
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 In terms of the activity status for subdivision, it was previously my 

opinion that this should be a restricted discretionary activity to allow 

the Council discretion about whether the subdivision should be 

approved, for example if there was insufficient wastewater capacity, 

and to allow for negotiation with the applicant about the most 5 

appropriate way to provide water and wastewater servicing.   

 

 However, I acknowledge that the subdivision under the Operative City 

Plan is a controlled activity and Council officers are already able to 

negotiate with applicants about infrastructure servicing and for these 10 

matters to be included as conditions of consent.  Following further 

discussion with Council planners and legal counsel, I now support 

subdivision being a controlled activity with the activity standards for 

water and sanitary sewage proposed by Mr Long in 8.2.3.1. 

 15 

 Regarding the infrastructure design standard, I do not support including 

compliance with this document as a rule or activity standard.  The 

infrastructure design standard is a living document and the Council 

needs to retain the ability to easily update it to reflect best practice, 

changes in technology and major events such as earthquakes.  If it was 20 

included in the Proposed Replacement District Plan then a plan change 

would be required to update it and this would be contrary to it being a 

living document.  Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much.  Mr Carranceja? 25 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [10.53 am] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you sir.  Good morning Ms O’Brien.  Look just 

before I ask you some questions if I could get the Secretariat to just get 30 

ready for us a copy of Exhibit A which is the Council’s restructured 

version of the proposal as provided yesterday.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes we’ve just got to be patient with each other on page 

numbering.  I’m not going to tell anyone off about that. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, I don’t have it on my screen so I’m going to be 

flicking through pages, but it’s a technical issue, it’s all right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 40 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, Commissioner.  Well thank you for 

confirming the change in position regarding controlled activity status.  

It’s certainly something the Crown is happy with but I just want to 

explore with you a bit more about the practicalities of giving effect to 45 
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controlled activity status, especially from your perspective being water 

and wastewater.   

 

 Now you mention that you are going to do constraint mapping and I 

appreciate your position, you don’t want it in the Plan, but it will be 5 

you are intending to make the resource available to the public.  And I 

understand as well that the reason you intend to change it is because as 

the network is upgraded the constraints might shrink, but at the same 

time as people take up capacity the constraints might increase.  Is that 

essentially the concept that you are concerned about?  The map can 10 

change over time? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, that’s true. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:    That has been taken up with capacity being added to it? 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes that’s correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Right.  Now I noticed in the standards now proposed by 

Mr Long that it requires essentially an applicant to tell the Council that 20 

there is capacity available.  What I want to suggest to you is that isn’t 

the reality of the situation that it is the Council that will know whether 

there’s capacity in the network, not an applicant per se? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Perhaps true. 25 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, so really what an applicant will need to do is to 

call the Council and find out, hey is there capacity? 30 

 

MS O’BRIEN:  That’s correct, and we’ve recently set up a wastewater capacity 

inbox for those, exactly those sorts of queries. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay.  Now if we take your proposal where you’re not 35 

going to have a constraint map in the plan but it’s going to be a 

publicly available resource and presumably a developer can look at the 

website perhaps and look at the map and say, “I’m there.  I’m in an 

area that is not subject to constraint.”  Right? 

 40 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now, my understanding from your perspective is if a 

person is outside of a constraint area from your perspective there’s no 

reason why from a certain point of view they cannot become a 45 

controlled activity? 
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MS O’BRIEN:   Correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Correct.  Now in terms of providing developers with 

certainty I am just wondering, and Judge Hassan mentioned this, about 5 

the certification approach, and I am wondering if I could explore that 

with you.  If a person, if a developer rings up the Council, presumably 

the first thing an officer will check, in terms of capacity is, does a 

person lie within a mapping area where there is no constraint?  Correct? 

 10 

MS O’BRIEN:   Correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Could that officer then issue a certificate saying, yes 

you are intending a 500 lot subdivision, there is 500 units, whatever, of 

capacity available.  We can give you a certificate confirming that there 15 

is capacity so that when you lodge your resource consent application 

that confirms from the Council’s perspective there is capacity and 

therefore your controlled activity.  Could that work? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, that could work. 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay.  And presumably, just thinking about how you 

map these things, there might be parts of the city where, at the time you 

created a map, let’s say it’s a six month old map, more areas of 

capacity might have opened up but it hasn’t been mapped.  That is a 25 

real possibility isn’t it?  It is not in the map but capacity might have 

become available? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That’s true. 

 30 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Again it would be presumably the operational people or 

the, at the Council, that would know whether that new capacity exists? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, which is why I say we need to update the map every one 

to two years to reflect those changes in our network. 35 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Correct.  But to save the developer from having to wait 

one or two years for the map to be updated, presumably again a 

developer could call up the Council and say, “look, this area is not 

within your mapping area of where there is no constraint.  Could you 40 

please check whether there is now no constraint in this area.”  That is 

still something that the Council can do? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, of course. 

 45 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and again, could that be the subject of a certificate 

issued to a developer saying, there is capacity here although it is not 

mapped, and therefore you will be a controlled activity. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay.  Is yet another possibility for the Council, and I 

am going to talk about ODPs.  The Council has mentioned that some of 

the ODPs are not as detailed as they could be in terms of what the RPS 

might require but if we are looking towards the future, new ODPs 10 

coming in, through plan changes or even stage 3 or 2, I don’t know, 

conceptually those ODPs could deal with wastewater, water constraints 

and again those ODPs could be provided (INDISTINCT 3.30) that 

there is capacity.  Correct? 

 15 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes and I would expect the ODPs, when they are being 

developed, to take into account water and wastewater capacity and for 

that assessment to have been done as part of preparing the ODP and so 

therefore if the development is in accordance with the density shown 

on the ODP then there would be no issue with saying that there was 20 

capacity because they had already been assessed. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, so again from your perspective if a developer 

complies with an ODP that has taken into account wastewater, water 

constraints, you would have no issue with it being a controlled activity? 25 

 

MS O’BRIEN:  That’s right. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And you would not need a certification or a mapping 

exercise for that? 30 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   No. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay.  Now I would like to perhaps turn – changing 

topic now.  If we look at page 20 please, I hope it’s going to be page 20 35 

on this version of the proposal, but what I am looking at is, I am 

looking at clause 8.2.4.1 - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Page 21. 

 40 

MR CARRANCEJA:   - - - 21 sorry, yes it has changed.  Page 21 now, looking 

at general matters which is number four.  I am just trying to come up to 

speed with these new provisions so I might have missed a few 

examples of these but I think this one will suffice for now.  8.2.4.1 

number 4, general matters, number 2.  Can you see that there? 45 
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  [11.00 am] 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Mm’hm. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, so this here is a matter of control, for controlled 5 

activities, and so what the Council has sought to retain control over is 

the ability to impose conditions as to compliance or meeting the 

Council’s design standards, guidelines and management plans. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Right.  What I’d like to ask you though, is again to 

provide clarity for developers and the wider public as to what those 

standards and guidelines and management plans are.  Would you have 

any objection to actually expanding that and explaining what they are?  15 

For example, I think from your evidence you have referred to the 

Wastewater Design Guide, the Construction Standards Specification 

and also the IDS, correct? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   There is no wastewater design guide. 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   There is no wastewater design guide? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I referred to the Infrastructure Design Standard and the 

Construction Standards Specifications. 25 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   And the management plans referred to here I understand are 

probably Stormwater Management Plans. 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.   

 

MS O’BRIEN:   But for the reasons we have explained previously we 

specifically did not want to give them their proper names, because if 35 

we did that then we would need to do a plan change to update those 

documents, so that is why it has been kept fairly general.   

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, well what I’m talking about is, I appreciate that 

that concern would arise regarding standards, in other words the Crown 40 

accepts that it doesn’t want a standard saying “you must comply with 

these documents and then you’re controlled activity”.  This is a matter 

of control where the Council is able to look at a document it can change 

– just accept that position for now, okay, as a matter of control you can 

change that standard outside the Plan.  The Plan just refers people to 45 

that document.   
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 If you take this provision as a reference to a document that the Council 

can take into account rather than something that – it doesn’t require 

something to be met, it just allows the Council to impose conditions 

dealing with this, don’t you think it would be of assistance to let the 5 

public and developers and other people know what they are? 

 

 I mean at the moment it is just design standards, guidelines and 

management plans.  You have got a document called the IDS, you have 

got a document called the Construction Standards Specification. 10 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, that would be helpful. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay.  So that’s a matter of control.  There is also an 

equivalent provision, I won’t refer you to it, but I think it might be on 15 

page 26, possibly 27, but the reference is 8.2.4.2, number 11, letter A. 

 

 Yes, it is page 27.  Okay, and again there that is a matter of discretion, 

this is presumably for restricted discretionary activities.  The Council 

again will want the ability to check whether a proposal meets – to the 20 

extent to which it meets these standards, guidelines, et cetera.  Again, 

you would have no reason to object to having greater specificity 

regarding what the document side that the Council would be looking 

at? 

 25 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, I would have no objection, providing we could update 

them without having to do a plan change. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and that’s a proviso, if it can be updated, no 

problem.  Okay.  I would like you now to look, please, at policy 30 

8.1.3.1A, you will find that I think on page 6.   

 

 A minor point really, first of all.  8.1.3.1A the opening words of that 

Ms O’Brien that “the subdivision of land to create additional allotments 

has managed to ensure”  Do you think that the opening phrase up to 35 

and including the words “to” should be extracted from A and made a 

separate sentence, so that A and B follow below that?  Because 

otherwise B kind of reads as a standalone - - - 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, that would be clearer. 40 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, good. So that’s the first thing.   

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Then have A and B underneath. 

 45 



 Page 32 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And have A and B underneath, great.  Now I want to 

draw you now to the latter part of A – now the policy has been changed 

to now refer to where “infrastructure is not performing, serviceable or 

functional” I take it you accept that wording is fine? 

 5 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Would you agree that the reference to “infrastructure 

not performing, serviceable or functional” should also be carried over 

into the matters of control and discretion, incessant matters that it’s 10 

seeking to implement this policy? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, that would be helpful. 

 

  [11.05 am] 15 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   All right.  Well in that case, could I refer you please to I 

think it is on page 28.  I will just check this in my version, yes, it is on 

page 28, and what we are looking at here is a matter of discretion for 

servicing.  It is rather a long list, but if we go page 28 and we go to the 20 

bottom of page 28, I’m looking at Y. 

 

 Page 28, its clause 11, so it’s further up I think.  That’s it, down the 

bottom, Y, and it reads there “where infrastructure serving the land has 

been damaged by earthquakes where the repairs are necessary before 25 

the development, post-development can proceed”, you see that there? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes.  

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now, the Crown’s proposal is to delete the words 30 

“repairs are necessary” – and keep going, right till the very end, 

because it doesn’t want to force developers to figure out whether there 

is damage and that sort of thing, and replace that with the words – so it 

will read “when infrastructure serving the land has been damaged by 

earthquakes whether” this is the new bit – “the infrastructure has been 35 

restored to a state that is” again, “performing serviceable and 

functional.”  Would you agree with that alternative wording? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes in part.  I think you could just repeat the previous one, 

and I don’t know that you would need to say that “whether the 40 

infrastructure has been restored to a state”, I think you could just say 

“whether the infrastructure is performing serviceable and functional.” 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Performing serviceable and functional.  Okay, so from 

your perspective “infrastructure that is performing, serviceable and 45 

functional” is the matter that you would be looking at? 
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MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   It wouldn’t be damage or, it would be “performing, 

serviceable and functional”, is that correct? 5 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, thank you.  So that would be the more accurate 

way to deal with that.  I think that covers all my questions.  Thank you 10 

very much, Ms O’Brien.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Carranceja.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  I had lots of questions for you before, 15 

Ms O’Brien, but I don’t need to ask a lot of them now, thank you very 

much, a lot of them have been sorted out.   

 

 I want to look at the wording of the new standards for controlled 

activity, they are on page 18, I think.  Yes, page 18 of the exhibit 2, the 20 

track change version I have, so it will be a slightly different page to the 

– it is page 17 of the untracked changed version. 

 

 So for the areas that you are helping us with, this water supply and 

wastewater disposal, and it is 7A and 7B.  So just looking at 25 

wastewater disposal “all allotments to be provided with the ability to 

connect to a wastewater system with an adequate capacity.”  It follows 

on from the questions, Mr Carranceja, has been asking you about, about 

the certainty of this and how that is to be determined. 

 30 

 Now, I think he took you through, or there might be a map for areas 

where it is quite clear and then the applicant can know.  He took you 

through a potential certification process if it’s not so clear, or things 

might have changed but it does have a capacity.  The area I am 

concerned about is – I mean could the situation occur where at first 35 

blush, or say in a mapping sense the Council hasn’t mapped an area as 

having capacity, it’s not certain, but if certain conditions were imposed 

on that subdivision and the applicant undertook those conditions and 

did the works, that there would be sufficient capacity and functionality 

or serviceability within the wastewater system to allow that subdivision 40 

to go ahead? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, that is possible where the developer could undertake 

some sort of works that would provide the capacity that was lacking, 

yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So that could happen, it is not like black or white, or it then 

defaults to restricted discretionary? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   So my concern is, how will that be worked out in a certain 

way between the applicants meeting and the Council in terms of 

meeting this standard. It’s sort of a bit of a chicken and egg situation. 

 

  [11.10 am] 10 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I guess in reality what would happen is the developer would 

come to us and they’d know, because we’d previously advised them 

that this is an area of capacity constraint and we would work with them 

to work out, well, what would need to happen to relieve that capacity 15 

constraint, is it just as simple as upgrading a length of pipe along the 

street, in which case the developer may say, well, I’m happy to fund 

that or perhaps the Council could agree to fund that”, and we agree that 

providing that particular pipe is upgraded that capacity is available. 

Does that give them enough certainty, I don’t know? 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, yes, I guess this question will then come to Mr Long, I 

guess, as to whether this rule is adequate to cover exactly that situation 

that you’ve just described, which seems practical and probably what 

happens even at the moment. So – and it may be that the sort of matter 25 

that Judge Hassan and Mr Carranceja has talked about, about having 

some form of certification, like if people came to you early and you 

worked all that out then maybe a certification that that’s all been agreed 

and that’s the solution would then be the method to make sure that the 

standard is met upfront and doesn’t mean that the activity status 30 

defaults to restricted discretionary. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, you could have a certificate perhaps that set out that 

capacity is available provided X, Y and Z are completed.  

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and that then gets submitted by the applicant. So, yes, 

because what you’ve explained to us seems to be the practical situation 

that would happen in reality, but I am concerned that that may not be 

provided for by the simple way the standard is written for now. 

 40 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. Now I just want to look at these outline 

development plans for the areas that are already in the plan, and 

particularly I think you’ve mentioned North Halswell ODP, so did I 45 

hear you correctly to say that it is still your opinion that this outline 
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plan isn’t adequate in terms of the detail that it shows? I mean there’s 

no narrative with it so we can’t rely on a narrative, and that it doesn’t 

show adequate detail from a water and waste water servicing point of 

view. 

 5 

MS O’BRIEN:   Well, it shows no detail whatsoever for water and waste water 

servicing, so a developer looking at this plan does not know that the 

North Halswell area is a pressure sewer area, for example, and there is 

in fact no way that they could construct a gravity system that could 

connect into our network, it would be technically impossible, so I think 10 

it is important that the ODP shows that, if not on the map, then in the 

narrative. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are you familiar enough with the rules that would attach to 

this area to know whether they adequately capture those matters, 15 

irrespective of the fact that it’s not shown in the ODP itself? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   From my recollection there is a rule in the revised proposal 

which specifically says that it is a pressure sewer area, I can’t recall the 

number off the top of my head.  20 

 

MS DAWSON:   It’s just between the one we’ve been looking at, D in my 

version. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Which page sorry? 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, page 18. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I’m on the clean version, sorry. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Clean version, it is page 17.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There it is on the screen there. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, so I think that helps but I still think that the ODPs are a 35 

long way off being what I’d like them to be and they’re a long way off 

meeting the requirements of the policy that’s proposed in this revised 

proposal.  

 

MS DAWSON:   So I mean as I understand it there are these two in particular 40 

in front of us that have already been notified, well, that are in front of 

us that have been notified, and I think there’s a clear message that they 

don’t meet the new policy, I don’t think there’s anyone that disagrees 

with that, or not strongly. It is really a matter of whether the package of 

rules and the ODP that’s been notified adequately covers off the issues 45 
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for these ones that have already been notified or whether we will have 

to make a call as to whether they should be re-notified and upgraded.  

 

  [11.15 am] 

 5 

 So I am interested in your view whether the matters that you are 

concerned about that aren’t on this ODP are adequately covered by the 

rules or that there are still some gaps. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I think my main concern was about the developer knowing it 10 

was a pressure sewer area, and that’s been covered by the rule, but for 

example I don’t think a proper assessment of water servicing has been 

done for this particular area. It may have been considered some time 

ago but that was before my time. We could probably live with the 

ODPs as they stand, but it would be my preference for them to be 15 

updated.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Now, in a more general sense about ODPs, you mentioned I 

think in your statement that certain things should be fixed elements and 

it goes to all the elements of an ODP, so how do you make a decision 20 

about what should be a fixed element and what could be a flexible 

element within any particular ODP? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I think a flexible element is where we’ve got some room for 

negotiation, for example it might be that the point at which the waste 25 

water network from the ODP area connects into the wider network, that 

might be a flexible element, it might not really matter whether it’s at 

that particular intersection or 50 metres down the road, whereas, say, 

for North Halswell it’s very important that it, being a pressure waste 

water system, is a fixed element because we’ve got no room to move 30 

on it. A decision has already been made that all the greenfield areas in 

the Halswell area will be on a pressure sewer network and it would be 

impossible for a developer, if they wanted to connect to our network, to 

have a gravity system or a vacuum system, for example. So that’s how 

I’ve made the distinction. So in terms of waste water, most elements I 35 

would imagine would be flexible.  

 

MS DAWSON:   So it will be on a case by case ODP area basis? I mean 

sometimes it might be very important exactly where a waste water 

sewer exits that subdivision, in other cases it might be more flexible, 40 

and that’s the sort of discussion you consider, I think you said, would 

need to go on in the process of preparing the ODP before it’s notified. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   And to decide what is flexible, what is inflexible and what’s a 

particular concern.  

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Just a couple of other questions. I want you to confirm that 

you’ve said in your main evidence, I’m looking here at the Barrington 

area, 7.13 of your evidence, because there have been concerns about 

the level of density in the Barrington area and it seems to be 

accommodated with waste water, but you’ve said that for the RSDT 10 

zoning that has been notified you are comfortable that that’s able to be 

accommodated through just the normal conditions of subdivision and 

the process of picking up anything particular per subdivision. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, because we’ve got plans in place to resolve the capacity 15 

issues for the whole of the Heathcote River catchment, of which 

Barrington is a part, and we have also, in the meantime we have got an 

acceptable solution while there are capacity constraints, so we are not 

going to be making the situation worse in terms of overflows, and my 

understanding is that the RSDT Zoning is similar to the Current Living 20 

2 Zoning in terms of permitted density. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so the concern you expressed to us at a previous 

hearing was more about uplifting that density as opposed to continuing 

with the density that is shown and would then be subdivided according 25 

with these rules? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, I was concerned about an extended RMD area in that 

area, I think would have quite negative effects in terms of overflows.  

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but your surfacing plans at the moment, including this 

interim solution, could accommodate what the existing zoning and this 

rolled over zoning map reflects it? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. In your rebuttal evidence, in 4.1, you have included 

a list of matters that you think an ODP should show, and I want you to 

tell me if you’ve compared that with the new policy about an ODP, 

which is – I am not sure where that has gone to. 40 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, I did and I also compared it to the CRPS. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   At 129, yes.  And are satisfied that the new policy for what 

outline development plans should demonstrate adequately captures the 

sorts of issues that you have listed there in A to F of your - - - 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sorry, which page is the new policy? 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Page 6. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:  Yes, because we have got at A4, we’ve got “adequate 

infrastructure capacity will be available to service the intended 10 

population” and then we have got the servicing plan showing 

infrastructure.  So really this was just a more detailed list of, from a 

water and wastewater perspective, what that would actually mean. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because this was quite specific and here we have got 15 

quite a reasonably general statement, I just want to make sure that they 

correlate and that you are satisfied that these sorts of matters will be 

able to be captured within the wording that has been included in this 

policy? 

 20 

MS O’BRIEN:   Well, the wording that is not captured in this policy is 

captured in the CRPS policy, 6.3.3 for example, when the infrastructure 

will be required and how it will be funded is included in the regional 

policy statement.  So my understanding is the intent wasn’t to duplicate 

the CRPS but to expand on it. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, I hadn’t picked that up.  Okay, well, Mr Long can 

clarify that and confirm that for me but if that is the case that brings in 

another whole layer of information into this policy. 

 30 

MS O’BRIEN:   Mm. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I understand.  All right, thank you very much, that is all from 

me, Ms O’Brien, thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   No, I don’t think I have any questions at this stage, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms O’Brien, likewise the Council’s position 40 

having changed and the cross-examination assistance that I have had 

already means that I have got very little to ask you about.  Just on the 

concept of a certification regime, if there was to be such a regime 

included in the proposal, given what you said about the need for 

updating information, do you have a recommendation for how long a 45 

certificate should last before it expires?   
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 You mentioned one to two years in terms of needing to update 

information, would two years be appropriate? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, I would have thought so and then perhaps if – yes, two 5 

years would be appropriate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now, in terms of the relevant manager for 

certification, I can ask Mr Long this question, do you have any opinion 

as to which manager at the Council the certification should come from? 10 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Well, issues of capacity are dealt with by the Asset and 

Networks Unit of which I am a part.  There is the unit manager for that 

unit is Chris Gregory so it could be him or it could be - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   His delegate? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   His delegate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, thank you. Now, just one other question of 20 

detail, and there are various places where this is referred to and I am 

just going to refer you to one example of this.  Could you go to page 6 

please on the screen and the track change version and it may be 

Mr Long can assist with this as well.   

 25 

 This is one policy which uses the word infrastructure and it comes up 

in various places where that particular word is used and, mindful of the 

need to ensure as much clarity as we can on the intentions of policies, 

isn’t it just a certain type of infrastructure we are needing to address in 

these policies?  For instance, the concept of where infrastructure is not 30 

performing, serviceable or functional, that doesn’t refer, does it, to the 

level of service on the local road network? 

 

  [11.25 am] 

 35 

MS O’BRIEN:   I couldn’t comment on whether it applies to transport or not, it 

may do.  It may be that perhaps if there is a very badly damaged road 

you may not want additional traffic on it but that is - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I appreciate it is beyond your area and it is a matter 40 

for Mr Long and perhaps that is where I will leave it, but I am still 

struggling with making sure it is as clear as possible.  Clearly it needs 

to apply to the infrastructure you are responsible for? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   That is about as far as you can take it? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, and I would have no objection to listing out the types of 

infrastructure that it applies to.  You could list out water, wastewater, 

stormwater, roads if you wanted to. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but on the matter of roads you are not the relevant 

expert? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   No. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Ms O’Brien, it was very helpful.  

Any questions arising, Mr Carranceja? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, thank you. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any re-examination or questions arising? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   So, sir, thank you. 

 20 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.26 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right. Well, now it is time I think just to have 

Mr Norton in and sworn before we take the morning adjournment. 

 25 

MS VISKOVIC:   The Council calls Robert Brian Norton. 
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<ROBERT BRIAN NORTON, affirmed [11.26 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN: And there is probably time for his summary as well I think. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [11.26 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Can you please confirm your full name is Robert Brian 5 

Norton and that you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

evidence you have previously presented to this Panel? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 10 

MS VISKOVIC:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this 

particular hearing, evidence-in-chief dated 21 May 2015 and a rebuttal 

statement of 15 June 2015? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 15 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any changes or amendments to those 

statements? 

 

MR NORTON:   No. 20 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  I understand you have prepared a summary of your evidence, 

if you could please take the Panel through that. 

 

MR NORTON:  Thank you.  Good morning.  Subdivision development 25 

increases both the quantity of stormwater discharged and the 

concentration of urban contaminants.  These discharges can have an 

adverse effect on flooding and ecosystem health.  My evidence focuses 

on stormwater infrastructure and mitigation components of the 

subdivisions chapter in the proposed replacement district plan.   30 

 

 Subdivision consent should only be granted where there is sufficient 

network capacity and an appropriately designed facility to mitigate the 

effects of development on both water quality and water quantity.  In 

some cases a stormwater facility may have already been designed and 35 

constructed by the Council or others which caters for a new subdivision 

development.  In other cases subdivision may be required to construct 

their own stormwater mitigation facility which would typically then 

vest to the Council as a public facility.   

 40 

 In addition subdivision must extend the public stormwater network to 

provide service for all of the new building lots that have been created. 

And in certain cases a Council mitigation facility may be available but 

the network capacity between the subdivision and the facility is not 

adequate.  This may require some onsite water quantity mitigation or a 45 

network upgrade to target the specific constraint.   
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 Ideally information about stormwater mitigation and capacity issues 

that affect subdivision would be publicly available and up-to-date in 

order to inform developers of design requirements.  While this is able 

to be done to demonstrate areas where a stormwater facility exists it 5 

would be much more difficult to identify all of the stormwater network 

constraints because the Council does not have a computer model of the 

full network at this time. 

 

 At the moment Council is undertaking a project to create a 10 

comprehensive city stormwater model at a cost on the order of 

$300,000 to be completed within six months.  However, the model will 

only cover part of the reticulated network and will not include small 

pipes and kerb and channel.   

 15 

 While the model will go a long way toward identifying major network 

constraints it will not capture them all.  This model will need to be 

frequently updated as the network is repaired, altered and expanded.  It 

would therefore not be appropriate to include a map of stormwater 

network constraints in the replacement district plan because all the 20 

information is not available at this time and the map would be 

constantly changing.   

 

 My evidence-in-chief supported a restricted discretionary status for 

subdivision because I considered it allowed Council to negotiate with 25 

an applicant the methods, layout and design of stormwater systems.  It 

would also allow the Council to require alterations to a subdivision 

layout in order to provide sufficient space for landscape based 

stormwater treatment systems designed for a range of values.  In rare 

cases it would allow the Council the ability to decline an application 30 

which did not mitigate the adverse effects of its stormwater discharge. 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 

 Subdivision under the operative city plan is a controlled activity and 35 

Council officers are generally able to achieve desired outcomes for 

stormwater, in most cases through conditions. Following discussions 

with Council planners and submitters in mediation, I consider that 

subdivision is able to remain a controlled activity with clear matters of 

control as proposed by Mr Long in his revised chapter proposal. 40 

 

 I support the proposal by the Crown to include policies around creation 

of outline development plans; these ODPs should contain information 

about the provision of stormwater infrastructure including an indicative 

location, size and expected design of the system. Inclusion of an area 45 

would also enable an appropriate level of detail to be provided. The 
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ODPs in the Proposed Replacement District Plan should be updated to 

meet the requirements of this policy. 

 

 The infrastructure design standard stormwater management plans and 

waterways, wetlands and drainage guide are all critical documents 5 

meant to ensure a limitation of robust stormwater infrastructure and 

achieve desired outcomes, however I do not support including 

compliance with these documents as a rule since my understanding is 

the RMA requires a specific document reference date or version. All of 

these are considered living documents and are frequently updated to 10 

reflect best engineering practice, changes to accepted methods and 

ongoing climate science. 

 

 That’s it, thank you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, we’ll take the morning recess and 

– what time do we have – 15 minutes, thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.32 am] 

 20 

RESUMED [11.49 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Carranceja? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Thank you. 25 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [11.49 am] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Good morning, Mr Norton.  

 30 

MR NORTON:   Thank you, good morning. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   The questions I am going to ask you are pretty much 

similar - - -  

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Carranceja, sorry to interrupt you so early, but these 

microphones don’t seem to be as sensitive as the ones in the other 

rooms, so when you hear yourself echoing around the room, it is about 

right. 

 40 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Bring it closer.  Thank you, sir.   

 

 Okay, the questions I will asking you are similar to those that I asked 

Ms O’Brien, but obviously from a stormwater perspective.  So if you 

were here to listen to my questions perhaps we will be able to get 45 

through this relatively quickly. 
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  [11.55 am] 

 

 Now first of all with controlled activity status, I understand you are 

also supporting that, I just want to talk to you about the mechanism 5 

from a stormwater perspective.  Now, you talked about the modelling, 

presumably the modelling that you are using to determine where 

capacity is available can result in a map, a constraints map? 

 

MR NORTON:   It could possibly, yes. 10 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and if that was a capability you would have no 

reason to publish a map to make it publically available so that potential 

developers can look at where stormwater constraints might not be a 

problem. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You mean no reason to or no reason not to? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No reason not to publish it, sir.  Thank you. 

 20 

MR NORTON:  I think a map which demonstrated the areas that could 

adequately be serviced would be easier to traverse than a map of 

constraints. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, so in that case do you think it would be of benefit 25 

again for the enablement of the recovery of Christchurch, for the 

Council to publish such a map, make it publically available? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 30 

MR CARRANCEJA:  Okay.  Now, I want to talk to you now about the 

certification approach, so a developer wants to benefit from controlled 

activity status but the developer needs to find out whether there is 

capacity in the network.  Now, the developer can call up the Council 

and seek a certificate saying yes, there is capacity in this area, correct? 35 

 

MR NORTON:   There is no certificate at this time. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, but it could be a process that could be implemented 

by the Council? 40 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  And the processing officer who receives a request 

for a certificate could utilise the map that you could create, that is one 45 

option? 
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MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and another option is to look at your Council 

records regarding infrastructure, development, capacity repairs, that 5 

sort of thing? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Now, Judge Hassan mentioned a question to an 10 

earlier witness regarding the timeframe for how long a certificate can 

last for.  The presumption I am going to make is that once you issue a 

certificate, there will be a timeframe by which a developer needs to 

lodge a resource consent application to benefit from controlled activity 

status.   15 

 

 From your perspective, how long should a timeframe be?  Do you have 

a view? 

 

MR NORTON:   I realise that a longer timeframe would be beneficial to the 20 

applicant but could become outdated I would say on the order of – my 

preference would be one year - - - 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   One year. 

 25 

MR NORTON:   - - - but I do not see why we could not commit to two years. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   I would like to ask you a factor to consider because 

again this is all new to us really because of the Council’s alternative 

position but how would you prevent a developer from, if you like, 30 

hogging capacity by seeking a certificate for 1,000 units of available 

capacity and then sitting on it to prevent someone else from using that 

capacity? 

 

MR NORTON:  I do not think that is particularly an issue for stormwater 35 

because if the network is not capable of servicing the whole catchment 

then it would be considered under capacity.  I do not know that the 

capacity could necessarily be eaten up by one developer or another. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Right.  And from a timing perspective, I guess you are 40 

talking from an engineering perspective but once a developer knows 

that this capacity is available in the network from a certificate, what do 

you think a reasonable period would be for developers to then proceed 

to actually lodge a consent to, if you like, crystallise that certified 

capacity? 45 
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MR NORTON:   I do not think I have any comment on what a reasonable 

period would be. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, I will leave it there.  We have talked about 

certification; I also want to talk to you about the use of ODPs – Outline 5 

Development Plans.  Ms O’Brien’s answer to my questioning 

mentioned that if new ODPs come in through, say, plan changes or 

subsequent stages of this planned process, and those ODPs comply 

with the RPS requirements that provide further details regarding 

infrastructure, design, availability, that sort of thing.  From your 10 

perspective, could such an ODP address stormwater capacity issues?  

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and if a developer were to establish that their 15 

subdivision would be in accordance with such an ODP inserted in the 

plan, that developer would not need a separate certificate or a separate 

check of the maps, would they? 

 

MR NORTON:   The ODP could guarantee service. 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, okay, thank you, so that is another way to benefit a 

controlled activity status. 

 

  [11.55 am] 25 

 

MR NORTON:   For areas that are not zoned, yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:  Yes, okay. Now again in early questioning of 

Ms O’Brien, I pointed her out to two things, a matter of control and a 30 

matter of discretion which enables the Council to consider its design 

standards and specifications but it was kind of vague.   

 

 My question to you is assuming that a matter of control or a matter of 

discretion that references an external document, that external document 35 

can be amended without plan changes.  Would you have any objection 

to that matter of control or matter discretion to more clearly alert the 

reader as to what, from a stormwater perspective, those documents are? 

 

MR NORTON:   I think my answer is similar to Ms O’Brien’s in that more 40 

clarity on the reference documents is a good thing in general but that 

we could not commit to a specific version. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, I am not asking for that but it is about alerting the 

readers to what type of document they look at.  For example, 45 
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Ms O’Brien referred to – you mentioned the IDS, that is one you could 

mention, the Infrastructure Design Standard.   

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 5 

MR CARRANCEJA:   From your perspective, would you want to mention the 

water waste, wetlands and drainage guide? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, there are several documents that we would probably 

want to reference.  The water waste, wetlands drainage guide, the 10 

natural asset management strategy, City Council now has a standard for 

rain garden design.  We have got a standard for design of storm filter 

proprietary devices, and the CSS and the IDS. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   CSS and the IDS.  What about the stormwater 15 

management plans? 

 

MR NORTON:   Stormwater management plans as well which there will be 

several. 

 20 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And do you think it would be helpful to just perhaps list 

these as the types of documents that applicants need to look at? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 25 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, okay, great.  My last set of questions relate to 

infrastructure when you are looking at capacity issues.  Infrastructure 

which is performing serviceable and functional rather than 

infrastructure that is damaged (ph 2.25), do you recall that point that I 

raised with Ms O’Brien? 30 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and a policy, I have lost the reference, actually, 

bear with me for a second. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Policy 8.1.3.1 on page 6. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, policy on page 6, 8.1.3.1.  Now that policy refers 

to performing serviceable and functional.  You would have no 40 

objection to the corresponding matter of discretion also referring to the 

infrastructure being performing serviceable and functional? 

 

MR NORTON:   I have no objection to that. 

 45 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, thank you.  Sir, I have no further questions. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Carranceja.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you, Mr Norton.  While we are on this 

policy that Mr Carranceja has been talking to you about, 8.1.3.1, I am 5 

just looking at what this policy used to be before.  This is a general 

policy regarding availability of infrastructure and it does not use the 

word “capacity”, it uses the words now, “Making sure subdivision does 

not occur where infrastructure is not performing, serviceable or 

functional.”  10 

 

 Now, do those matters, are those matters different to or separate from 

the word “having adequate capacity” which is what the rule is talking 

about, are they addressing a different matter or are they part of the 

matter of capacity or are they completely synonymous? 15 

 

MR NORTON:   I think to some degree this might be sort of semantics but the 

way it is phrased seems to indicate a foregone conclusion that there is 

infrastructure available on all and seems to be more focused on its 

functionality rather than its availability or capacity. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is what was concerning me.  Now, it may be that is what 

that policy is just supposed to relate to, the performance of 

infrastructure, but if it is supposed to be a policy that supports the rules 

relating to ensuring there is adequate capacity before development 25 

proceeds, I mean my feeling is it doesn’t quite say that, and you are 

confirming that. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 30 

MR NORTON:   I agree.  I think just very minor changes could - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Could expand it to cover. 

 

MR NORTON:   - - - yes, the availability of capacity. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   As well as - - - 

 

MR NORTON:   As well as functionality. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:    - - - functionality.    

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   All right.  Well Mr Long might be able to help us as to 

whether that is what is intended or whether this is particular policy of 

just dealing with the second issue.   

 

 All right.  Now, I want to ask you similar questions to those I asked 5 

Ms O’Brien.  So if you could turn to the rule, the standard about 

capacity in relation to stormwater, which – have you got the tracked or 

the untracked version there? 

 

MR NORTON:   I have an untracked version. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that is on page 17 I think.  So standard A just says “all 

allotments shall be provided with a means for effective management of 

collected surface water from all impervious services” - it seems to be 

the sort of broad standard.  So as I said to Ms O’Brien, will there be 15 

situations where conditions need to be imposed on a subdivision to 

ensure this happens? 

 

MR NORTON:   Absolutely. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So I don’t know if you understood what I was trying to 

say, but as this is a standard that is a pre-condition almost to being a 

controlled activity status, like you have to meet this standard before 

you are a controlled activity, and you don’t impose conditions until 

after you are a controlled activity.  Somehow we need a mechanism 25 

that incorporates those subsequent condition actions up front, and 

would a certification process be one means that might be able to do 

that? 

 

MR NORTON:   I think with stormwater it is a bit more complex maybe than 30 

wastewater servicing, because you have got possibly more flexibility to 

do things onsite to mitigate your effects, and sometimes what is needed 

is a combination of onsite and offsite service.  And then a lot of the 

discussion around wastewater and water supply deals with capacity, 

meaning literally space in pipes to move wastewater or water. 35 

 

 Where in terms of stormwater, it is not just about moving water but 

also mitigating it through storage and treatment as well, so I consider 

the capacity to be not just the network itself but also the mitigation 

system.   40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if we put Greenfields to one side, because in theory that 

should be sorted out at the ODP stage, and you look at subdivision 

within the existing urban area, do we need a standard relating to 

capacity in that situation for stormwater? 45 
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MR NORTON:   You mean as sort of demonstrated in number 9? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because 9A isn’t really about capacity - - - 

 

MR NORTON:   No, not at all. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - it is about saying the allotment that is coming up for 

subdivision has got an effect and it’s system supported. 

 

MR NORTON:   Has a way of disposing.  Yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   So how are you going to know that when the subdivision 

arrives on your desk? 

 

MR NORTON:   I guess the only way is through a review of the application.  I 15 

mean it’s about the pieces of information that the applicant gives you to 

determine whether or not it is adequate to service individual allotments.  

But further than that, it is also about determining if there is adequate 

facilities to mitigate other effects, or if a facility is not contained within 

the development that there is a way of adequately moving stormwater 20 

from the development downstream.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So how often would you, I mean could circumstances arise 

where you need to say that an allotment can’t provide effective means 

of managing stormwater, even with the imposition of conditions? 25 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

MR NORTON:   I think it would be rare.  It may be that implementation of 

onsite stormwater makes the subdivision not economic.  But that 30 

wouldn’t be sort of our decision, that would be up to the applicant I 

suppose to decide. 

 

 I think it is possible to mitigate nearly any type of development, it is 

just that economic question. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   What I wanted to explore is given the level of discretion that 

you would have to apply on a case by case basis to determine whether 

standard 9A is met, and possibly the need to impose conditions even to 

ensure it is met, do you need that as a standard or is it something that 40 

can just be dealt with as a matter of control. 

 

MR NORTON:   As a matter of control.  I would say that these items in here 

could be dealt with as a matter of control. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, because it is a bit different to the water and wastewater 

and where there may just not be capacity. 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes.   

 5 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you very much.  Now, the other matter I 

want to ask you about was the Halswell or the two ODPs that are in the 

Plan before us. 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes.  10 

 

MS DAWSON:   The Halswell one and the Masham one, and they do contain 

different levels of detail.  Now, I think you said in your summary that 

you feel that the Halswell North one doesn’t contain sufficient detail 

from a stormwater point of view.  Can you explain what you mean by 15 

that to us, please. 

 

MR NORTON:  At the time this ODP was developed there was some 

uncertainty about the location of the stormwater facilities that would be 

needed to service the development. We are talking about large 20 

facilities, these will be large ponding areas, and the City Council’s 

Stormwater Management Plan had one possible layout, which had 

ponding areas sort of alongside the waterway shown to the north.   

 

 And the applicant – as you are probably aware, there are applicants 25 

who are proposing to develop soon on part of this development – and at 

the time they were looking at alternate system which involved moving 

all the stormwater down to the bottom at Sparks Road.  So I think at 

that point we didn’t know where the stormwater system was going to 

go and it was really flexible as long as it catered for the whole 30 

development and provided sufficient capacity, we didn’t mind where it 

went.  

 

 So when this got produced it didn’t actually specify where those 

stormwater facilities would go, so what they have shown on here is one 35 

existing facility up at the top of Days Drain, which is the second 

waterway.  That one is there now, it is built and doesn’t service this 

development, so none of the stormwater facilities designed to service 

this development are shown on here, only the waterways. 

 40 

 So that is one item that would need to be – it could be listed as a 

flexible item with an anticipated location and then some narrative about 

what we would expect in terms of how the first flush in there is treated 

and how the detention system needs to work. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   But that is completely missing from that area as it is. 
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MR NORTON:   It is, yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So have you looked at whether there are any rules specific to 

this area that would help overcome that gap?  I am sorry I haven’t even 5 

looked to see if there are or not. 

 

MR NORTON:   Matters of control? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Standards.  Actually there are some standards, so they are on 10 

page 18 I think of your version.   

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, so there are two specific standards for this area. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay. 15 

 

MR NORTON:   And this was cut down from a long list of prescriptive 

standards.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, to the previous version, yes. 20 

 

MR NORTON:   That’s right.  And these two, they are area specific needs, one 

is to mitigate effects on Hendersons Basin ponding area, the other is to 

ensure that two timber lined drains become – which carry a base flow 

of groundwater become enhanced waterways so these two items are not 25 

really sufficient to ensure that stormwater servicing is provided. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so they don’t address the latter you’ve just talked about 30 

in number four - - - 

 

MR NORTON:   That’s right. 

 

MS DAWSON: - - - they’re more specific other matters that need to be 35 

addressed. 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if this outline plan was to go ahead as it is now, even with 40 

those rules, the matter of servicing of any particular bit that came 

along, part of subdivision that came along would just need to be dealt 

with under the normal matters of control, without any more level of 

certainty from the outline plan, without the level of uncertainty that one 

would normally expect from an outline plan. 45 
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MR NORTON:   Right.  The matters of control are fairly extensive and would 

hopefully fill in the gaps that would be needed to ensure a good 

outcome. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But they, yes, and are you familiar with the Regional Policy 5 

Statement’s requirements relating to stormwater in Outline 

Development Plans? 

 

MR NORTON:   Somewhat. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I won’t ask you, I will ask Mr Long about that.  The 

Masham/Buchanans Road area, south Masham, do you have similar or 

other concerns relating to stormwater in relation to that outline plan? 

 

MR NORTON:   I consider this outline plan to be an improvement over the 15 

Halswell one in terms of actually showing some locations for 

stormwater mitigation. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 20 

MR NORTON:   It doesn’t specify that these need to be infiltration systems 

because there is no reticulated network to serve this block so that is 

something that could be added for some clarity. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That may be picked up by the rule possibly? 25 

 

MR NORTON:   I think it has been picked up in one of the standards. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Of a standard, yes.  All right.  So that has got a slightly more 

or increased level of detail over the Halswell one we were discussing?. 30 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  All right.  And is it your preference that these outline 

plans or certainly the Halswell north one be upgraded? 35 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the Plan itself? 

 40 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 
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MR NORTON:   The Halswell one for example is a set of Outline 

Development Plans that Council created sort of for a different use at the 

time.  It was to be that transitional zoning - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   That’s right. 5 

 

MR NORTON: - - - so they don’t indicate size or the types of stormwater 

facilities that would be needed.  Yes, they are just indicative really. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That’s all my questions.  Thank you very much Mr Norton. 10 

 

MR NORTON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Udale? 

 15 

MR UDALE:   No, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Norton, likewise very few questions now given most 

matters have been covered off for me, thank you.  Just a couple of 

matters, one is just looking at your evidence at paragraph 5.3 which is a 20 

good perhaps orientation paragraph for you.  There you refer to the 

importance of flexibility in regard to stormwater design. My 

understanding from your evidence and your answers now is there may 

be different ways, on site treatment, piping off or a combination of the 

two with regard to stormwater - - - 25 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  - - - it depends on the site and so forth.  There is a policy, 

this one that I asked Ms O’Brien about and which is referred to you at 30 

8.1.3.1 and that refers to the subdivision of land to create additional 

allotments is managed to ensure development does not occur in areas 

where infrastructure is not performing et cetera.  Am I right to 

understand that if we were to tune that up a bit it could be to recognise 

that actually you do not necessarily need infrastructure in order to 35 

provide for development in regard to stormwater management? 

 

MR NORTON:   I think you need infrastructure but it may be internal or 

external to the development.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  All right.  So it may just be a question of 

making sure that that is a bit clearer than it is at the moment? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   This second issue where you expressed your preference 

for getting the ODP for North Halswell clearer than it is at the moment.  

From what you know about that, do you see that as something you 

could practically discuss with the relevant people involved with North 

Halswell during the course of the next day or so to see if that can be 5 

achieved? 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now a matter for counsel to consider on that 

matter is to take that message away and consider it and also consider 

the question of jurisdiction, mindful of the nature of the issues which 

from my impression seem to be just technical.  Do you agree with that, 15 

Mr Norton?  It is about technical design rather than offsite impacts? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, well thanks very much.  I do not 20 

have any further questions.  You may go for the moment.  Thank you. 

 

MR NORTON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, sorry I jumped the gun.  Questions arising 25 

Mr Carranceja? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No sir, thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Viskovic? 30 

 

MS VICKOVIC:   No sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, thank you very much, you may go. 

 35 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.15 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now next witness, Mr Long I think.  Just a matter for 

counsel to note as well that Commissioner Sutherland is available to 

assist with facilitation for whether the parties want some form of 40 

caucusing or facilitated mediation or a combination of the two.  He is 

available on Friday the 26th, this Friday from 10am. 
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<MR ANDREW JEFFREY LONG, affirmed [12.16 pm] 



 Page 58 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [12.16 pm] 

 

MS VICKOVIC:   Mr Long I will just get you to confirm some details which 

you confirmed earlier this morning, in particular that your name is 

Andrew Jeffrey Long, that you have the qualifications and experience 5 

set out in your evidence-in-chief of 21 May and that you have prepared 

two statements of evidence for this hearing, namely evidence-in-chief 

dated 21 May 2015 and a rebuttal statement dated 15 June. 

 

MR LONG:   Correct, yes. 10 

 

MS VICKOVIC:   You indicated this morning that you may have some minor 

changes or amendments to those statements. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes.  So at paragraph 10.5 of my rebuttal on page 17 I refer to 15 

clause J.  I just wanted to make sure or clarify that that was the clause J 

listed under paragraph 2.3, not the other clause J. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   10.3 after J, right? 

 20 

MR LONG:   Yes.  I will also take the opportunity to backtrack on some advice 

I gave earlier about the Environmental Compensation Policy.  While 

there is a policy in the City Plan the policy that is in the Replacement 

Plan was the result of a submission from the Crown. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS VICKOVIC:   Mr Long, following on from your summary this morning I 

understand you may have some brief further comments about your 

evidence if you could please take us through that summary and then 30 

remain there to answer any questions. 

 

MR LONG:   Thank you.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Subject to those clarifications you confirm that to be your 35 

evidence? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes.  So I have summarised I guess a brief summary just based 

on the format in my evidence-in-chief so I will start with 

appropriateness and clarity of direction, objectives and policies.  The 40 

Council and submitters, particularly through mediation, have continued 

to refine the objectives and policies in chapter 8.   

 

 While there have been a number of amendments since notification, the 

key changes are: relocating text within the objectives and policies so 45 

that each objective and supporting policies are more clearly focussed 
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on one subject; include a new policy to guide the preparation of new 

outline development plans and including new policy relating to reverse 

sensitivity.  Those are shown in the revised proposal of 23 June.   

 

 I am satisfied they appropriately respond to the Land Use Recovery 5 

Plan, Canterbury Regional Policy Statement and the Statement of 

Expectations which is schedule 4 to the order in Council. 

 

 In terms of Outline Development Plans, I have undertaken a brief 

comparison of the Outline Development Plans since stage 1 against 10 

policy 633 of the Regional Policy Statement and find that while they do 

not set out all matters, they do address the critical aspects, either in the 

ODP or in supporting rules, and I note there that we have just heard 

from Ms O’Brien and Mr Norton that they feel that the ODP should 

perhaps be more clear in some regard. 15 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

 Further in relation to ODPs, my rebuttal evidence is that it’s not 

appropriate to have a rule requiring general accordance. However, it is 20 

recommended that in order to provide flexibility, the ODPs identified 

or elements in the ODPs to be identified as either fixed or flexible 

when noncompliance with flexible elements would not require an 

increased activity status. 

 25 

 There was a question previously about which ODPs we’re discussing in 

this hearing, so certainly the North Halswell and South Masham ones 

are part of this hearing, in terms of Wigram and Prestons, through stage 

1 those were notified only in relation to those parts that were built or 

consented and they were notified with residential suburban or 30 

residential medium density zones. 

 

 My understanding of what happened in the residential hearing is that 

those zones – there were submissions suggesting that those zones 

weren’t wanted or weren’t appropriate and it would revert to residential 35 

New Neighbourhood, so there still is that split within those zones as 

some of it in stage 1 and some in stage 2. 

 

 In terms of the subdivision provisions in this revised proposal, they do 

address Wigram and Prestons for those stage 1 areas, but the provisions 40 

in the residential proposal are not part of this hearing to my 

understanding. 

 

 Residential medium density zone net site area provisions.  The 

Council’s initial position was that the minimum net area should be 45 

larger to enable higher density development, that is if there’s a larger 
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allotment it could be used – like as a townhouse development or 

something like that could be located on that site, whereas a smaller site 

you’re likely to get a single unit. However, through mediation and as 

set out in my rebuttal evidence, I’ve agreed that it is appropriate to 

enable both and it is unlikely that allowing subdivision down to 200 5 

square metres as proposed would result in a significant loss of larger 

developable allotments. 

 

 The clauses originally in table 1 and 3 to require development at a 

particular density are proposed to be deleted through submissions, they 10 

are unclear and in my view unnecessary. 

 

 Scope of assessment matters and implied third party approvals.  I have 

reviewed a couple of times now the assessment matters and matters for 

discretion contained in proposal 8 and have removed matters where 15 

there was duplication implied third party approvals or where the matter 

was inappropriate for other reasons, these have been peer reviewed. 

 

 Reverse sensitivity. Submissions seek that proposal 8 include policy 

direction in relation to reverse sensitivity. I accept the relief sought as I 20 

consider that to include that policy direction would better give effect to 

objective 3, 3.1 – sorry, 3.3.12B of the strategic directions chapter and 

also provide direction to relevant rules and assessment matters 

contained within proposal 8. 

 25 

 The rules relating to transmission and electricity distribution line 

corridors have been updated to reflect agreements reached during 

mediation and to ensure consistency across chapters. 

 

 Access for fire appliances. The ability of a fire engine to access every 30 

new site is subject to submissions from the Crown. Width and height 

clearance matters are set out in proposal 7, which this chapter refers to 

and relies on. The Crown submission also sought that this matter be 

recognised in policy and I have through mediation accepted that relief. 

 35 

 Subdivision trees. Proposal 8 has notified and includes a rule enabling 

that identification of trees worth retaining. This rule was retained on the 

basis that while the Council identifies heritage and notable trees in the 

Operative Plan, there are other trees which add to the character and 

amenity of a site which are not heritage or notable trees. Submission 40 

seek that the new plan no longer does this. 

 

 Subsequent to the notification of stage 1 chapters, substantial work has 

been done in relation to the identification of notable and heritage trees, 

now referred to as significant trees through proposal 9, Natural and 45 

Cultural Heritage, in that proposal only trees on private land which are 
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genuinely significant are proposed to be listed. I consider that the 

protection of further trees through the subdivision process is not 

consistent with this shift and recommend deleting the rule. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 5 

 

 Stormwater. A number of submitters seek relief in relation to those 

objectives, policies and rules which manage servicing and transport, 

but particularly in relation to the policy dealing with stormwater 

management. While this matter was discussed at mediation and some 10 

agreement was reached, not all parties agree. In particular in relation to 

the wording of the three additional clauses proposed through the 

residential hearing, and those are set out at paragraph 10.3 of my 

rebuttal. 

 15 

 Kintyre Drive: The Minister for Canterbury Earthquake Recovery, 

section 27 amendment of the Operative City Plan deleted a rule 

restricting development in Kintyre Estates until a road upgrade was 

complete – the rule is not proposed to be part of the Replacement Plan 

through stage 1 or 2 or 3. 20 

 

 Port overlay. In my rebuttal I accept that a redraft of clause 8.3.1.1, 

RD42 as initially notified, to delete that clause and I accept in my 

rebuttal that that should be re-included with some drafting 

amendments. 25 

 

 The Port Company seeks that this standard be at a non-complying 

activity level, but in a revised proposal I include it as a discretionary 

activity. I consider this to be appropriate balance between addressing 

port noise to the extent possible through subdivision and provide 30 

inflexibility to enable appropriate subdivisions including for example 

unit title of existing units. 

 

 Quarry proposal. Submissions seek the inclusion of a policy to direct 

when it might be appropriate to quarry land identified in the Regional 35 

Policy Statement as Greenfields priority land. I reiterate my comments 

in rebuttal that such a policy would, at least, significantly compromise 

the development of this land for residential use as directed by the 

policy statement, the Land Use Recovery Plan and Order in Council. I 

note in particular objectives 3.3.1, 3.3.4 and 3.3.7 of the Order in 40 

Council – sorry, of the strategic directions chapter. 3.3.7C2 provides 

that that land would be for urban activities only as identified through 

map A. 

 

 In addition to my rebuttal I note that advice contained in section 32 for 45 

the rural chapter, that aggregate within the rural quarry zone and within 
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existing consented quarries is expected to meet demand, including in 

relation to recovery. 

 

 It is my view then that the higher order documents are clear that the 

plan should enable residential use in the residential New 5 

Neighbourhood Zones rather than quarrying and that there is no 

shortage of supply which might suggest the need to consider going 

against these higher order documents. 

 

 The revised proposal of 23 June includes that relief sort by submissions 10 

which I accept, agreements from mediation and amendments following 

submitter evidence, this includes a shift to non-prescriptive controlled 

activity standards as a default position for subdivision, it also takes a 

revised format which in my view is simpler and easier to follow. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Long. Mr Carranceja? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [12.28 pm] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. Good afternoon, Mr Long. 20 

 

MR LONG:   Good afternoon. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Look, could I get you to please have a look at page 4 of 

the track change version of the restructure proposal that was circulated 25 

this morning, looking at the top of page 4, there’s a part of a new policy 

there, it’s object – sorry, objective 8.1.2 and that’s a policy that wasn’t 

in the notified version but I understand you put that in through your 

rebuttal evidence and has been carried over here. 

 30 

 My question to you is simply this, that’s a new policy that was never 

the subject of the application done jointly by the Crown, Ngāi Tahu and 

the Council to defer the consideration of objective policies dealing with 

indigenous vegetation etcetera, would you accept that this one should 

appropriately also be deferred to so that it can be considered alongside 35 

those provisions? 

 

MR LONG:   My first comment is that it was initially part of objective 8.1.1 

these are more a relocation rather than an addition. In terms of whether 

it should be deferred – no, I disagree. 40 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

 The point of shifting it was that it doesn’t refer to those items which 

might be identified as significant or outstanding.  It relates more to 

features which are a part of the land or the local area rather than being 45 

significant items. 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   So you don’t agree that it needs to be deferred even 

though it refers to natural character – sorry, natural features and 

landscapes? 

 5 

MR LONG:   Correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   So you don’t agree from an integrated management 

point of view that you consider this alongside that which stage 3 might 

consider to be significant and not significant? 10 

 

MR LONG:   No, I think these are separate matters. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Move on now to page 6 please.  Now, page 6, we are 

looking at the new policy 8.1.3.1 at the bottom of page 6.  Now, you 15 

have heard my cross-examination earlier of the other two witnesses, do 

you accept that this needs to be restructured so that the opening phrase 

of A needs to be reshuffled, yes? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And you have got no issues with the remainder of that.  

Okay, we will move on now just to policy 8.1.2.9 at the top of that 

page.   

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was the answer to that last question yes? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, looking at 8.1.2.9 at the top of that page.  This is 

the new policy on ODP content and I understand you have inserted 

that.  I have really got a couple of points of clarification to run past 

you.  The first one is in relation to Roman Numeral II, do you see that 35 

there? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   An issue has arisen and this is mentioned in 40 

Ms McIntyre’s rebuttal evidence at section 6, her concern is that it 

needs to be clarified that the density target referred to there need not be 

met for each and every subdivision but can be addressed across an ODP 

area as a whole, do you accept that that is an outcome that ought to be 

clarified in there? 45 
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MR LONG:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Have you see Ms McIntyre’s rebuttal evidence in that 

regard? 

 5 

MR LONG:   I will have. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Section 6? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   I am not sure if you have got that handy but would you 

agree with her of her proposed wording in section 6 of her rebuttal 

evidence to fix that issue? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you have a copy of that, Mr Long? 

 

MR LONG:   I do. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   So that is Ms McIntyre’s rebuttal evidence, section 6.  20 

And you find her amendment towards the bottom of page 4 of her 

rebuttal underneath paragraph 6.3.  It is up on the screen as well. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, that is fine. 

 25 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, okay.  Going back now to that policy again in the 

track change version, the same policy, I am looking at Roman Numeral 

III this time. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now, another issue has arisen regarding the 

interpretation of A3 and I just want to run it past you.  Arguably it 

could be interpreted as perhaps almost compulsory requiring 

community users to be provided in an outline development plan.  I 35 

think we would accept that perhaps the intention really ought to be that 

if land is to be identified for uses such as open space and community 

facilities then that part of the policy would kick in, it is not seeking to 

compulsorily require that sort of open spaces and community facilities 

but if they were to be shown in the ODP this policy would kick in? 40 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I agree. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And so perhaps a simple way to clarify that part of the 

policy is to stick in at the beginning of that policy the word “if”, “If 45 

land for community uses will be provided”.  Sorry, “If land for 
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community uses is to be included” I think it is the opening phrase.  “If 

land for community uses is to be included, it will” and then we can 

continue with, “ will be provided in locations convenient”, would that 

work? 

 5 

MR LONG:   Yes, I think so, yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, thank you.   

 

  [12.35 pm] 10 

 

 I would like to turn now to page 9 please and I think this is a 

typographical error, I just wanted to make sure that what I am 

proposing to be stuck back in is suitable from your perspective.  So we 

are looking at page 9 of the track change version of the proposal and 15 

looking at clause 8.2.1.2.  Now, the word “standard’ there, that is not 

meant to be taken out is it? 

 

MR LONG:   No. 

 20 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, we will leave that in there. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  Now, I have got a more general set of 25 

questions for you and I think this might have been another transposing 

error between I will call it the revised proposal in attachment A to your 

rebuttal, right, which you have restructured into this version.  And as a 

general proposition you wouldn’t object to things that were contained 

like assessment matters et cetera and matters of control that were 30 

contained in attachment A to your rebuttal which have inadvertently 

not been carried over into - - - 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, if that was inadvertent, you are correct, yes. 

 35 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, okay, and that is something perhaps we can take 

up in caucusing but of particular concern to the Crown really is there 

was a matter of discretion and this it at page – both the matter of 

discretion and a note and this was originally numbered in your 

attachment A to your rebuttal 8.3.2.3 No 12 and that relates to limited 40 

access road provision.  So if you look at your appendix A, have you got 

that there, I think it is on page 31? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So which version are we looking at please? 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   So we are looking at attachment A to the rebuttal 

evidence of Mr Long, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Sorry, can you give us the page again? 5 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   That was page 31, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 10 

MR CARRANCEJA:   So this is a list of matters of discretion for property 

access, isn’t that right, Mr Long? 

 

MR LONG:   Correct, yes. 

 15 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And No 12 relates to, as a matter of discretion, the need 

for limited access roads to remain free of vehicle accesses and to be 

safe and efficient, correct? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And if you turn the page there is also a note, again in 

the same attachment to your evidence, there is a note underneath No 16 

which says, “Note roads which have been declared limited access roads 

under part 4 of the Government Roading Powers Act 1989 are subject 25 

to separate procedures under that Act”? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now, I have checked and I couldn’t find any of those 30 

matters carried over into the track change version of the proposal nor 

into your attachment B.  I presume you would have no objection to 

make sure that those things were incorporated and included? 

 

MR LONG:   No, correct. 35 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   I won’t go through all the other examples but I presume 

that through caucusing you would be quite open minded to ensuring 

that things like that which are missing would be carried over as well? 

 40 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  Now, I have asked questions of 

Ms O’Brien and also Mr Norton about the matter of control and the 

matters of discretion.  Being more clear to members of the public 45 

reading them as to what Council standards and designs and is it 
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specifications are, from your perspective would you have any objection 

to specifying what those documents might be as part of this matter of 

control and the matters of discretion? 

 

MR LONG:   No, provided that we could so without requiring plan changes. 5 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, okay, thank you.  And assuming that you could do 

so without a plan change you would accept that it would provide 

greater clarity for developers? 

 10 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Could I now turn you back now to your restructured 

provisions that were circulated this morning, this is the track change 

version of the restructured provisions.  And I would like to turn you 15 

now to provision 8.2.1.3 and you will find that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Page 9? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, thank you.  Page 9, the bulk and financial 20 

contributions. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now, my understanding from your evidence is that the 25 

Council doesn’t intend to use financial contributions? 

 

MR LONG:   Correct. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   So perhaps we can delete the word financial.  Yes.  

That is the first point.  The second point there is it is not in every case 

that the Council require development contributions I presume?  For 

activities covered by this chapter? 35 

 

MR LONG:   Correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, if that is the case would it be appropriate to insert 

the words at the beginning, perhaps just an opening phrase “where 40 

applicable”? 

 

MR LONG:   Sure. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, thank you.  Moving now please to page 26 of the 45 

track change version, exhibit 2.  Actually it has changed in my 
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numbering, it is page 28 I am sorry.  So if we look at page 28 towards 

the top, I am looking at clause H.  This falls under the heading “Matters 

of Discretion for Servicing”, can we see that from the screen as well? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, yes. 5 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now what I am puzzled about is this reference to 

recognising the ability of particular species to absorb water.  My 

question to you is, is that not superfluous and irrelevant and doesn’t 

add anything to what that matter of discretion is intended to cover? 10 

 

MR LONG:   You could probably live without it. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, okay.  So perhaps we will have that deleted? 

 15 

MR LONG:   Sure. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now I do not want to labour this point but you have 

heard cross examination again of Mr Norton and Ms O’Brien and this 

was relating to a policy, 8.1.3.1 which referred to performing, 20 

serviceable and functioning rather than referring to damage and repair. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   I presume you would not have any concerns about 25 

making sure that the assessment matter reflects again the words 

performing, serviceable and functional? 

 

MR LONG:   No.   

 30 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, thank you.  Now lastly, and this is really just to 

cover off this use of controlled activity status, again you would have 

heard my questions of Ms O’Brien and Mr Norton about this.  Now I 

asked him about these controlled activities, he says from a practical 

point of view in terms of both water, wastewater and then also 35 

stormwater.  Now I want to talk to you about it from just everything 

else really.  From your perspective would you agree that certification is 

an option? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 40 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   For confirming capacity, yes.  And you would also 

accept that if an ODP contains sufficient details regarding such matters 

as servicing, as contemplated by the RPS policy and a new policy you 

have just stuck in, that if an applicant is able to demonstrate that their 45 

subdivision is in accordance with that ODP you would not need to go 
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through a mapping exercise or a certification exercise to call this a 

controlled activity? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, no, I think that is correct. 

 5 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay thank you.  Sir, I have no further questions, thank 

you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Carranceja.  All right now, so Ms Limmer? 

 10 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [12.43 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now if counsel could just, just to assist the witnesses, 15 

especially those who are acting for more than one party, just to indicate 

before they start cross examination who they are here for? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Certainly.  The questions I wish to ask you, Mr Long, relate to 

Fulton Hogan’s submission on chapter 8.  Before I start, do you have a 20 

copy of Mr Bligh’s evidence handy? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Perhaps if I can get you to have paragraph 10 to 5 open.  Now 25 

if I understand your evidence and rebuttal evidence on the issue of 

quarrying in greenfield areas correctly, you have two grounds of 

opposition, that is the potential effects on neighbours and the ability to 

meet the residential targets in objective 3.3.4 particularly.  Is that 

correct? 30 

 

MR LONG:   Yes there are those two matters yes.  I added to that in my 

opening this morning, or this afternoon sorry, in relation to some of 

those higher order documents, particularly objective 3.3.7 of the 

strategic directions chapter.   35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, those were not mentioned in your evidence or rebuttal 

were they? 

 

MR LONG:   No. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Dealing with the effects first if I can, what is your 

understanding of the activity status for any quarrying activity in the 

greenfield areas? 

45 
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  [12.45 pm] 

 

MR LONG:   It would be non-complying. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And do you agree that status would allow all of the potential 5 

adverse effects to be considered? 

 

MR LONG:   I would expect so, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Looking at the proposed policy in Mr Bligh’s evidence if you 10 

can, at his paragraph 35 which fronts onto page 7, would that alter the 

range of adverse effects that would be taken into account on any 

application? 

 

MR LONG:   No. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   If we refer to paragraph 17.4 of your rebuttal evidence you 

give evidence that any quarrying activity should be assessed on its 

merits. 

 20 

MR LONG:   Correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Would that policy wording proposed by Mr Bligh alter that? 

 

MR LONG:   No.   25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it must do, as a matter of law.  It is a policy that 

applies to the consideration of the application.  Is it not in that sense, 

Ms Limmer, something that does alter how it is considered? 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Yes sir, perhaps if I can rephrase the question - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes thank you. 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - would it alter your view in terms of the effects that would 35 

be assessed upon any application coming forward? 

 

MR LONG:   So you are talking about the scope?  Then the answer is no. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Looking at that policy also, do you think it would allow 40 

greater effects on neighbouring landowners than would otherwise be 

the case in other plan provisions? 

 

MR LONG:   I think potentially it is more enabling than not having a policy. 

 45 
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MS LIMMER:   Are there any words that might alleviate your concern from 

that regard?  Such as providing adverse effects on residential areas are 

appropriately managed? 

 

MR LONG:   Potentially there are some words. 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   Have you given any thought to what those words might be 

throughout discussions leading up to this hearing? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes.  Mr Bligh and I have had some discussions about policy 10 

wording. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you have some words that might address the concern about 

the level of effects? 

 15 

MR LONG:   Mr Bligh has suggested something subsequent to this, but I don’t 

think we were in agreement. 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, so are there other words that might assist you in that 

regard? 20 

 

MR LONG:   Potentially. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Is that a matter perhaps you could advance in discussions with 

Mr Bligh given that there is some further caucusing to take place on 25 

these matters? 

 

MR LONG:   I do not think it is quite that simple.  I am happy to discuss the 

matter further though. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Well perhaps if you are able to include that in the discussions 

on this Friday, you have indicated there may be some words for 

addressing concern from that regard in terms of the effects 

 

MR LONG:   In relation to effects.   35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  Turning then to your concerns as to the delivery of the 

Regional Policy Statement, the Land Use Recovery Plan and the 

Strategic Objectives in terms of housing availability by 2028, if I 

understand it your concern is with the enablement of 23,700 houses by 40 

2028, is that correct? 

 

MR LONG:   Correct. 
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MS LIMMER:   And the chapter 3 which gives effect to the RPS and the 

LURP recognises that this will be through a combination of 

Greenfields, brownfields and intensification development? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes it does.  It also refers to greenfield priority areas being for 5 

residential activities. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  But you would accept that that target is to be achieved 

through a combination of developments? 

 10 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You would agree then that the plan does not envisage nor its 

higher order documents, that all of the Greenfields land will be 

developed immediately for residential purposes? 15 

 

MR LONG:   No they are identified as priority Greenfields however. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  But the expectation is that by 2028 they will be 

developed? 20 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

MR LONG:   Correct. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   This means that some of the Greenfield areas could sit 

dormant for several years yet, couldn’t they? 

 

MR LONG:   They could.   

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Looking at paragraph 35 again of Mr Bligh’s evidence and the 

proposed policy, would you agree that the wording is quite careful to 

indicate that quarrying would only be facilitated to the extent that urban 

development in accordance with the Plan is still enabled? 

 35 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Long, did you understand that question? 

 

MR LONG:   I think so. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  That is fine, I just want to be careful about 

complex questions, just bear that in mind.   

 

MS LIMMER:   Certainly, sir.  Sorry, sir, I will break it down. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I struggled to understand it for a minute, but if the witness 

has understood it, that is fine. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

MS LIMMER:   You would agree, Mr Long, that under both the Regional 

Policy Statement and the LURP local authorities and CERA will be 

monitoring the supply of land for residential development to ensure that 10 

the objectives are met? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes.  

 

MS LIMMER:   So if that monitoring disclosed there was no ability or room 15 

for an extraction consent to be granted and take up a small proportion 

of land for a short amount of time presumably is a non-complying 

activity, the Council could decline that consent and would have strong 

policy grounds for doing so   

 20 

MR LONG:   I don’t know how much weight can be applied to that 

monitoring.  

 

MS LIMMER:   But the monitoring is – you accept that is a requirement of the 

Regional Policy Statement and the LURP? 25 

 

MR LONG:   To undertake the monitoring, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and that monitoring particularly has to consider the 

amount of land that has been used and what land is needed in future, 30 

and to ensure that supply keeps up with demand in that regard. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes.   

 

MS LIMMER:   And would you agree then that if that monitoring disclosed 35 

that there was a constraint in terms of supply that under the policy 

Mr Bligh has put in his evidence that could provide grounds for 

declining an application for consent?  On the basis it may frustrate the 

enablement of urban development in accordance with the provision of 

the Plan. 40 

 

MR LONG:   I wouldn’t be particularly happy with the way it is phrased at the 

present. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Are there some additional words or different wording that you 45 

might suggest? 
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MR LONG:   Not off the top of my head, no. 

 

MS LIMMER:   In concept though, do you agree the policy could detect (ph 

3.31) that? 5 

 

MR LONG:   Possibly, I don’t know.  

 

MS LIMMER:   So you don’t know whether a policy could indicate to the 

Council that if there was a difficulty with achieving that target the 10 

consent ought not to be granted? 

 

MR LONG:   I don’t know whether the wording could be drafted to make that 

particularly clear, I think it’s very reliant on the monitoring and 

whether that policy is applicable to urban development at a wider level 15 

or a particular site. 

 

MS LIMMER:   But would you accept it is fundamental to the RPS and the 

meeting of the objectives in those higher order documents that have 

been brought down into this plan that that monitoring be undertaken 20 

and be kept current? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Mr Long, in terms of whether there might be wording to 25 

ensure that any activity doesn’t compromise that, are you willing also 

to discuss that further with Mr Bligh? 

 

MR LONG:   Sure, yes. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, I don’t think I can take that any further at this stage.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Limmer.  All right, now, so Ms Hill, are 

you cross-examining? 

 35 

MS HILL:   Yes, please, I will.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think probably in your case, I know you have got several 

clients and it might be that when you are dealing with an issue that 

relates to a particular client you just signal that ahead of the questions, 40 

or something like that. 

 

MS HILL:   Yes. 
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  [12.55 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I think probably in your case, I know you have got 

several clients and it might be that when you are dealing with an issue 

that relates to a particular client you just signal that ahead of the 5 

question or something like that, but you are here for Waterloo, LPC and 

the International Airport? 

 

MS HILL:  The Airport Company, yes, that is correct and actually this might 

make things a lot simpler in that there is only one issue really left to 10 

cross-examine you on and that is an issue that relates just to the port so 

I will not be asking any questions about the controlled activity status. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 15 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS HILL [12.55 pm] 

 

MS HILL:   So you will probably be expecting just a few short questions 

abound subdivision within the port influences overlay area.  Firstly, I 

would just like to clarify with you your exhibit 3 which was distributed 20 

this morning.  On page 17 and in your statement that you made today 

you note that you accept Mr Purves’ evidence but that is not quite 

correct, is it, because Mr Purves’ evidence is that he would prefer a 

non-complying activity status for subdivision so is this just a slight 

error? 25 

 

MR LONG:   I accept Mr Purves’ evidence in part I guess so in terms of the 

reinstatement and redrafting of what was clause two to that role I 

accept that in terms of the activity status, no, we do not agree. 

 30 

MS HILL:   Okay, thank you.  And so just quickly on that activity status, 

would you accept that strategic directions objective 3.3.12 EI has a 

clear policy of avoidance of noise sensitivity activities and the port 

influences overlay area? 

 35 

MR LONG:   Without looking at it I assume you have read it correctly, yes. 

 

MS HILL:   Yes, that is what it says.  And would you also accept that the land 

use rules that apply within the port influences overlay area generally 

require – or they do require – that new noise sensitivity activities are 40 

non-complying? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS HILL:   And so given that this discretionary activity status creates a 45 

discrepancy between sort of the two rules in a way in the plan because 
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of subdivision for noise sensitive activities as discretionary, the land 

use is still non-complying for those activities so does that just create 

perhaps just a discrepancy in the plan? 

 

MR LONG:   Obviously there would be two different activity statuses but I 5 

think that the point of the port noise overlay really is to manage land 

uses within that area, not necessarily all subdivisions would result in 

additional sensitive activities establishing or being legitimatised 

through subdivision and that is why I have included that rule as a 

discretionary activity. 10 

 

MS HILL:   Sure, so Mr Purves’ suggested wording in paragraph 19 of his 

evidence where he has tried to sort of target it so that the only non-

complying status is for noise sensitive activity so to really try and avoid 

a non-complying subdivision status for activities that are not noise 15 

sensitivity in the overlay.  Do you still have concerns with the way that 

is drafted? 

 

MR LONG:   My concern is that if you are applying for a subdivision for a 

vacant site, how do you know whether there would be a noise sensitive 20 

activity established on that site subsequently so I think that is really 

about the land use rules managing the activity on the site, not the 

subdivision. 

 

MS HILL:   Sure, well I suppose flowing from that, do you think there is the 25 

potential for you and Mr Purves to discuss further and potentially refine 

the rules so that some perhaps say a non-complying activity status rule 

for subdivision in the residential development residential zones there so 

the residential Banks Peninsula or the residential conservation zone 

might be a non-complying activity given that generally residential 30 

activities are noise sensitive and that is part of the definition of noise 

sensitive activities includes residential activities so perhaps we could 

have a more refinement. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, pause for a minute, Ms Hill, I think you might have 35 

to reframe that so the explanation at the end gave you a context for the 

question but I think you need to put the question again because I think 

your question was is this witness willing to have further discussions 

with Mr Purves, bearing in mind his earlier answer was I think 

conceptually he saw these things in a different way, but you can put 40 

that question if you like and see what he says. 

 

MS HILL:   Sorry, sir, yes, thank you, I will.  So to rephrase that and clarify, 

would you still be opposed to a non-complying rule just relating to 

subdivision in the Residential Banks Peninsula Zone or Residential 45 
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Conservation Zone that falls within the port influences overlay area, 

given that residential activities are noise sensitive? 

 

  [1.00 pm] 

 5 

MR LONG:   Yes, I accept that residential activities are noise sensitive 

activities, however, there may be some subdivisions, say unit title, 

where there is existing residential activities, and I think non-complying 

would be onerous.  

 10 

MS HILL:   Okay, thanks.  I think I will leave it there.  Thank you, sir.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Ms Hill.  Okay, we will take the lunchtime 

recess.  You are still on effectively, you go and have lunch by yourself, 

cannot talk to anyone.  Okay, thank you. 15 

 

ADJOURNED [1.01 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.47 pm] 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Long, under your former oath if you 

remember that.  So, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so Mr Long, I did have lots of questions for you but 

I have not got quite so many now so thank you very much for your 25 

efforts every step of the way, thank you for that, but I do have some 

questions.   

 

 My first question relates to the matter that I asked Ms O’Brien and 

Mr Norton about and I do not know if you have had a chance to think 30 

about this in the meantime is how we can make sure that the standard 

relating to capacity or effective management of stormwater is certain 

and can be applied in effectively a pre-condition to the status being 

controlled.   

 35 

 Now, have you had any thoughts about either mechanisms that could be 

incorporated or how that would work? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I think perhaps a certification discussion we were having 

could potentially be useful.  The other option I guess is to not have 40 

necessarily have a standard talking about capacity and rely on matters 

for control or discretion.   

 

MS DAWSON:   But that would go away from your original concern about 

capacity and not on what seems to be controlled activity where there is 45 

no capacity. 
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MR LONG:   Yes, so I think the revised proposal is essentially saying that for 

these New Neighbourhood Zones and further areas of the residential, 

business and industrial that stage one is covering that capacity is 

something that can be managed through, not necessarily a standard but 5 

can be managed through consent rather than being elevated to say 

restricted discretionary activity where there are capacity issues, I think 

we can deal with those and I think we heard that generally from Ms 

O’Brien and Mr Norton earlier so I think those two options could 

potentially work. 10 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:  So are you saying that between you and the servicing people 

that work with you in the Council you have got to the point where there 15 

is no likelihood of a consent being declined because of lack of capacity 

in the zoned areas? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I do not think so, that’s my understanding from talking to 

my technical experts.  There is a risk I guess if we had 20 subdivision 20 

applications for a particular area where there was a constraint but if it 

was one or two per year for example, that we could deal with those 

issues. 

 

MS DAWSON:   By way of appropriate conditions or through the Council’s 25 

own funding? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes and some of those conditions as Mr Norton alluded to might 

be financially not feasible for the applicant but would protect the 

Council from flow on effects. 30 

 

MR DAWSON:   Do you think that they would be such you could be in a 

situation where you are effectively declining or frustrating the grant of 

consent by such onerous conditions that they could never be viable for 

any applicant? 35 

 

MR LONG:   It is possible I guess that some of those alternative solutions 

might be very expensive and potentially mean that their consent was 

not acted on.  Capacity I guess is a moving feast somewhat at the 

moment through SCIRT and through long term plans so there is 40 

probably a mechanism through consent to deal with those, whether it is 

an either/or condition or something like that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I know the Chairman has offered the opportunity for some 

further work to refine where you have already got to with us for today, 45 
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so is that something where you could give some more thought to how 

the wording could be, along the lines you are heading? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, all right, thank you.  All right, so my second area that I 

want to talk to you about is the Outline Plans and the Outline 

Development Plans and the level of detail so I am interested in your 

opinion about how this sort of compromise option that you are putting 

forward for North Halswell and South Masham, which is a mixture of 10 

an outline plan which I think everyone says does not have the perfect 

amount of information on them and no narrative, and then some rules. 

 

 How, I mean have you got the Regional Policy Statement there with 

you?   15 

 

MR LONG:   In one of these folders, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   6.3.3.  So I need you to talk me through how you interpret the 

way this policy is set out in terms of which aspects can be covered by 20 

Outline Plans or must be in an Outline Plan, if any, and which aspects 

could be in rules as an alternative.  How do you read that, the different 

bits, because it is in a whole lot of different parts. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes it is.  The initial sentence I guess talks about provisions set 25 

in an Outline Development Plan or other rules for the area and it does 

not really them differentiate which it anticipates being covered by 

those.  I am not sure that I necessarily have an opinion on whether 

something needs to be on a plan or whether it can be in words I guess 

things like where a road connection is required to another road or an 30 

intersection it is nice and easy to show it on a plan, it might be a bit 

complicated to put that in writing.   

 

  [1.55 pm] 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So I take the Outline Development Plan to be plans and the 

narrative and then the rules lie are separate or the additional rules.  So 

my concern particularly is about part 3 and I know it is not 100 percent 

clear but it starts by “Outline Plans and associated rules”, so it gives 

that option, “to the extent relevant show the proposed land uses”, and I 40 

just wonder whether using that word “show” is giving a strong hint 

anyway or perhaps even a direction that that is not something in a 

standard, it actually needs to be shown somehow.  Do you read 

anything into that or do you think that the words of a standard could 

adequately show those matters? 45 
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MR LONG:   No I think you make a reasonable point.  I would suggest that 

words in a standard could do the same thing.  What the intent is behind 

using that word particularly, if it was used for a specific purpose, I am 

not sure. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   So it is your opinion that it is an either or for all of these 

matters? 

 

MR LONG:   I think it would be nice if the Outline Development Plan and 

narrative had everything in one place.  Where we are in a situation 10 

where there are plans that have been developed before this policy and 

there is enough within the plan as a whole to cover these things.  I 

guess that would be, I think I would prefer to stay with what we have 

rather than potentially change the Outline Development Plan and make 

it difficult for people who are looking to develop that land, and I am 15 

thinking particularly Wigram and Prestons which is half built already - 

- - 

 

MS DAWSON:   I am not too worried about them for now. 

 20 

MR LONG:   No, well you could say the same with South Masham as well, 

where is that consent application.  It is difficult to go back and retrofit 

some of those ODPs with all of this information. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But I mean you heard Mr Norton before saying that he didn’t 25 

think that the North Halswell Outline Plan showed the land required for 

stormwater treatment retention for quite a large part of that zone. 

 

MR LONG:   Well all of it, yes. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Well all of it really except what is provided by the existing 

one that is already - - - 

 

MR LONG:   Which deals with some other land, yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   - - - developing.  Well yes, with half of it. 

 

MR LONG:   No I think that is potentially - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   How do you, I mean because although this Outline Plan was 40 

developed before the Regional Policy Statement, the plan we are 

dealing with now is after this and it needs to give effect to it.  So I 

need, do you consider using that example or any other examples, that 

the mix of the Outline Development Plan and rules for North Halswell 

gives effect to this policy of the Regional Policy Statement that is 45 

specifically about this matter? 



 Page 81 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

 

MR LONG:   I think you would need to be relying on some of the general 

servicing rules so they are not specific to the North Halswell site and I 

guess if you were looking to see a package of all the rules specific to 

that site then they possibly would not meet the requirements of that but 5 

the general rules I think provide the Council with the ability to ensure 

that development is appropriate.  As I said, I think it would be nice if 

those ODPs were in compliance with at least most of the things in here, 

it is just a matter of whether we want to go back in and review those. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:  Because that is not really a pragmatic solution to a somewhat 

unsatisfactory situation. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Because, I mean why do you think the Regional Policy 

Statement has this sort of policy in it if the general rules could deal 

with everything? 

 

MR LONG:   I think that it is about the integration and connection with other 20 

parts of the city and it is also about enabling landowners within that 

ODP area to have some certainty as to what might happen and what 

they can expect to happen, whereas the general rules would not 

necessarily do that, so I agree that those general rules are a stopgap at 

the point. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because for example if someone comes along with the first 

subdivision for the North Halswell, I’m just picking on that one 

because it is easy to do and it is only for 7,000 square metres or 

something of that ilk, then if we are reliant on the general rules to deal 30 

with stormwater, for example, would they not only need to deal with 

stormwater for that little bit and not integrate with the other landowners 

in this Outlined Development plan area. 

 

  [2.00 pm] 35 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, potentially they could do that.  I think some of the matters 

for control talk about the number of stormwater basins and the size of 

those, but yes, that would be better to have them shown, at least in 

indicative positions and some narrative on the ODP’s. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the other area that I wanted to ask you about with these 

ODP’s are the questions about density.  Because like this one for 

example, and others don’t show – they certainly don’t show on the Plan 

how the 15 households per hectare is going to be achieved.  But you 45 

look back at some of the ones like Wigram and Prestons, they have 
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their different density areas, and when you go to the rules you know 

that the calculations have all been done so that overall that area would 

meet that density. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes.   5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So these ones that don’t show any density, and now the 

subdivision allows a subdivision down to 7,000 square metres, which 

looks as though they almost have to meet that density for each and 

every 7,000 square metres, but maybe I have picked that up wrongly. 10 

 

MR LONG:   No, I think the way that the rules have been proposed for the 

subdivision of New Neighbourhood Zones, largely that gets through in 

the residential hearing, that there is rules stipulating you must meet that 

density and there was another one stipulating a mixture, I guess, and 15 

it’s not shown on those Outlined Development Plans.  

 

MS DAWSON:   So the question is how is that going to work for an area like 

this where you have got multiple landowners, they can do lots of small 

scale subdivisions, the density has to meet over the whole area, the 20 

dense areas are supposed to be focused around different specific 

locations, and is it going to be that the last person, no matter where they 

are, is going to have to provide heaps in houses in order to meet the 

density. 

 25 

MR LONG:   Yes, I agree.  

 

MS DAWSON:   How do you see it working? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I think you have a good point.  The rules in the New 30 

Neighbourhood Zone don’t probably deal with that adequately, and as 

you say, the other generally Outlined Development Plans do show 

density for those areas. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And is that one of the purposes of having this overarching 35 

policy in the RPS, given the importance that the RPS puts on achieving 

these densities, and we have got a policy that specifically asks for it to 

be demonstrated.  Can you say that the way these Outlined Plans that 

don’t show the densities combined with the rules would give effect to 

that part of the RPS? 40 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I think not showing the densities does mean that the 

densities won’t be met, it will just be that further down the track the 

harder it is for people to subdivide – they will be the ones left with the 

high density and the difficulties that it entails.  45 
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MS DAWSON:   All right.  Just while we are talking about ODP’s.  I’m sorry I 

might be a bit dense about this, but I am still not clear in my mind what 

we are dealing with in front of us in relation to Wigram and Prestons. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So just step through, I mean take it simply and I might get 

there.  

 

MR LONG:   Yes, sure.   10 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I know there have been some things deferred to the 

residential. 

 

MR LONG:   I did have some maps of those areas. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, well I think I have got these.  So there are some maps 

attached to your rebuttal that are from Chapter 14, is that what you 

mean?  And then there are some maps of what was notified.   

 20 

MR LONG:   I was just looking and I have seen – no, those aren’t them.  I will 

just have to explain myself I guess. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that’s fine. 

 25 

MR LONG:   So Stage 1 identified those areas of Wigram and Prestons which 

were built or had consent. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 30 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

MR LONG:   And sought to have a suburban and residential medium density 

zone applied to them.  Those are the areas we are looking at through 

this hearing still as New Neighbourhood Zones.   35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So there were no – because they were notified as suburban 

and residential medium density, were the Outlined Plans for those areas 

in Chapter 14? 

 40 

MR LONG:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, or in Chapter 8.  No, there was no need because they 

were in those zones. 

 45 

MR LONG:   No, yes.  
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MS DAWSON:   So the Outlined Plans have never been notified for those 

areas? 

 

MR LONG:   No. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So then, as I understand it, Ngai Tahu Property made a 

submission to us, which we heard and then deferred deciding on as to 

what is the appropriate zoning for those areas, and one of the 

appropriate zonings may be New Neighbourhood Zone.  10 

 

MR LONG:   New Neighbourhood Zone. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In which case the provisions in both the Residential and the 

Subdivision Chapters would be relevant, the New Neighbourhood Zone 15 

residential and subdivision would or could be relevant if the choice was 

made to zone those New Neighbourhood? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes.  

 20 

MS DAWSON:   But if the choice was made to leave them as RMD or RS 

then, okay, that’s relevant. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   And if the choice is made to go to – because I think was 

raised, to another zone, an established New Neighbourhood Zone, or 

existing or something like that, then we just have to wait and see what 

comes along in Stage 3, if ever? 

 30 

MR LONG:   It is my understanding that there won’t be an existing New 

Neighbourhood Zone. I think that idea has sort of been rollered to the 

New Neighbourhood provision, so that’s one - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well that is good to know, because that was 35 

definitely discussed. 

 

MR LONG:   - - - thing at least to consider. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 40 

 

MR LONG:   And I know there has been discussions around notification of 

those New Neighbourhood Wigram and Preston zones, including 

notifying the New Neighbourhood Zone rules in Stage 1, but then 

people are not necessarily submitting on them through Stage 2 because 45 

they are not available to be submitted on. 
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MS DAWSON:   So have the Outline Plans for – sorry, I don’t know the 

answer to this – have the Outline Plans for Prestons and Wigram been 

notified as part of Stage 2? 

 5 

MR LONG:   Yes, I think so. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, you think so, okay.   

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well we can check that.  All right, thank you.  Now I have a 

better understanding.  Now, completely on topics, I noticed that in the 

Subdivision Chapter, subdivision in the floor level and flood 

management area is identified as a particular – I think it’s a 15 

discretionary activity. 

 

MR LONG:   Restricted discretionary. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  But in the Natural Hazards Chapter for example we 20 

have been asked to look at subdivision within the liquefaction areas as 

being a restricted discretionary, I think, in that chapter.  And as I 

understand it, in that chapter it was written as though all the 

subdivision aspects could be dealt with under the discretionary activity 

application, or restricted discretionary under Natural Hazards.   25 

 

 If the Panel was to decide that only those aspects of subdivision 

relating to liquefaction, or slope instability for example, were addressed 

in the Natural Hazards chapter, which is a bit like dividing up the rules, 

a little bit in Natural Hazards, would there be any need to do any 30 

amendments to the Subdivision Chapter to ensure that the wider aspects 

of subdivision in those areas were captured by the subdivision rules, or 

are the rules general enough at the moment to capture the minimum site 

area and servicing and those sorts of aspects in the Subdivision Chapter 

even? 35 

 

MR LONG:   It is possible it might be useful to have some cross-referencing 

between the two chapters.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 40 

 

MR LONG:   It has been a while since I have looked at Chapter 5, but I am not 

sure of the extent of the existing cross-referencing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because my thought was it could be a bit confusing with say 45 

the flood subdivision in one chapter - - - 
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MR LONG:   Yes, of course. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and the liquefaction and the slope stability subdivision in 

another chapter.  But you are saying with some cross-referencing, and 5 

even if it is partitioned up, being two chapters that could be made to 

work in some respects.  

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 10 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Could you just clarify and run over for 

me your concern about decision 3, about the repair and rebuilding of 

multiunit complexes? 15 

 

MR LONG:   Sure.  So that decision set out those standards as restricted 

discretionary activities whereas the rest of the chapter is now controlled 

activity, so that is the basis of it.  I think that we can look to have those 

decision 3 clauses made a controlled activity. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so although we treated it as a priority and got it through, 

that was where say a cross-lease or a unit title might be either adjusted 

or made into a fee simple as part of the repair and rebuild, that has now 

got a more stringent activity status than those same activities would be 25 

- - - 

 

MR LONG:   Would under this, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - just more generally? 30 

 

MR LONG:   So less stringent than the operative plan but more stringent than 

what is proposed. 

 

MS DAWSON:   What is proposed now? 35 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and that is just a matter of things having progressed? 

 40 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so that is something that I guess we will be looking 

for suggestions as how to resolve. 

 45 

MR LONG:   How to resolve that. 
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MS DAWSON:   How best to resolve that, yes.  I am also interested in your 

recommendation that the activity status for non-compliance with the 

minimum site standards changed from non-complying to discretionary 

activity.  That has been based on a submission from the Deans Avenue 5 

Precinct Society and I just want you to confirm for me whether the 

Deans Avenue Precinct Society submission did cover all zones and not 

just the RMD zone, which has the main thing they have come to talk to 

us about in the past. 

 10 

MR LONG:   From memory I think it was a general comment.  They were 

certainly most of their submission talking about that specific zone but 

without going to have a look back at it I think it was addressing all 

zones.  It is something I guess that we considered previously doing and 

decided to stay with non-complying because I guess it puts people off 15 

applying for subdivisions that are below the minimum net area and we 

would be looking to, well previously anyway, looking to maintain those 

site sizes to protect character and servicing and things like that.  So in 

light of intensification requirements or objectives and policies talking 

about intensification in various higher order documents and chapters, 20 

you know, that just seemed to fit.  I can check that submission if you 

would like? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do you consider you have adequately assessed the effects 

and the objective and policy implications of changing that rule 25 

throughout all the residential zones or all zones in fact but all the 

residential zones which are the ones that are non-complying?  I mean in 

my reading of the intensification objectives and policies is that they are 

targeted, they are not requiring intensification in every part of the city 

and every part of every residential zone? 30 

 

MR LONG:   No, but I think also that the minimum net areas for the stage 1 

zones, the amount of land that a person might need to redevelop that is 

essentially governed by the land use provisions and deal with those 

amenity and practical issues with built (ph 3.54) size and allotment.  I 35 

did consider which zones it might not be appropriate to have 

discretionary activities and there most likely will be some through 

stage 2 and 3 but not through stage 1. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Because in the residential zones the minimum site 40 

area for a residential unit, which generally corresponds in the RS and 

RSDT zone to the minimum subdivision size, that is still a non-

complying activity to depart from that standard in the latest version of 

the residential zones but how do you see those fitting together? 

 45 
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MR LONG:   I think from memory it is non-complying in the residential zone 

because it was non-complying in the subdivision chapter so we sought 

to align those activity statuses so it may be that consequentially that 

activity status in the residential chapter should change. 

 5 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   I don’t think we have had any submissions asking for it to 

change through this process.  

 10 

MR LONG:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   There are also policies in the residential chapter relating to, I 

think you said about density and character and how those affect the 

general character that is anticipated in the various residential zones.  Do 15 

you think there is adequate assessment matters or policy in the 

subdivision chapter to consider those aspects as a discretionary activity 

now under your recommendation to change it from non-complying, 

given that subdivision sets the framework for subsequent development 

in the same zones where there is policy but only in the residential 20 

chapter? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS DAWSON:   You do? 25 

 

MR LONG:   I do. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Could you point me to that?   

 30 

MR LONG:   I guess it would be objective 8.1.2 and some of the policies under 

that talk about allotments for the existing – sorry, anticipated or 

existing land use for the zone.   

 

MS DAWSON:   For the anticipated land uses, yes. 35 

 

MR LONG:   Policy 8.1.2.2 .  No, not so much that one perhaps.  Now 8.1.2.3, 

sorry, talks about allotment layout, size and dimension appropriate for 

the anticipated  et cetera and it talks about amenity and cultural values 

and allotment sizes to cater for different housing types and 40 

affordability. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Have you introduced any additional assessment matters or 

matters for assessment as a result of that change of status? 

 45 

MR LONG:   No. 
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MS DAWSON:   No.  I mean is that something you should check is adequately 

covered? 

 

MR LONG:   I can do. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  I have a couple more questions.  This is 

a very small one but it perturbed me during the Residential Chapter.  

Because in the New Neighbourhood Zone you have recommended 

combining two standards and I think one of the submitters is always 10 

asking you about this, it is the one about frontage to roads and frontage 

to public open spaces. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Could you clarify what the second part of that rule is 

intended to mean?  It is in the special standards for the New 

Neighbourhood Zone. 

 

MR LONG:   It is probably not in the track change version because it has been 20 

changed. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR LONG:   It is on page 66 of the 21 May revised proposal if you have that.   25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so I have got it here on 67 of my track changed version.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just so we get it clear, we are dealing with the rebuttal 

version? 30 

 

MR LONG:   The 21 May that would be the evidence-in-chief version. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I have got the rebuttal version. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What page is that in your latest version? 

 

MR LONG:   It is page 66 of the version from today, it would be on page 20 

and 21. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   It is on page 20 of the track change version of exhibit 2.  Oh, 

you have changed it here. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 
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MR LONG:   So I was referring to the previous version.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MR LONG:   So of what was there previously, clause 6 deals with allotments 

where they front a road.  Clause 11 deals with allotments where they 

front some other type of public space.  The diagrams are obviously the 

same so I took the opportunity to merge those together, I think that 

makes sense now. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, previously it used to say “allotments shall have 

frontage to a public open space” so it used to look like every allotment 

had to have a public space allotment, a frontage and a road allotment 

frontage.  So what you mean is where they have a frontage to an open 15 

space it has that minimum width but not that they must? 

 

MR LONG:   Must, no. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, all right.  Because that was never quite clear through 20 

the residential phase.  All right, thank you that is – I just – so my last 

question and it is about, is the policy 8.1.3.1, which Mr Carranceja 

asked the previous witnesses about, which is this policy regarding 

availability of infrastructure, and Mr Norton said that it doesn’t really 

address the capacity aspects, is it intended to or is it intended - - -  25 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

MR LONG:   No. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   - - - in addition to that? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, it’s about the functioning of it I suppose and it’s changed a 

little since it was notified, but the capacity ones are dealt with at 8.1.3.3 

and 8.1.3.4 and 8.1.3.5. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is it really just the heading that says “availability” that 

gives you a hint that it might mean that the capacity is also available? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, perhaps the heading could use amending as well to reflect 40 

better what the policy now is about. 

 

MS DAWSON:   What it now says? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So it is really saying where infrastructures available it’s also 

got to be serviceable, functional and those sort of things? 

 

MR LONG:  Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it’s not intended to be broad? 

 

MR LONG:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, okay, thank you that’s enough from me, thank you 10 

very much, thank you, Mr Chairman. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Mr Udale. 

 

MR UDALE:   Thank you. I got a few questions that are similar and just 15 

slightly different to those asked by Sarah Dawson, I’m interested in the 

issue of the minimum density requirements in the ODPs, and 

particularly with some of those in front of us and how the 

implementation of that is practically managed over multiple 

applications over multiple years and what tools you have considered 20 

from Council’s point of view you have to manage that process? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, as I said I think that that’s probably or is a gap in the 

Outline Development Plans, the ones for North Halswell and South 

Masham and that they don’t show that and they don’t show the 25 

location, and I don’t think that the rules that are contained in here 

necessarily help with that, other than requiring that the density is met 

and that there is something of a mixture. 

 

 The matters of discretional matters for control do talk about those 30 

issues, particularly for the residential new neighbourhood zone, but that 

doesn’t really provide certainty I guess to those individual landowners 

or individual application, people making those individual applications. 

 

MR UDALE:   It could be a challenge. 35 

 

MR LONG:   It would be. 

 

MR UDALE:   I wonder and then as a sort of follow on from that, in the 

standards up front where it talks about what needs to be in an ODP, 40 

whether – sorry, and it talks about matters for an ODP, 8.1.2.9.2 

whether that might be enhanced by also referring to the distribution of 

densities within an ODP – those are in front of us or you now are there, 

but future ones do not and there’s no particular requirement that shows 

that and whether or not and that might – those things would be fixed or 45 

flexible going forward? 



 Page 92 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

 

MR LONG:   I think it would be useful to say something like that, I just 

wonder if it’s sort of at a general level covered by B and B1 of that 

policy. 

 5 

MR UDALE:   Possibly, yes. 

 

MR LONG:   Where it talks about distribution whether that’s specific enough 

to – in terms of density. 

 10 

MR UDALE:   Yes, I can just see problems down the track where you got 

multiple owners, not necessarily bringing forward areas of land that are 

even necessarily immediately contiguous to each other over time, 

without some pretty – some greater clarity upfront and then perhaps 

some tools to manage that process over time.  I would suggest 15 

something that might be something that could get some thought over 

the next couple of days about those things. 

 

MR LONG:   Sure. 

 20 

MR UDALE:   And I guess just running on from that, there’s been various 

questions of some of your colleagues today about infrastructure and 

certification and whilst I support the general approach, I would like to 

understand with some greater clarity about how that might be managed 

and how you manage gold rush issues around limited infrastructure or 25 

proportion of an ODP being able to be serviced in the initial years, and 

then how that gets managed as that ODP is developed out over time - 

I’m not sure if that’s a question, it’s a statement, but it’s also a 

question. 

 30 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, sure. And that I think is an issue that the Council has to deal 

with in terms of, you know all of those Greenfields areas, essentially 

that they could be – we could be required to service those at any point. 35 

some of those have servicing and some of them will have servicing, it’s 

really for the, I guess the, what goes into the long term plan to 

determine when that might happen, and how – what sort of applications 

would have on the long term plan. 

 40 

MR UDALE:   So in your view and just setting aside for a moment those ODPs 

which are currently in front of us, but understanding there will be 

others coming through, in your view other requirements of the ODP 

sufficiently clear in the context of timing and funding around 

infrastructure, it’s availability and capacity over time, as new ODPs 45 

come through that people would be very clear about that? 
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MR LONG:   No, they don’t talk about timing and funding particularly and that 

was one of the gaps identified when I was looking through them.  

 

 The difficulty I guess is, we don’t necessarily know when a 5 

development might happen, so it’s difficult to put that in an ODP and 

it’s difficult to put that in a long term plan as well, which is I think why 

those things aren’t shown on Outline Development Plans, and it’s – 

yes. 

 10 

MR UDALE:   Okay. I was interested in – sorry, without going through all the 

individual references – in various places within this chapter, there’s 

references to minimum lot sizes and dimensions, and in some cases on 

my reading, no saving provision that if there’s an alternate dimension 

that might still achieve the minimum lot size and a perfectly adequate 15 

housing typology on the face of that, as I read it that would either not 

comply or default as some other activity status. 

 

MR LONG:   Without a reference I think what you’re referring to is the 

residential medium density zone where, because of the reduced lot size 20 

that was agreed through mediation we had to go back and look at the 

minimum dimension size because what was the minimum dimension 

size was 208 square metres, whether we agreed to 200 square metres is 

the minimum net area. 

 25 

 So we went back and had a look at that and having regard to some of 

the comments and submissions about – including a concept plan I guess 

with an application showing that you could put a dwelling on a 

particular site with what they were – whether it’s a reasonable thing to 

do as an alternative if it was less than that 10 metre dimension. 30 

 

MR UDALE:   Yes. I was thinking about 8.2.3.1.1 where it talks about 

minimum site areas and in A and B which are allotment sizes in the 

residential suburban zone in this suburban density transition zone, 

they’re quite specific on their dimensions, and C then talks about the 35 

medium density zone and that effectively has a savings provision in the 

second sentence which on my reading doesn’t apply to A and B. 

 

MR LONG:   No, that’s correct, the submissions were relating to the residential 

medium density zone only, not the other two zones, so I accept that we 40 

could do something similar for A and B. 

 

MR UDALE:   And just on that similar line and the minimum site lot length, 

which is the clause we’re just talking about in 13C2, terrace house 

dwelling sizes have a minimum frontage of seven metres, I just 45 

wondered why it was set at that, it doesn’t seem to me to encourage 
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particular innovation and housing typology and it’s very wide for a 

terrace house. 

 

MR LONG:   I can’t answer that question, sorry. That was I guess information 

that came to the Residential Chapter through our urban design team – 5 

no I guess accepted their advice on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   When was that advice taken, before or after our hearing? 

 

MR LONG:   I can’t answer that either. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, our hearing was relatively recently, was it months 

ago or is it like the last few weeks? 

 

MR LONG:   No, look I don’t know. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well you must know when you were advised by them? 

 

MR LONG:   When I was advised? 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LONG:   Look, I think I had – I paid more attention I guess to the New 

Neighbourhoods rules themselves, once it became clear that they 

weren’t going to be heard through the Residential Chapter so I do not 25 

know when that rule was originally drafted, sorry.  

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

MR UDALE:  Would you accept that less prescription and more performance 30 

might be better in these sorts of places if we are trying to get 

affordability and supply and a mix of housing typologies? 

 

MR LONG:   Potentially, yes. 

 35 

MR UDALE:   Thank you.  I do not have any other questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thanks, Mr Udale.  Just on that matter, that last matter, 

Mr Long, what is your opinion as a planner in terms of our obligations 

under section 32AA, should we be informed by in effect the 40 

information we have most recently received on that in the context of 

the hearing? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I think there is evidence from Ms Ekin Sakin - - - 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
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MR LONG: - - - so I agree the findings we make on all of that is relevant to 

this, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, now just on this other matter, another matter 5 

arising from Mr Udale’s questions, if we go back to policy 8.1.2.9 

please and it is in the track change version that you introduced this 

morning, exhibit 2.  If we can just put that on the screen that will be 

good.  So now you referred, Mr Udale, to paragraph B and we might 

just scroll up a bit and I just notice that the wording in paragraph B is a 10 

lot more flexible isn’t it?  It starts “these plans should only include” so 

it is quite discretionary and in effect it is really saying you only need to 

address these things, or you should only address these things, and in 

that context (i) applies, which I think was the one you said was relevant 

to this question of distribution. 15 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now if we just go up the page a little and A is in the more 

mandatory expression “must demonstrate that”, so in light of your 20 

answers to Mr Udale do you think that your reference in B, should that 

be brought into A or made in a mandatory sense or do you think it 

should remain discretionary? 

 

MR LONG:   No I think it should be in A, yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And your reason for that? 

 

MR LONG:  I think as we discussed in relation to Outline Development Plans 

and not showing density that those issues with the last cab off the rank 30 

is going to end up with some fairly serious density requirements to 

meet so that the whole area achieves that 15 households per hectare.  

And I think that is an important thing to show in the Outline 

Development Plan. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, now look, there is just a couple of other matters, 

and likewise I am grateful for the hard work you have done Mr Long in 

working through issues carefully before you have given evidence.  And 

things do evolve in that sense and that is understood.   

 40 

 In the introduction section on page 2 if you could just go back to that.  

The first paragraph, just to put this in context I was listening to your 

discussion with Ms Dawson on the question of some of the strategic 

aspects of subdivision and particularly in regard to urban form and so 

forth, and you referred to an objective on that which I had noted. 45 
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MR LONG:   8.1.2. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, that’s right.  I am just wondering whether, bearing 

that objective in mind, in point of fact subdivision does have a much 

more strategic purpose under the plan than perhaps is captured in that 5 

first paragraph. I will let you read it for a minute.  In one sense it seems 

to downplay it in the way I read it anyway as providing a framework 

for land ownership so that development and activities can take place.  

Now obviously there is meaning behind those words but just reading 

them cold, the subdivision has a far more strategic place in the plan 10 

doesn’t it, in terms of - - - 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I agree. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  - - - enablement for a start. So enablement of land use 15 

patterns and density targets being achieved and so forth. Do you agree 

with that? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And on the other side of the coin, it is actually quite a – 

do you think it has got an important part to play in regard to protection, 

looking at matters under section 6 and those that refer to subdivision? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I do, yes. 25 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So my other questions really I think relate to that second 

dimension as well.  Just before I get to those I need to cover this off I 30 

think for the record, appreciating the progress that has been achieved 

but nevertheless looking back a little bit.  Did you have anything to do 

with the section 32 report? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Okay.  And you would have read the rebuttal evidence I 

think from Mr Chrystal - - - 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  - - - which points out something that I have to say I noticed 

for myself in reading the report, that it appears to take a philosophical 

position on controlled activities and restricted discretionary activities.  I 

look at J for instance on page 4 of the section 1.2 which is providing an 45 

overview and synopsis of the plan as a whole and it makes an 
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interesting observation. It says in the Operative Plan subdivisions are 

generally controlled activities and then it goes on to say “in line with a 

proposed shift away from use of controlled activity status across the 

chapters in the Proposed District Plan,” and then it goes on to say what 

is proposed.  Do you think it is fair to observe that the section 32 report 5 

is acknowledging the Council took a philosophical position not just on 

subdivision but on the use of controlled activities in the plan from the 

outset? 

 

MR LONG:   I can speak to my own chapter. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LONG:  While it is certainly the case that we discussed with the controlled 

activities and the issues we saw with it at the time and that the 15 

preference I guess was that we use restricted discretionary activities 

except where the word “instances that were controlled” would be 

appropriate. The subdivision chapter I think is perhaps slightly different 

in terms of that every subdivision requires consent and I think also that 

our interpretation of section 104 initially took us down that restricted 20 

discretionary activity path. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just curious, well there is a couple of things. 

 

MR LONG:   I know, I can see what you’re, acknowledge what you are saying 25 

in my section 32 report. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is just that reference that you make or somebody makes 

in that section of the report and you had something to do with it.  It 

rings a bell because it sits with other evidence we have heard which 30 

suggests in fact the Council did have a philosophical position in its 

designing of the plan and this particular sentence suggests there was 

some cognisance of that by the authors of this document.  Is that not a 

fair observation given it says “across the chapters” in the Proposed 

Plan?  Why does it otherwise say that? 35 

 

MR LONG:  Yes, I acknowledge that. I think, though, that as I said our 

interpretation of controlled activity status when we set out on this 

project was that it had some issues in terms of specificity and whether 

you could impose conditions, and I think that was - - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Were you aware that other chapters of the plan were taking 

a similar approach? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And why were you aware of that? 

 

MR LONG:   Why? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes. Did it relate to an understanding you had of the 5 

philosophy that was being taken to the design of the plan? 

 

MR LONG:   I am not sure that philosophy is the right word, I think we looked 

at what we thought would work for the plan. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So was that the collective view on it? 

 

MR LONG:   I think so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And who was that led by? 15 

 

MR LONG:   I think – there was a technical advisory group and a collaborative 

advisory group and I guess those - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the collaborative advisory group - - - 20 

 

MR LONG:  - - - and we took our chapter to those and back and forth - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 25 

MR LONG:   - - - and that was the process that it went through. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because that collaborative advisory group, is that the joint 

officials group? 

 30 

MR LONG:   No that was another group altogether.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Right, okay, so that group recommended that it be 

analysed, didn’t it, this whole question of whether it should be 

controlled or something else.? 35 

 

MR LONG:   It may have done, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it is recorded in the report. 

 40 

MR LONG:   Okay, well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just wonder whether or not you have a view that that 

approach of how consistent that approach is with the spirit and 

intention of section 32. 45 
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  [2.40 pm] 

 

MR LONG:  No, I think the individual chapter in mine included in that have 

looked to use controlled activity status in activities where it is 

appropriate and notwithstanding what it says in that report. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, one other matter I wanted to talk to you about is as I 

said about this protection concept.  If you go to objective 8.1.1 on page 

three and there is a set of policies that relate and my first question is 

just to gather an understanding really, am I right to say or to understand 10 

because I think this is what you said earlier, where the word 

“significant” is used as a qualifier for instance in 8.1.1a in regard to 

natural features in the following words, or in 8.1.1.2a in regard to trees, 

I am not sure if it is in regard to historic heritage there but you will 

have to help me.  Is that word significant code for “it will be identified 15 

in the plan as significant?” 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, the subjective and the policies under that are dealing with 

significant landscapes and features at section 16, subsection seven 

matters. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, the question for me is important in this sense.  If 

the policies are intended effectively to work so that they will anticipate 

the stage three development of these things but are on an understanding 

that the policies will only apply when the plan identifies the matter as 25 

significant, that is one thing, but if it is a policy that requires a decision 

maker on a resource consent to determine significant case by case it is 

another, so which of those two is the intended approach for all of these 

natural value matters, trees? 

 30 

MR LONG:   No, trees is possibly the exception for matters other than trees, 

these are intended to deal with those areas where they are identified as 

being significant. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So if we take a landscape for instance, we would assume 35 

that the plan will provide an inventory or description of the landscapes 

that are given significance for the purposes of the consenting process? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The same goes for natural features? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What about indigenous biodiversity and ecosystems?  It is 45 

more difficult. 
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MR LONG:   It is more difficult. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the plan on that? 

 5 

MR LONG:   So if you are asking in terms of what stage three chapters do and 

how that relates to this, there are stage three chapters for biodiversity as 

to identify significant areas of indigenous vegetation and protect those. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR LONG:   It is also required to identify other areas by the RPS and it has 

done but they may not be significant. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I read with interest the evidence for Ngāi Tahu and 15 

the cultural landscape evidence on that where the words “identified” go 

into that phrase. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   To ensure the drafting clearly expresses an intention, you 

do not have a difficulty with the decision or do you have a difficulty 

with the decision making sure that when one reads the word 

“significant” it actually means or perhaps it even says “identified as 

significant?” 25 

 

MR LONG:   No, I do not have a problem with that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Okay, you were saying because that is what planned 

anyway, that is intended. 30 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, no, that is useful to know.  So that covers all of 

that, is that the case for historic heritage as well?  That it has to be 35 

identified in the plan before it is a subject of constraint? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now I said to you earlier on I think that I asked 40 

you the broad question about whether you were happy that all of the 

policies were properly configured for the change in position that the 

Council has taken towards controlled activity and if we just go down to 

8.1.1 and it is also reflected in the next policy down, it uses that 

mandatory language of “ensure” that those things.  On reflection are 45 

you satisfied that with a controlled activity regime where consent must 
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be granted but conditions can be imposed related to all matters of 

control depending on how those controls are specified, that the 

language of “ensure” is appropriate? 

 

  [2.45 pm] 5 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I think that it would be nice to be looking at it as a whole 

chapter at the stage two and three provisions will include some activity 

status not at a controlled level so for some of these significant features 

there will be restricted discretion - - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That was my next question. 

 

MR LONG:   So therefore these are appropriate. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is what they were anticipating, because that was my 

next question.  So what you are saying is that in the design intention 

there is one tier which is controlled activity but where things are 

identified in the plan is warranting a greater degree of protection in the 

same manner as cultural landscapes then the activity classification 20 

could well be something like restricted discretion. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Okay, no, that is good. So finally on the question of 25 

environmental compensation, perhaps the first question might well just 

see this kicked out to another witness.  Do you endorse it? 

 

MR LONG:  Yes, although it is a difficult thing to practise.   

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are going to get some difficult questions so just have 

a go. Well the question has been asked, “Has environmental 

compensation been deferred?” 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   I can advise, yes, that the Crown and the Council and 35 

Ngāi Tahu signed a memorandum requesting that this one also be 

deferred.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, can I just flag you, Mr Carranceja? 

 40 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because I have got a number of headaches about it and I 

would really encourage someone to look closely at the law on this 

before they come back. 45 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Absolutely, sir, and in fact just to clarify, I know that 

the witness did signal that we lodged a submission on it.  The policy – 

there was already an environmental compensation policy in a notified 

version of the plan.  The Crown actually lodged this submission saying 

there are problems with it but these clarify it among other things and I 5 

think this is the second iteration, it is not something we necessarily 

support, sir, it is just I guess the Council’s evolution of trying to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and I am not necessarily saying I am opposed to it.  

There are various cases that have grappled with it.  I think that the 10 

Transmission Gully decision was one but I think perhaps a decision 

with Judge Thompson and others in regard to one plan might have 

considered it as well. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There are questions about how it fits perception five, not 

to say it does not fit, it I just a question of making sure it does fit and 

how it fits with the regional policy statement in regard to biodiversity 

so anyway those are different issues.  In concepts such as net benefit 20 

versus net adverse effect or net – you know, there are different matters 

of design required to be looked at closely with it.  I do not have a view 

one way or the other, it just needs to be dealt with properly. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much, Mr Long, you are not free 

to go just yet.  So any questions arising, Mr Carranceja? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:  No, sir, thank you. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Viskovic? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, you have been helpful so far.  I 

think you should just assume yourself remaining, it would be good to 

see you in the hearings’ room just to keep an eye on what is going on 

and depending on what the parties want, the Panel doesn’t intend to 

direct caucusing other than to facilitate what the parties are asking for 40 

and I expect leadership from counsel on that but the resources are 

available for it. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW  [2.48 pm] 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Carranceja. 
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MR CARRANCEJA:  Thank you, sir, and if I might just start by saying the 

Crown is certainly happy to participate in caucusing, sir, and will make 

its witnesses available for that at 10.00 am on Friday, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well I think parties that wish to do should simply ask 

perhaps in a brief memorandum to the Panel and clarify whether it is 

caucusing, mediation or both just so that preparations can be made and 

be mindful that some parties expressed some anxiety at an earlier stage 

about not having mediation with their experts available to them as 10 

opposed to caucusing which keeps them away from their parties so 

think about the concept – is it mediation, or is it expert conferencing? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir, I will discuss that with my learned friend, sir.  

Thank you.  Sir, you should have – we filed yesterday around 5.00 15 

o’clock, sir, a set of the opening submissions.  I should signal at the 

beginning, sir, that these were lodged before we received the 

replacement restructured version of the Council’s proposal, sir, which 

changes a number of things including the activity status.  So perhaps if 

I have some liberty to ad lib a wee bit, sir? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, you can, thank you. 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just don’t lose this along the way, just keep us where you 

are, I understand – I read your submissions last night, I fully understand 

your position. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So (INDISTINCT 0.12). 

 

MR………:   Yes, thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I haven’t got a copy – we’ll have a two minute recess 

while copies are organised. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Certainly, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are we going to go out? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you have one? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, already to go. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you. So really what the Crown’s about, they’re 5 

concerned about in this case, sir, is to make sure that the proposal is 

useable (INDISTINCT 0.43) and it doesn’t have overly prescriptive 

regulation. The purpose of these submissions, sir, initially was to do 

three things, is to identified outstanding issues, they’ve actually 

narrowed since, as a consequence of last night, sir. 10 

 

 I was going to discuss the use of controlled activity status, I think that it 

becomes somewhat unnecessary but I’ll just breeze through a few 

points there and also just to refer to the relevant higher order 

documents, sir, that are to be considered in this proposal. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   So first of all, sir, in section 2 I note the remaining 

issues for the Crown - if I might just quickly go through those, sir. 20 

 

 In 22.A I just point out that all of the New Zealand Fire Service 

Commissions issues had not been resolved in the revised provision also 

in last night’s version proposal – I’ve checked that, sir, so - - -  

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   - - - I’m able to confirm that. 

 

 There was one amendment that was put to Mr Long, it was the missing 30 

word “service” and one of the policies that the Commission was 

concerned but that was just a typo. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I’d imagine all of those things can be picked up in a 

refreshed version. 35 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Absolutely, sir. 

 

 And B I just note that the Crown did have an issue regarding the 

minimum net site area for the RMD zone that’s been resolved, sir, the 40 

Crown is happy with the 200 square metres now proposed by the 

Council. 

 

 And C, sir, I put those questions to Mr Long regarding financial 

contributions, he noted that the Council doesn’t intend to use financial 45 

contribution, sir, that’s another issue that’s dealt with. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And, D, I just point out that Council’s accepted the 

utility of having a policy for ODP guidance and, E, sir, just point out 5 

that Mr Rouse sort of a number of amendments that clarified policies 

regarding integration between infrastructure and servicing that’s been 

dealt with, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And in, F, just - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the minor amendments have been addressed in the last 

version have they? 15 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, they have, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. 

 20 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Including through cross-examination regarding 

restructuring of one policy, sir, with the opening phrase of 8.1.3.1, they 

need to be taken out of A and so that it applies to both A and B. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 25 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And, F, I just point out, sir, that we’re certainly very 

pleased with the restructuring that has been proposed by the Council 

now and that’s been carried over into last night’s version. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And in, G, I just note that in the attachment to 

Ms McIntyre's evidence she recommends a pile of amendments there, 

sir, they’re largely resolved. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   So as of the time I wrote these submissions, sir, there 

were nine outstanding points of difference, they’re appended in 40 

appendix 1, sir, now what I might do, sir, just to assist the Panel, to go 

through them now to tell you what I think has resulted since. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so appendix 1? 

 45 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Page 14, sir; appendix 1. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   So the first thing, sir, is topic number 1, this is my fault, 

it’s actually objective 8.1.2(b), not policy - - -  5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   - - - 8.1.2(b), this is actually unresolved, this is the issue 

about whether that new objective inserted by Mr Andrew Long needs 10 

to be deferred, I’ll address that in closing, sir, it’s the Crown’s position 

it should be deferred because that objective which deals with 

indigenous vegetation and natural cultural matters actually it does not 

make sense, you cannot really consider that without knowing what is 

going to be considered to be significant – this is the non-significant 15 

version, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   It makes no sense and I will submit on this in closings, 20 

to deal with that object and make decisions on it, unless you actually 

know what falls out of the significance category, but I will address that 

in closing more fully, sir. 

 

 Point 2, this has been resolved I believe through questioning Mr Long 25 

earlier, sir, this is bout ensuring that there’s clarity in the policies so 

that the density requirements apply not subdivision-per-subdivision but 

across an ODP area, he accepted that, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Point number 3, sir, that was to deal with grammatical 

amendments to that policy, this is again just moving that opening 

phrase of the policy to the beginning, so it applies to both A and B, 

that’s been resolved and agreed to by Mr Long. 35 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

 Point number 4, sir, we did set out – requested amendments in the 

explanation which carries over the page, that has been superseded, sir, 40 

by replacement proposal, and if I could ask you, sir, to grab a pen, I can 

give you now the rule reference, the matter control reference and the 

matter discretion reference - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 45 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   - - - in the replacement proposal as of last night, so the 

first one is 8.2.4.1(4)(2) and that’s on page 20. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Could you just say that again please? 

 5 

MR CARRANCEJA:   8.2.4.1(4)(2) on page 20. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And also 8.2.4.2(11)(a), page 26, and, sir, briefly that 10 

was to do with the matter of control and the matter of discretion dealing 

with the various standards and matters for infrastructure to be designed 

to, and the questions are put to the three witnesses being O'Brien, 

Norton and Long was that it would be of greater assistance to the 

public if they identified what those documents were, I think they 15 

accepted that so really, sir, I think if that is - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it can be picked up in the next iteration. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Moving onto number 5, sir, this was a point that has 

been accepted by Mr Long in cross-examination, this is to do with the 25 

financial contribution and development contribution policy again, sir, 

really it was add the words “where applicable” because development 

contributions aren’t going to be charged in every circumstance, and to 

fix the title to delete the superfluous reference to “financial 

contributions”, that’s been resolved too, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Item number 6, I can change the reference there and 

give you the alternative reference to the replacement version of the plan 35 

provided last night, so instead of 8.3.4.3(9), the new reference, sir, is 

8.2.4.2(11)(b) and you’ll find that, sir, on page 26. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  

 40 

MR CARRANCEJA:   So that’s - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that’s resolved? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   That’s for point 6 and that deals with the reference to 45 

vegetation absorbing water - - -  
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   - - - which was – moving on to point 7, I can give you a 

new reference for that too, sir, again to the version circulated actually 5 

this morning. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one operating assumption, we’re making of course 

and we’re saying “things are resolved” is - - -  

 10 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Has been - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - no parties required to adhere to the views of their 

particular witnesses if they wish to take a view - - -  

 15 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - they can do so, so - - -  

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Absolutely, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - subject to that writer. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Subject to that, right, in that case I’ll rephrase on the 

basis that the other witness, the witnesses in cross-examination 25 

accepted these amendments. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   So moving on to number 7, sir, these had been agreed 30 

through cross-examination by Mr Long, Ms O'Brien and Mr Norton, 

the new reference there is 8.2.4.2(11)(y) and that’s on page 27. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 35 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And sir, that was the assessment matter referring to 

functionality rather than damage, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 40 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now the last ones, it’s really just the group, point 8.9, 

largely resolved because Council now is willing to go for controlled 

activity status - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 45 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   - - - but I do want to just put in the proviso, sir, and this 

is what conferencing will hopefully or mediation will achieve, to make 

sure that nothing has been lost in translation in particular. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well the other thing you need to understand, is of 5 

course the Panel hasn’t taken a view yet - - -  

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Correct, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - on these important questions and there’s been a 10 

number of questions that have been asked about the New 

Neighbourhood Zones that all counsel should be mindful of. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. But that’s helpful, thank you. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir, so moving back to page 4 of my 

submissions, sir. 

 20 

 So at the point of writing this, the most significant issue at the time, 

which I really just want to deal with hoping to assist the Panel, was 

provide some guidance regarding activity status for subdivision, in 

particular the use of controlled activities. 

 25 

 I think, sir, that’s largely rendered – it’s been overruled I guess, sir, 

because the Council now adopts the controlled activity approach, so 

perhaps if I could just breeze through – breeze past 3.5 to 3.6, I just set 

out the history of what happened. 

 30 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   In 3.7 I start discussing the legal framework for 35 

controlled activity status and it is really almost a rebuttal of what I 

detected in the Council’s evidence as to their position on section 104A 

and really the purpose of my submissions from 3.7 right through to 

about 3.17 on page 8, sir, was really to rebut that position and I refer to 

quite a lot of case law. 40 

 

 What it comes down to, sir, is provided you write your matters of 

control you are able to modify an application through conditions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I found that really helpful personally, thank you for 45 

that. 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I mean in essence is it really a case of saying it is all about 

how you manage your controls as you write your rules? 5 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Correct, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   At a certain point it might be that an activity 

categorisation isn’t appropriate because the manner of control required 10 

effectively means that the activity should be categorised something 

else? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Given the matters in issue expressed by the controls but 

what you are saying is in theory, in theory the rules can set the controls 

to ensure the jurisdiction is there to actually exercise it? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Absolutely, sir, that is my point, thank you, sir. 20 

 

 So I move on to 3.18 where I set out the Crown’s position.  Again the 

Crown’s position was in response to what the Council was doing, sir.  

The Council has since really altered its position to take into account the 

views of Mr Jason Jones and also Mr Chrystal.  And the Crown did 25 

support their views, sir, so really all I can say is that the Crown is 

supportive of the Council’s altered position to use controlled activity 

status more and really just wants that opportunity because its witnesses 

haven’t really had a proper opportunity to look at it to make sure that 

there aren’t any teething issues, there are no lost in a translation issues 30 

and it still all works. 

 

 So subject to that proviso, sir, I think, you know, we are pretty much 

almost there in terms of resolving the issues with the Council. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Moving onto point 4, sir, perhaps I could breeze 

through this.  I really just here set out what I saw as the main directions 

from the higher order documents that the Panel should take into 40 

account.  I have set out a lot of footnote references, I have included two 

appendices to assist the Panel in locating and reading what those 

documents say. 

 

 But if I could just breeze through these, the first directive is about 45 

enabling an increase in housing supply supported by the higher order 



 Page 111 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

documents.  The Crown says, sir, that making the provisions in this 

proposal more usable and clear, and if you reduce prescriptive 

regulation and if you provide greater use of controlled activity status, 

particularly in the New Neighbourhood Zone but also in the other 

zones as the Council has done now, that would better enable an 5 

increase in housing supply. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   I also say that another direction is to reduce consenting 10 

and notification requirements.  Again I set out the references there to 

the higher order documents.  What the Crown says in 4.6, sir, is that for 

proposal 8 increased use of controlled activity status would give better 

effect to that direction, sir. 

 15 

 I point out too in 4.7 the references to the higher order documents 

which seek to use clear and concise language in a plan and for a plan to 

be easy to use.  And again the amendments that the Crown has been 

seeking, including those set out in appendix 1 of the submissions which 

I just ran through the Panel through, had that direction in mind. 20 

 

 I say then that the use of infrastructure in an efficient and effective way 

is again promoted by the higher order documents and I say that the 

Crown says that the policy direction has now been improved by the 

Council so that the efficiency and effectiveness of integrating 25 

infrastructure and servicing with subdivision are now more clearly 

expressed and those minor amendments I think have essentially been 

adopted now through questioning by the Council’s witnesses. 

 

 Lastly, sir, I just point out and this is new, it hasn’t been discussed in 30 

previous hearings, sir, that the higher order documents also do seek to 

encourage low impact and sensitive design.  I set out the references 

there, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 35 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And the Crown can say too that it is satisfied that the 

revised proposals better encourages the use of low impact and sensitive 

design for infrastructure in the notified version proposal 8.  So again 

there has been a great improvement there. 40 

 

 Sir, in terms of other matters I have just addressed that objective 

8.1.2B, I will leave that in closings but the point is, sir, that we would 

be seeking to have that deferred. 

45 
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  [3.05 pm] 

 

 And the only other point I wrote down here but we did discuss it 

earlier, sir, is that environmental compensation matter is also being 

deferred and that is certainly something we will be addressing in 5 

stage 3, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, please don’t take my comments to say to dismiss it 

outright, it is just my concern that it may not have been thought about 

in terms of the right principles. 10 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 15 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Carranceja, one matter which I will ask the other 

Panels if there any questions, but you may have gathered from some 

questions that were being asked that in terms of our obligations to look 20 

at different options under 32 and 32AA. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In the New Neighbourhood Zones one option amongst the 25 

others is whether or not, and I asked some questions around this, there 

is any practical capacity for making some adjustments to the outline 

development plan for the likes of North Halswell as part of our inquiry 

and whether or not that is a matter that can be addressed within the 

jurisdictional limits of the Order in Council.  And it may be that 30 

counsel in closing can assist on that depending on how we go with 

further questioning, the principles around that are set out in the Order 

in Council.  And it comes back to the nature of the subject matter I 

guess and whether or not it really has a material influence beyond the 

boundaries of the parties’ interests before us really in a way. 35 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it would be of assistance if all counsel were able to 

assist on that, with relevant interests I should say, the Council, yourself 40 

and perhaps Mr Cleary has got some views on it as well. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 45 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  Sir, if there is no further questions from the 

Panel? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There maybe questions. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question.  Mr Carranceja, in your appendix 1, point 4 

where you read out some of these numbers for us. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   And you put some questions to each of the witnesses about 

being more specific and helpful about saying what the standards and 

guidelines et cetera are. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, that is correct. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   But they did all qualify their answers by saying as long as 

they are not bound to just those documents or that particular version of 

a document and that those can be changed without having to change the 

plan. 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In this table are you suggesting that the wording that you 

have suggested here, which refers to “just to” those documents you 25 

have mentioned, is consistent with the answers you received? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you for asking that question, commissioner.  

What I am proposing, sir, and what the Crown is proposing is that, 

rather than just simply leaving the matter of control or the matter of 30 

assessment as meet the Council’s design guides and standards, actually 

say what they are. 

 

 And I accept that the two there are not the only ones hence my 

questions.  So what the Crown is seeking to achieve is let us help the 35 

developers figure out what those documents are.  We have got the 

wastewater and water versions of those documents, the stormwater 

refers to other documents such as the Stormwater Management Plans 

et cetera.  Well, can we assist developers identify them in this policy or 

even bullet point them as an inclusive list. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but not in an exclusive list - - - 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, I think an inclusive - - - 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   - - - updated or a new standard comes out for something. 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, but I think if you have an inclusive list and then 

maybe bullet point the ones we know about, that way developers 

actually have some guidance to figure out, well, if they are going to 

lodge an application before they work out what they are trying to do 5 

they think about meeting these documents because they are readily 

identified and then they might smooth the transition into - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so you are not suggesting that the wording you have 

got in this table is consistent with the - - - 10 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, not at all. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That it has been agreed or (INDISTINCT 3.51) 

 15 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, I think we have moved on from what I have said 

there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is all I wanted to clarify at the 

moment. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just checking with Mr Udale, I understand you have a 

question? 

 

MR UDALE:   No, thank you. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just in relation to that same point and I wonder out loud as 

we are talking about that, whether a more practical and more flexible 

way of doing it would be to provide a Council website reference for 

documents that might be relevant or something which allows the 30 

Council to be able to update it from time to time and for parties to have 

the most up-to-date information at any time? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and, sir, I am sure that the Council’s witnesses 

would also be willing to discuss, you know, a better version of this 35 

through caucusing and mediation, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, thank you, you are calling Mr Rouse first I 

think. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, I would like to call Mr Rouse as its first 45 

witness. 



 Page 115 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

<ROBERT STANLEY ROUSE, affirmed [3.09 pm] 
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  [3.10 pm] 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [3.10 pm] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  Could you please confirm that your full 5 

name is Robert Stanley Rouse? 

MR ROUSE:   That is correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And that you have prepared a third statement of 

evidence for the replacement plan. 10 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes that is correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:  And the third one relates to this proposal, being 

Proposal 8, Subdivision Development and Earthworks? 15 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes that is correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And that you have prepared a statement of evidence 

that contains in paragraph 1.1 your qualifications and that you are an 20 

Asset Rebuild Manager, Horizontal Infrastructure for the Canterbury 

Earthquake Recovery Authority? 

 

MR ROUSE:   That is correct. 

 25 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And in preparing this evidence that you have read the 

code of conduct and you agree to adhere to that as you present your 

evidence today? 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes, I have. 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Can you please confirm that your evidence is true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes it is. 35 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  In that case unless you have got any 

corrections could you please provide a brief highlights package of your 

evidence and then stay to answer any questions of the Hearings Panel 

and my learned friends. 40 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes.  Thank you.  Good afternoon.  Further to what 

Mr Carranceja was saying before, a lot of the matters that I have 

expressed an interest in in my evidence have been covered fairly 

thoroughly today so if you are happy I will just ad lib through my 45 

summary of evidence. 
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 But my evidence addresses relief sought by the Crown related to 

horizontal infrastructure matters.  I have read the evidence of Mr Jason 

Jones and Mr Dean Chrystal.  Both Mr Jones and Mr Chrystal make 

reference to infrastructure mapping that identifies areas of 5 

infrastructure capacity and constraint and both Mr Norton and 

Ms O’Brien also addressed this matter in their rebuttal evidence. 

 

 I support the preparation of constraint mapping or mapping that 

indicates available capacity or where capacity is not available, and I 10 

also support that as being an input into perhaps a certification process 

that has been discussed earlier on today. It is my view or in my opinion 

work on capacity mapping can commence sooner rather than later. 

 

 Earthquake rebuild work in some catchments is now complete so 15 

mapping and a good understanding of capacity in those catchments 

should be well understood or be easy to determine.  Some of these 

catchments have been built to a very high standard.  Rebuild standards 

have changed as the earthquake rebuild and recovery has progressed. 

 20 

 There will be a considerable amount of information existing within the 

Council regarding maintenance records, consent compliance, customer 

service requests which could also inform that mapping process, and to 

some extent, the Council will already have some understanding of 

capacity constraints.  Some of that information would have been used 25 

in determining the development contributions so there will already I 

suspect be an understanding of capacity constraints within the 

infrastructure networks. 

 

 Capacity mapping and other information existing in Council records 30 

would inform a certification process but just to pick up on Mr Udale’s 

comments there may well be a gold rush if this approach was to be 

taken in terms of allocating capacity to developers to provide them with 

certainty with respect to their development.  So a robust process will 

need to be put up to make sure that capacity banking or this gold rush 35 

could be adequately managed.  But I believe that that would be 

possible. 

 

 Earlier on today people have talked a lot about infrastructure design 

standards and other related documents.  The Crown is seeking to make 40 

it easier for developers, designers and sub-dividers to proceed through 

the process, so any reference to guidelines in the document, recognising 

that we obviously want to avoid a plan change process every time one 

of these documents is updated; it is my view would add value and assist 

developers and designers going forward. 45 
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 In terms of stormwater, in my evidence I explained there are a number 

of on-site servicing options that can address existing infrastructure and 

availability issues and they are particularly relevant for Greenfield 

stormwater development but they can also exist for wastewater and 

water supply. 5 

 

 I agree with Mr Norton’s rebuttal evidence that if a development is not 

able to discharge stormwater runoff to ground and a stormwater 

network is not available then that may have to become a restricted 

discretionary activity rather than a controlled activity and there may be 10 

other mechanisms needed to deal with that. 

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

 The Crown is also seeking a soft or low impact stormwater treatment 15 

conveyance and disposal options.  Again that provides developers with 

a lot more flexibility, particularly in Greenfields development. 

 

 The Crown was particularly interested in seeking a change to removing 

the reference to damage and making reference to network performance, 20 

serviceability and functionality.  That was pursued because in the 

Crown’s view it would be a lot easier for designers and developers to 

show that a network or a pipeline was serviceable, performing and 

functional, than identifying possible damage and what that damage 

might mean in terms of subdivision development and connections to 25 

that network. 

 

 So sir that is just a very brief summary of my, and this was prepared at 

5.30 last night so it is out of date. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Rouse.  All right Ms Viskovic we’ll get 

underway, thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [3.16 pm] 

 35 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you Mr Rouse.  It sounds like the Crown and the 

Council are very close in terms of their levels of agreement and so 

really my questions are more around clarification of your position I 

suppose rather than seeking to pick holes. 

 40 

 In relation to when subdivisions should be granted consent, at 

paragraph 4.5 of your evidence you were talking about that 

subdivisions should only have controlled activity status when there is 

sufficient infrastructure capacity and as you have just noted, your 

summary was prepared yesterday evening and we have obviously 45 

moved to opposition since then.  So I am just wondering if you would 
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like to comment on where the Council’s controlled activity rules are 

currently sitting and to confirm whether you are comfortable with 

those. 

 

MR ROUSE:   If my understanding is correct, that where there is sufficient 5 

capacity then the subdivision can be treated as a controlled activity, I 

am comfortable with where that has ended up. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And in particular I will just direct you to – I am not sure if 

you have got a copy of perhaps the updated version – a red line version. 10 

 

MR ROUSE:   I have but not a track changes version. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   If you could be provided with a red-line. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well we may be able to put it straight up on the screen 

Ms Viskovic, it may be the quicker way of doing it, if you - - - 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly.  So if I just refer you to controlled activity 

standards 8.2.3.1 7(a). 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right we will just wait for that to come up. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   It is on page 8. 

 25 

MR ………:   What page? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Page 18.  Sorry, it may be the non-track changed version. 

 

MR ROUSE:   Sorry 7? 30 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   7a. 

 

MR ROUSE:   7a, yes. 

 35 

MS VISKOVIC:   So if you can refer to 7(a), 8(a) and 9(a), they set capacity 

requirements for water supply, wastewater disposal and stormwater 

disposal respectively.  I am just wondering if I could have your 

comment on whether you are comfortable with those? 

 40 

MR ROUSE:   Yes I am comfortable with that wording.  I would make the 

comment that the information to confirm that is likely to be held with 

the Council and it was good to note that the Council is looking to take a 

collaborative approach in terms of working with sub-dividers and 

designers to determine that capacity, availability. 45 
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MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly.  And on that, just turning to the concept of 

mapping and you said that you would support mapping being 

undertaken although not included perhaps in the plan, and that that 

should be undertaken as soon as possible.  I am just wondering if you 

are aware that a mapping programme has begun in relation to the 5 

wastewater capacity constraints around the city? 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes I am aware of that.  That is in Ms O’Brien’s evidence. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes.  And that the city has also commissioned a model in 10 

relation to stormwater. 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes I am aware of that. 

 

  [3.20 pm] 15 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And just still staying on the modelling for stormwater, 

Mr Norton explained this morning that the Council is currently 

undertaking that modelling at a relatively high level, they are not 

getting down to the level of kerb and channel and so on.  So it would 20 

provide guidance at that high level.  However, you appreciate that even 

that would take a number of months to complete and would be quite 

expensive? 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes, I accept that it is going to take a significant amount of time 25 

to complete this work.  I think what should happen is that the start 

should be made on it, and over time confidence and the accuracy in that 

information should increase.  So I think I do recognise that.  It may be 

at very high level initially but a start needs to be made. 

 30 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes.  So there would still be some benefit in having high 

level constraints mapping, but that will potentially need to be supported 

by further information being obtained from the Council by developers? 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes, the Council will have quite a lot of information about the 35 

performance of its network.   

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And there was some discussion this morning about the 

constraint maps being prepared and put perhaps on the Council 

website, I assume you would support that approach? 40 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes, that would be fine.  So long as there is a clear – it is made 

as easy as possible for developers and engineers et cetera to access the 

information, just to streamline that whole process. 

 45 
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MS VISKOVIC:   Yes.  Turning to the discussion that we have been having 

around the Infrastructure Design Standard, and I assume that in your 

role you are quite familiar with that document? 

 

MR ROUSE:   I am not super familiar with it, the Infrastructure Design 5 

Standards, no.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Right.  So I suppose, I just note that the Infrastructure 

Design Standard is quite a lengthy document, I mean I have a copy of it 

here, that’s it.  And it covers a number of matters relating to 10 

infrastructure, not only water supply, wastewater, but also more 

broadly reserve, streetscape, open space, lighting, roading, et cetera.  

And I am just wondering when you have referred to requiring 

compliance with the IDS, were you specifically thinking about specific 

parts of the IDS or the IDS as a whole document? 15 

 

MR ROUSE:   The IDS, as I understand, is made up of a number of chapters or 

parts – wastewater, stormwater, water and various parts that you 

described.  So the developer will refer to the relevant chapter or part of 

that that they need to deal with that particular part of their 20 

development. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes, and are you also aware that the Infrastructure Design 

Standard refers out to other documents such as the Waterways, 

Wetlands and Drainage Guide, which Mr Norton has discussed in his 25 

rebuttal.  

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   So when Mr Carranceja was talking about including an 30 

inclusive list within the Plan as to the matters, to direct developers to 

appropriate documents that could potentially include these documents 

that are referred to in the IDS as well? 

 

MR ROUSE:   That’s correct, the intention would be to make it as easy as 35 

possible. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And also further documents could be developed over time, 

as Ms Dawson was saying, the additional standards could be developed 

for example by the Council, and so the language in the Plan wouldn’t 40 

want to preclude those documents. 

 

MR ROUSE:   That’s correct.   

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Just at section 9 of your evidence you have set out the 45 

Crown outcomes sought in relation to infrastructure, and I understand 
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that the vast majority of those matters have been resolved through 

mediation and perhaps also through the revisions that Council is now 

proposing. 

 

 Just referring to paragraph 9.1.5 of your evidence, in that paragraph 5 

you have proposed an amendment to policy 8.1.3.4 and it relates to soft 

engineered solutions.  I’m just wondering if you agree with Mr Norton 

that that term “soft engineered solutions” does not necessarily have a 

well-known or well-defined meaning, and could be open to 

interpretation? 10 

 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

MR ROUSE:   That is correct, but that could be clarified.  The intention is to 

differentiate it from hard infrastructure, which is pipes, pumping 15 

stations, hard channels.  Soft being more natural treatment processes – 

open swales, basins, planted areas, that sort of thing.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Sure.  I am just wondering if perhaps this has been covered 

off already by policy 8.1.3.4? 20 

 

MR ROUSE:   Sorry? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   So on the clean version it is page 7. 

 25 

MR ROUSE:   8.1.3.4, yes.   

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And in particular B. 

 

MR ROUSE:   B, that’s correct.  I understand this is – in 9.1.7 I supported 30 

Ms McIntyre’s further amendment to that clause, and 8.1.3.4 B reflects 

Ms McIntyre’s rewording, so I am happy with that.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   You’re happy.  Finally, I just note, and I think you probably 

already agreed to this already, but at paragraphs 9.2.2 and 9.2.4 you 35 

note that the subdivision proposal was too prescriptive, and I am just 

wondering if you could confirm whether you were content that the 

revised proposal that the Council is now supporting resolves your 

issues in those infrastructures? 

 40 

MR ROUSE:   Yes.   

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Great.  Thank you, no further questions.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Yes, Ms Dawson, thank you. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Hello, Mr Rouse.  I just have one question for you.  In your 

evidence when you were talking about the appropriateness of 

controlled activity, I think it was at 4.5, but it doesn’t really matter.  I 

think it was in your summary, you emphasise not only there being 

sufficient capacity available in the infrastructure but the subdivision is 5 

in accordance with an Outline Development Plan, and I am wondering 

whether you are familiar with the Outline Development Plans that are 

in the Plan so far and whether you have – I mean from the point of 

view of those Outline Plans setting the framework for adequate 

infrastructure in those larger Greenfields area, whether you have an 10 

opinion on whether those Outline Plans are adequate or not, or paving 

the way? 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes, I’m sorry I haven’t.  I am not familiar enough with those 

plans in the Proposal to make comment.   15 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is all right. 

 

MR ROUSE:   I am sorry.   

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Yes, Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   Thank you.  Look, I had a similar question to Ms Dawson, and I 

just wondered in the context of your evidence around the efficient 

integration of land use and infrastructure whether in your view the 25 

provisions or the requirements for an ODP sufficiently address that. 

 

MR ROUSE:   I believe so, I think the requirements for an ODP as set out in 

the Regional Policy Statement, they are quite clear, I am comfortable 

with those requirements.  That clearly sets out the requirements for 30 

infrastructure servicing from the point of an Outline Development Plan.  

In particular I regress, in terms of integration the requirement to make 

sure that, I am not reflecting the exact words in the Regional Policy 

Statement, but areas or developable areas both upstream and 

downstream are considered as part of the development. 35 

 

MR UDALE:   Just in relation to stormwater, and possibly this falls outside 

your area, but nonetheless it’s covered in your evidence, a couple of 

issues – one, I just wondered your view on the use of open space and 

stormwater management as uses that can go hand in hand and therefore 40 

are more efficient use of land, is something that should be encouraged. 

 

MR ROUSE:   In my opinion it is a good way to deal with stormwater.  It can 

be integrated with other land uses, including that amenity value.  It is a 

cost effective way of dealing with stormwater, particularly from 45 
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extraction point of view, there may be some ongoing maintenance 

costs, mowing and so on. 

 

 It is particularly good, if for example, there is no existing infrastructure 

to connect to, so it’s a good – it may be expensive but it still might be 5 

better than not proceeding with the development at all. 

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 

 The Crown does have a preference to efficiently and effectively use 10 

existing infrastructure where it can.  Generally stormwater networks are 

the poor relation of water and wastewater schemes, so those alternative 

of soft low impact measures are a good alternative to the harder 

infrastructure, particularly if they are at capacity or there is no 

infrastructure downstream. 15 

 

 Personally I think it is great to combine a means of treating and 

disposing of a runoff as part of a landscape or amenity value. 

 

MR UDALE:   Thank you.  Just as a further follow up question on stormwater, 20 

and it was a question that was raised earlier today by Ms Dawson, I am 

not quite sure who to, it might have been to Mr Norton. 

 

 In an ODP area where there is multiple ownerships, have you given any 

consideration to how multiple ownerships with the ability of a quite 25 

small portion of land to be advanced as a subdivision application, how 

an ODP might deal with the wider stormwater management and 

catchment issues which typically are wanting to be done on a much 

wider area than might pertain to a small subdivision? 

 30 

MR ROUSE:   Yes I am sorry I cannot really comment on that.  It would be 

complex with multiple landowners.  It could be that one landowner 

may lose all of their land for the benefit of all the others. I have not 

given any thought in terms of how that could be dealt with from a 

planning sort of point of view. 35 

 

MR UDALE:   So would it be your view that that is something that should be 

perhaps more strongly emphasised at the front end of an ODP process? 

 

MR ROUSE:   I would have thought so.  The more certainty and the more 40 

guidance developers have, it has got to streamline the process going 

forward.  So the more information the better. 

 

MR UDALE:   Thank you.  No further questions. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I haven’t any questions for you Mr Rouse it was very 

clear and thank you for your answers.  Any questions arising, let me 

see, Ms Viskovic first. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   No sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, thank you.  Mr Carranceja. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No sir. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, you are free to go, thank you Mr Rouse and 

we will take the afternoon recess. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.32 pm] 

 15 

ADJOURNED [3.32 pm] 

 

RESUMED [3.49 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Okay so Ms McIntyre I think is it? 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, thank you. 
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<MS SANDRA JEAN MCINTYRE, affirmed [3.49 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [3.49 pm] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  Could you please confirm that your full 

name is Sandra Jean McIntyre? 

 5 

MS MCINTYRE:   It is. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And that you are a Planning Policy and Project 

Management Consultant at Schema(ph 0.36) Limited? 

 10 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, that’s right. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And that you have prepared this now your second 

statement of evidence on behalf of the Crown? 

 15 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is correct. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And the second statement relates to proposal 8, being 

Subdivision Development and Earthworks? 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And that in preparing your evidence you have read and 

adhered to the code of conduct by expert witnesses and you agree to 

adhere to it today? 25 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And please confirm that your statement of evidence is 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge. 30 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

  [3.50 pm] 

 35 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and in the absence of any amendments could you 

please read out you’re or provide a summary of your evidence, no more 

than 10 minutes please. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Thank you. 40 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Like some of the other witnesses I have had to make some 

rapid amendments to this, so - - -  45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Certainly. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   - - - it will be brief. 

 

 First of all just to note that the Council has addressed most, if not all of 5 

the concerns that were raised in the Crown’s case and in my evidence, 

there’s some minor matters remaining which I think Mr Carranceja has 

mentioned, so I’ll just touch on a few matters. 

 

 First of all I support the restructuring of the proposal that Mr Long has 10 

done, that he first included in attachment B to his rebuttal evidence and 

that has been retained in the latest version. I commend the work that 

he’s done to achieve that and think it makes the proposal much easier 

to read and to understand. 

 15 

 Importantly, it also clearly treats subdivision as a whole activity rather 

than an assembly of parts, which addresses the concerns that I’ve 

discussed at 6.7 and 6.8 of my evidence-in-chief. Mr Long has also 

successfully removed some unnecessary duplication in the matters for 

discretion, which I also support. 20 

 

 In the latest version that we received last night the Council has also 

incorporated into that restructured proposal an approach including 

controlled activity which is significantly less prescriptive than the 

approach that was previously being proposed. I’ve reviewed that 25 

approach and I support it in principle. 

 

 At this stage I haven’t had time to give it any detailed consideration 

and there may be specific amendments needed to the details of the 

matters for control and the mechanics of the rule, for example it was 30 

pointed out to me today that there is a standard relating to access to 

State Highways but there is no matter for discretion that directly relates 

to, if there’s no compliance - if there’s a noncompliance with that 

standard, so I suspect that there may be a few matters like that we need 

to sort out – I am very willing to participate in any discussions to 35 

resolve those matters. 

 

 In relation to the controlled activity approach I also want to confirm 

that I agree with Mr Long in his rebuttal evidence, I think at paragraph 

9.12 of that, that it wouldn’t be appropriate to provide for subdivision 40 

as a controlled activity in areas where additional management of 

activities is required to protect special values, such as historic heritage 

or outstanding landscape areas or to avoid significant constraints such 

as high hazard constraints. 

 45 
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 One of the matters which there has been some discussion on today is 

the type of reference that there should be to the infrastructure design 

standard and other standards and guidelines that the Council has in 

relation to infrastructure. In my evidence-in-chief I supported inclusion 

of a standard referring to compliance with the IDS. 5 

 

 Now I’ve read the concerns and heard the concerns that the Council has 

raised about that because of the way in which the IDS is used because it 

is reviewed regularly by the Council and I accept that in those 

circumstances a standard wouldn’t be the best way to incorporate 10 

consideration of the IDS and that a matter for control or discretion 

would be more appropriate. 

 

 I don’t agree with Mr Long’s rebuttal evidence that this should not 

refer to the relevant guidelines and standards by name because I don’t 15 

think that that makes it clear what types of design standards are better 

considered, so I would support an approach which has some link either 

within the matter for control or discretion to a list of relevant standards 

or as was suggested earlier this afternoon perhaps a link to a page on 

the website that refers to those. 20 

 

 I have a little bit of nervousness about a fully inclusive list because I 

think we need to make it clear that this is about the standards and 

guidelines that are relevant to infrastructure given that, you know the 

term “design standards” is used in relation to a wide range of things 25 

including, for example, urban design standards so I think the matter for 

discretion or control needs to be very clear what the scope of the 

standards and guidelines we are talking about is. 

 

  [3.55 pm] 30 

 

 Just one other matter in terms of particular standards and matters of 

discretion and how they have been treated in the revised proposal is the 

matter that Mr Carranceja touched on this morning in his questioning 

of Mr Long and that is that the proposal has removed all references to 35 

restriction of access to limited access roads and I consider it would be 

appropriate to put that reference back in. 

 

 There is one other matter that I just wanted to touch on and that is the 

matter of the policy on the ODP content.  I have to take some 40 

responsibility for that having agreed to do the drafting of it arising out 

of discussion in the mediation. 

 

 So I drafted that policy, made some amendments to it in response to 

comments from Mr Long and from Mr Jones in particular, so I can 45 

probably give you as much information as anyone as to how it came to 
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be and I just wanted to note that in relation to how it refers to the 

various matters in the Regional Policy Statement, that the intent of the 

policy was that we did not want to duplicate what was in the RPS, 

rather it was intended to provide guidance and to highlight that as to 

how that RPS needed to be given effect to in the context of the 5 

replacement plan outcomes and priorities. 

 

 So the focus in the clauses in that policy are on essentially adding value 

to what is in the RPS.  That is why for example it does not specifically 

refer to a distribution of density across the ODP area because that is 10 

required in the RPS anyway, we tried to sort of tie it into the particular 

policies and the context of the Replacement Plan. 

 

 Having said that I acknowledge that there are likely to be refinements 

of it that would be helpful and again, Mr Carranceja, has mentioned 15 

this morning one of the refinements which we had identified, which 

was raised with me in discussion with Mr Brown for Danne Mora, that 

clause 3 is a little ambiguous in its intent and I agreed that it needs to 

be amended so that it is clear that it reads that if land for community 

use is being included then it will be provided in locations rather than 20 

suggesting that land for community uses must be provided. 

 

 I do not think there is any, probably the one other comment that I 

would just like to make is that I have not, in my evidence made any 

reference to the standards and assessment matters relating specifically 25 

to the New Neighbourhood Zone on the assumption that that was 

canvassed at the Residential Hearing so I have not made any comments 

on the way in which those have been translated in the latest versions 

from the Council. 

 30 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, Ms McIntyre.  I do actually have one 

further question.  Can you please confirm that you also prepared a 

rebuttal statement of evidence and that is true and correct to the best of 

your knowledge? 

 35 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  Could you please remain and answer any 

questions of my learned friends and also of the Hearings Panel.  Thank 

you. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Viskovic, thank you. 

 

  [4.00 pm] 

 45 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [4.00 pm] 



 Page 131 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, Ms McIntyre and actually in your summary you 

have probably covered off quite a number of the questions I was 

planning on asking you. 

 5 

 Just turning first to the structure of the proposal, obviously you have 

confirmed that the chapter resolves your concerns so I am just 

wondering if you could confirm that this resolves all of the concerns 

that you have raised in section 6 of your evidence which seeks- - - 

 10 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I believe it does.  In writing that part of my evidence I 

had in mind a structure that was much more like the structure that has 

now been put forward by the Council. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   In relation to infrastructure and servicing requirements, you 15 

have set out a number of recommendations at paragraph 7.3 of your 

evidence regarding infrastructure and servicing, and again I understand 

that most of these matters have been addressed through mediation and 

have been incorporated in annexure A which was attached to the 

Council’s legal submissions this morning, exhibit 1.  I just note that 20 

you have opposed matter for discretion, it was 8.3.4.3(27) and it is now 

8.2.4.2(11)(Y). 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 25 

MS VISKOVIC:   So that is on page 27 of the non-red-lined version. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   The purpose of that matter was to draw plan users attention 30 

to consider services that were damaged during the earthquakes and the 

need for the Council to consider those, that potential damage when they 

are assessing applications.  Mr Carranceja asked Mr Long some 

questions this morning around this and in particular proposed 

amendment to the second half of that matter for discretion and I assume 35 

that you support the amended wording? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And that was to recognise that infrastructure is restored to a 40 

state that is performing, serviceable and functional? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Just covering off the concept of a constraints overlay, in 45 

your evidence you provided some support for potentially including that.  
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I assume you have read the rebuttal evidence of Mr Norton, 

Ms O’Brien and Mr Long on that point? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 5 

MS VISKOVIC:   And the issues that they have raised regarding the provision 

of a constraints overlay? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 10 

MS VISKOVIC:   And so, based on that evidence and your understanding of 

where things have moved now, do you still support the inclusion of a 

constraints overlay in the plan? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I accept that it is something that is easier to keep current 15 

outside the plan than within the plan.  My concern on that point was 

essentially that, you know, there are ways in which certainty can be 

provided about the capacity being available, that this was one of the 

ways.  I accept that it may not be the most useful way at the moment. 

 20 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly.  So you would prefer, say, the concept of a 

certification regime over the inclusion of a constraints overlay? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   The certification regime seems to me to be a very practical 

way of dealing with it. 25 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   However, you would potentially support the idea, the 

concept of a map that sits outside the plan that plan users could refer 

to? 

 30 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Just turning to the Infrastructure Design Standard, you noted 

in your opening remarks that you have some concerns around referring 

to design standards generally and given the breadth of the Infrastructure 35 

Design Standard I am wondering whether there were particular parts 

that you thought were appropriate to be included? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I think there are other people who would be better able to 

comment on that than I am.  Certainly if there are particular parts of 40 

that that are more important, you know, that the Council’s 

infrastructure people think are more important to be incorporated into 

the assessments then I think it is worth highlighting those because that 

provides some direction for applicants as to what they should be 

considering but, you know, I am no expert on which are the bits that 45 

they will all be looking at. 
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MS VISKOVIC:   And again just thinking about the other documents that are 

either referred to in the Infrastructure Design Standard or which may be 

relevant or become relevant, you wouldn’t support an exclusive list 

being included in the plan as a natural control. 5 

 

  [4.05 pm] 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   No, my concern is that the relevant things are clearly 

identified and that both that the matter for discretion is wide enough to 10 

incorporate the things that need to be considered and that it is clear 

what needs to be considered and also that the matter is not broadened 

out so wide that there is potential for other things to creep in that really 

are not relevant. 

 15 

MS VISKOVIC:   And now just turning to outlined development plans and as 

you have indicated you were involved or you did draft what is now 

policy 8.1.2.9 and I just note that you would agree that that policy does 

not solve, I suppose, the potential issues that exist with the current 

outlined development plans that are proposed. 20 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   No, it does not, and in looking at the way in which a 

controlled activity would work in terms of this, I have been wanting to 

reassure myself and asking questions of Mr Rouse as well to make sure 

that we can be assured that the rules deal with the deficiencies that 25 

there are in some of those existing outlined development plans. 

 

 The purpose of the policy is to make sure that the situation improves in 

future and that the Council is not going to continue to be faced with a 

whole lot of widely varying outline development plans that sometimes 30 

do not achieve what they should. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I note that in your evidence you have raised some issues at 

paragraph 9.11 in relation to the existing outlined development plans 

and flagged that there may be issues and I am just wondering whether 35 

you would agree that some of those issues at least have been resolved 

through the inclusion of additional activity standards in 8.2.3.1 in 

relation to those outline development plans for example paragraph 7C, 

8D and E, 9F and G. 

 40 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is my understanding of what those standards are 

intended to do and I am guided by your infrastructure witnesses on that. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly, and I suppose if there are any outstanding 

technical issues those could potentially be resolved in a similar way 45 

through the addition of additional standards? 
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MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, what I would be concerned about is that I suppose that 

there is actually a careful analysis of what does need to be included in 

the standards and what does not need to be included in the standards 

and in saying that I am very aware that in the stage two notified 5 

proposal there are a whole lot more areas to be included in the New 

Neighbourhood Zone. 

 

 These are all the former Living G Zones and I am very conscious of 

how easy, well and in the notified version of stage two there are a lot of 10 

detailed rules that relate to those and I think my caution in terms of this 

would be where the standards are necessary to be in the rules because 

of, say a deficiency in the ODP then they should be there but it needs to 

be approached quite carefully. 

 15 

MS VISKOVIC:   In the future, yes, and just finally turning to the matters that 

are covered in policy 8.1.2.9 and I understand that these, and I think 

you said this in your opening remarks, that they have been informed by 

policy 6.3.3 in the regional policy statement but the intention was not to 

just replicate policy 6.3.3. 20 

 

 In particular, I just note that it is potentially because some of the issues, 

well some of the matters that are set out in policy 6.3.3 are not 

necessarily able to be included into a District Plan, for example 6.3.3.8 

demonstrates how effective provisions is made for a range of transport 25 

options including public transport options and presumably public 

transport routes for example could not be determined on an ODP or 

noted on an ODP because they are informed by demand and would be 

put in place after the ODP area is potentially constructed. 

 30 

  [4.10 pm] 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is sometimes true, yes, and I think in developing this 

policy there was a bit of a prioritising process involved in it, starting 

from looking at what are the things that it is really important to provide 35 

guidance in here, because these are the methods that need to be got 

right in the ODP. 

 

 So the matters like the need to have adequate capacity and the need to 

provide for integration between the ODP area and the joining areas and 40 

the need to provide for integration between different landowners across 

the ODP area were the things which if you don’t deal with in the ODP 

there is not an obvious other way to deal with them.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you.  I have no further questions.  Thank you. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Viskovic.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Thank you Ms McIntyre, and thank you for your 

work on this policy that we have just been talking about. 

 5 

 I am still a little confused about what you are intending about its 

relationship to 6.3.3 in the RPS.  I understand you to have said in your 

introduction that “it’s not intended to narrow the range of matters that 

6.3.3 requires to be given effect to.” 

 10 

MS MCINTYRE:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But you have picked out the things for this plan you felt were 

the most important. 

 15 

MS MCINTYRE:   The need for policy guidance on ODPs came out of the 

discussion in relation to controlled activity status in New 

Neighbourhood Zones in part; and also when we were discussing the 

implications of that controlled activity approach with the Council, the 

concerns that were raised about the wide variation in ODPs to date. 20 

 

 So a key part of my thinking in this was a concern that we ensured that 

the central matters that needed to be consistent between ODPs were 

consistent between those ODPs.  So it’s not a policy which says these 

are the only things which must be in an ODP, because obviously it has 25 

to be consistent with policy 6.3.3, these are the things which must be 

clearly shown on the ODP in the narrative associated with it.  I am not 

sure if I have made that clear.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, I think so.  I mean if you have a policy at a District 30 

Plan level that’s specific to a topic, in this case “Outlined Development 

Plans”, would you expect to then always remember you have to go to 

the higher order document to actually implement that subject matter in 

the rules, or should there be a more comprehensive or – because it 

doesn’t actually say - - - 35 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I see what you mean, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - “in addition to the matters in the 6.3.3 this is what we 

think is most important” it doesn’t say that. 40 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   No, you are right.  But it would be helpful to have some 

clear reference back to 6.3.3 there, I think. 

 

MS DAWSON:   If that’s what is intended? 45 
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MS MCINTYRE:   Yes.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Because otherwise you have got what one thinks might be the 

plan’s most important matters - - - 

 5 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - I mean, do you think it is a practical, sensible planning to 

always be remembering to go back to a higher order document when 

the subject matter is really and fairly and squarely covered in here, or 10 

should be? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I think a reference to policy 6.3.3 would be helpful in there.  

I mean there is a reference in there in terms of that is the role reference, 

it’s not the role - - - 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   But that’s a difference reference, and the other way around. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That’s right. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I agree that it would be helpful. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because it is a wee bit schizophrenic this policy, on the one 25 

hand it’s saying “covered these matters in A” and then says “but don’t 

do them too much”. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   And that’s sort of – I mean I can see why the group of 

planners might have thought that, because on the one hand you have 

got ODPs with not much on them and then you’ve got other ones like 

Wigram that have got pages and pages and pages of detail. 

 35 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

  [4.15 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:    So am I right in thinking that the ‘B’ part is about, well don’t 40 

put pages and pages - - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - of detail if it’s not necessary to meet 6.3.3. 45 
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MS MCINTYRE:   That’s correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And am I right in thinking that might have been the genesis 

of the policy, was that concern more than the not enough detail 

concern, or was it trying to cover both matters? 5 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   It is trying to cover both and I think what we have ended up 

with is we have got that reference in B but we have not got it in A and 

that is a gap. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  If that was intended I think it does need 

to say that - - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   - - - otherwise it is a gap. 

 

 So I think I have asked you about the Wigram type ones which are 

coming up in stage 2 anyway so the intention is to confine the amount 

of information for those type of ones.  You have mentioned though that 20 

some of the ones in stage 1 and potentially, though I haven’t looked at 

it, some of them more that are coming along in stage 2 are at the other 

extreme, which perhaps don’t cover all the matters in this policy and 

6.3.3.  I’ve lost my train of thought here. 

 25 

 This policy, my reading of this policy, it does not say other than those 

ones that are already in there, all future outline plans need to meet this 

policy. It actually is inclusive of all outline plans. Is that how you read 

it? 

 30 

MS MCINTYRE:   It is, I mean it is intended to provide guidance for all 

Outline Development Plans but there is the issue that history is history, 

that I mean if something has already been put into the plan I am not 

sure what scope there is to revisit it.  So it is not exclusive from 

existing Outline Development Plans but its primary purpose is to make 35 

sure things are done better in future. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Does it say that? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   No.  It doesn’t. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   No.  So the ones that are in there at the moment and coming 

along in stage 2, they are only proposed at the moment and we are 

looking at how to write it, integrate a cohesive plan.  What is your view 

about the ones that are there at the moment and I acknowledge that they 45 
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come with a package of rules as well, because I am concerned to make 

sure that we are giving effect to the Regional Policy Statement. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes.  In terms of the ones at the moment I think the ones 

which are most clearly deficient in terms of policy 6.3.3 are probably 5 

the ones that you have been discussing today, because of those matters 

of not showing infrastructure capacity and not showing distribution of 

density.  In the stage 2 ones I think the fault is rather in the too much 

detail rather than too little detail direction.  Ideally I think it would be 

helpful to address the deficiencies in the existing one.  I am not sure - - 10 

- 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well that’s (INDISTINCT 3.50)- - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   - - - that’s right, about the scope of that.  I have thought a 15 

little bit about what the implications of that are.  My understanding is 

that certainly apart from, and it may be that the North Halswell one is a 

unique case because it may be the only one which hasn’t been through 

some previous process of hearing and assessment and I think it suffers 

because of that. 20 

 

 In terms of all the other ones my understanding is that the matters such 

as density and wastewater and stormwater capacity have been 

considered and assessed and are there in the background information 

that has given rise to the ODP.  That information may not have been 25 

put onto the ODP itself but it is there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It might be available. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes.  In that sort of circumstance it seems to me that it 30 

would not be a difficult to process to bring that information out and put 

it on the ODP if it needs to be there.  The North Halswell situation may 

be different from that. 

 

  [4.20 pm] 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   And yet were you here when Mr Norton and Ms O'Brien 

gave their evidence and answered questions about whether, even with 

the rules there was inadequate provision for integrated stormwater and 

wastewater management? 40 

 

MS McCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS McCINTYRE:   I mean my understanding of what they said there was that 

those specific rules that had been – those specific standards that had 

been put in, had been put in to address the deficiencies in the ODP and 

that they were comfortable that those would address them. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   I think Ms O'Brien said that, but not Mr Norton. 

 

MS McCINTYRE:   Right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, I think I have – now one other area of question and 10 

it’s the same question that I’ve asked Mr Long, it’s about the rule – the 

standard for having either adequate infrastructure capacity or effective 

stormwater management, I don’t know if you’ve had – have you had 

the chance to think about my questions about whether these standards 

are of sufficient certainty to act as a standard as a prerequisite for 15 

controlled activity status or whether they could be improved to reach 

that standard by some other wording or mechanism being incorporated. 

 

MS McCINTYRE:   I have briefly thought about it. The stormwater disposal 

one is the one that’s particularly problematic because it just talks about 20 

effective management of surface water. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well the others say “adequate capacity”, what - - -  

 

MS McCINTYRE:   They say “adequate capacity” yes, but they are – well they 25 

are prefaced by the requirement to connect to a system and in terms of 

identifying whether there’s adequate capacity, I think the sort of 

certification process that has been discussed quite a bit today could deal 

with that and perhaps that should be built into the rule that it needed to 

be. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I see what you mean, so with that - - -  

 

MS McCINTYRE:   Wording that referred to that, could I think address the 

certainty issue there. 35 

 

 In terms of the stormwater disposal standard, I think there’s two ways 

of dealing with, otherwise – well, one way is that you could do the 

same thing there, have that reference to a certification test. The other 

would be, because I understood from Mr Norton that he would be 40 

reasonable relaxed if that particular clause was just turned into a matter 

for control, and that would be the other way of dealing with that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so that’s the two ways of looking at it, all right, no thank 

you that’s very helpful, thank you, Ms McIntyre, that’s all from me. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   Thank you, a couple of questions, I guess one I had a similar 

line of questions around the ODP and the RPS and, you know the 

beneficial nature of actually having one source of truth, which have 5 

been advanced around infrastructure and other things and I think to 

some degree you’ve answered that question, so I won’t come back to it, 

but I do think it would be helpful to have that. 

 

 I was just interested, I mean in relation to your, the sort of general 10 

thrust of section 6 of your evidence, and just thinking about the intent 

of this part of the plan and in particular policy 8.1.2.3 which is about 

allotments, and ensuring allotment layout size is in dimensions created 

are appropriate that they provide for a variety of allotment sizes to cater 

for different housing and affordability and presumably somewhere 15 

embedded in all of that is the concept of innovation, and at 8.1.2.8 

which is about achieving urban minimum density targets both within 

suburban and urban environments. 

 

 Throughout – in a number of places throughout this chapter there’s a 20 

reliance on minimum lot sizes and dimensions, and I’m just interested 

in your view as to whether such an approach actually adequately 

responds to the policies in terms of achieving those outcomes. 

 

  [4.25 pm] 25 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I am not convinced about the need for minimum 

dimensions except in circumstances where you are dealing with very 

small lots where you are going to end up, if you do not have a 

minimum dimension you are going to end up with something that is 30 

unusable, I do not think we are in that, I do not think we have lots of 

that nature in this plan so I think that, I do not think that anything in 

particular would be lost by not having minimum dimensions.   

 

 In terms of minimum lot sizes, as with many District Plans the 35 

minimum lot size is used as a reasonably central tool to I suppose 

define the difference in amenity between different residential zones and 

I think to the extent that that is the purpose that it serves then it needs to 

be incorporated into the subdivision chapter in a way that reflects what 

is in the zone chapter and that the activity status that it is accorded in 40 

the subdivision chapter should also similarly complement what is in the 

zone chapter because it serves a policy function. 

 

MR UDALE:   I just wonder if in that context whilst I can accept that in a more 

rural environment or a special character area, it might be a rule to round 45 

things like minimum lot sizes.  Essentially what we are talking about 



 Page 141 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15 

here is a move to quite an urban form of development and in many 

other District Plans, minimum lot sizes typically are a trigger for a 

change between the land subdivision and comprehensive development 

consents or applications and I just wonder if such an approach might 

better respond to the objectives of this plan or the policies behind this 5 

than in your view. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I suppose this gets a little bit into the residential evidence 

area, the land use area - - - 

 10 

MR UDALE:   Hard to separate the two. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I mean my view on what the subdivision chapter 

needs to do and the subdivision provisions needs to do is they need to 

support the outcomes that are being sought in the various other 15 

chapters, both in terms of particular zones and in terms of particular 

overlays and special areas.   

 

 In this plan the lot size is, as I said, it is pretty key in determining the 

sort of expected amenity of the different residential areas across the 20 

city and I think it would take quite a significant exercise to change that 

approach at this stage. 

 

MR UDALE:   Okay, thank you on that.  Just something that came up in your 

discussion just now with Ms Dawson, in terms of alternate approaches 25 

or at least some savings provisions within the plans there are expensive 

urban design guides around the place and some of them are good and 

some of them are not so good that are provision for reference to such 

guidelines or design standards that might be developed in the future 

and they might be an acceptable solution which could be a minimum 30 

lot size and dimension other than even though those might not be there 

now but they could be developed and indeed in the past this Council 

has developed such things.   

 

MS MCINTYRE:   So - - - 35 

 

MR UDALE:   A saving provision, if you like. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Right.  I certainly think that it would be helpful in the 

policy framework and in the assessment matters, matters for discretion 40 

to signal that those alternative solutions or innovative approaches 

should be given to consideration. 

 

MR UDALE:   A sort of compliance with an urban design guide that might yet 

be developed could be an alternate solution to slavishly complying with 45 
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a particular lot dimension which, might not of itself give a great urban 

design output?  

 

  [4.30 pm] 

 5 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, and in terms of my evidence in the residential hearing, 

to the extent that I can remember it, yes I was supporting targeting, 

making sure that assessment matters did provide for innovative 

solutions.  Also looking at using restricted discretion where possible 

rather than a higher test so that, well the restricted discretion plus 10 

inclusion in the matters for discretion of potential for innovation.  The 

flexibility for innovation allows you the opportunity to consider those 

things without having to jump too many hurdles. 

 

MR UDALE:   Okay, thank you.  No further questions. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Ms McIntyre, just a very few questions of my 

own thank you.  I want to start with this RPS policy 6.3.3 again please, 

and just coming back to the Halswell matter.  I do not want to put you 

on the spot right now about this because I don’t think that is fair, but I 20 

am thinking about the process of any caucusing which may take place. 

 

 If we look at what the evidence has brought out, ie in regard to 

stormwater ponds and that lack of detail, provision of water and sewage 

arrangements in terms of infrastructure.  We see those two matters in 25 

the RPS list I guess in F, 3F for instance, and there is probably another 

one there I think on infrastructure on the other side, perhaps it is 6 I 

think, further up the page, that doesn’t look like the one.  Yes it is, 6, 

document the infrastructure required. And then the question of the next 

one down which is about, I guess, aspects of density arrangements. 30 

 

 Do you think that if caucusing involved your careful consideration as 

witnesses of the evidence that we have heard, that you would be in a 

position to come back with an opinion as a planner on whether those 

matters, if they were to be addressed, should be publicly notified or 35 

whether they could be addressed non-notified through our processes 

under the order in Council?  Were the Panel to consider it beneficial to 

make changes to that outline plan at this time? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I think my answer to that would depend on getting an 40 

answer to some questions about how much work has been done in 

relation to actually, to addressing those matters and what process has 

been involved in that.  So I mean I suppose what the current state of 

information is and how much further assessment and further 

consideration is needed - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And who would you need to get that?  Yes. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   - - - in relation to addressing those.  Well the first people I 

would need to get it from is the people who are involved in the North 

Halswell development - -- 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Mr Brown for instance attending. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, and I understand from some conversation with 

Mr Brown last week that things have moved on significantly in terms 10 

of clarifying the needs for things like particularly stormwater drainage 

and stormwater retention in that area since the ODP.  I am not familiar 

at all with what process there has been between Mr Brown and the 

Council on that.  I am also not familiar as to what are the interests of 

neighbours and other people in that community.  I think it is probably 15 

something that Mr Long would be better able to comment on than me. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   But certainly you know, we may be able to have a better 20 

idea of that after caucusing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  In accordance with the code you may be able to 

form a view or you may not depending on what you hear. 

 25 

MS MCINTYRE:   That’s right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now just another couple of matters.  At 

paragraph 6.1 of your evidence I come back to a theme which I tested 

Mr Long about and it relates to the introduction section of the 30 

subdivision chapter and the very first paragraph of that introduction. 

 

  [4.35 pm] 

 

 And I noted with interest your own description there at 6.1 of what the 35 

subdivision role and the process is and I see your description there 

picks up some of those more strategic elements of what the subdivision 

regime does in a plan, is that correct? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I noticed that with interest when you were questioning 40 

Mr Long, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So do you think there would be some value in looking at 

how a subdivision is introduced into the plan by way of the 

introductory description in terms of what your evidence says and what 45 

it actually says now? 
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MS MCINTYRE:   I agree that the description in this introduction is very 

narrow and I think that it doesn’t fully reflect the scope of the policy 

framework that is in the chapter, I think it could do with some 

broadening, yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Particularly in light of the regional policy statement? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, and in light of those section 6 matters that you were 

referring to. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Now, just on this question of reference to 

documents perhaps by a website reference allowing for it to be updated, 

and there was some questioning about the Infrastructure Design 

Standard.  Just leafing my way through it at the moment I see for 15 

instance it deals with things like artwork in parks, picnic grounds and 

other things that the Council would like under the broad topic of 

infrastructure. 

 

 So would the way through that, bearing in mind one doesn’t want to 20 

design it according to what one current document says, would it be how 

we describe which aspects of any particular document would be 

relevant by way of the words in the plan? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I think so and I think it may be, I mean off the top of 25 

my head, words to the effect of, you know, “design standards in 

relation to water, wastewater and stormwater” or “water, wastewater, 

stormwater and roading infrastructure” or something of that nature. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Again identifying precisely the nature of the infrastructure 30 

at issue for the purposes of reference to those various documents that 

may from time to time be updated? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, any questions arising, 

Mr Carranceja? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, I should have done it the other way 

round, Ms Viskovic – I will have to ask you again now, you will get 

another opportunity. 

 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [4.37 pm] 45 
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MS VISKOVIC:   I just had one question that has arisen as a result of the 

questioning by Mr Udale.  Given the controlled activity status that is 

being proposed in relation to subdivision I am just wondering if there 

was no minimum dimension put on a site, do you consider that this 

could result in a situation where the Council had to accept or had to 5 

grant a subdivision consent for a lot that couldn’t meet land use 

standards including setbacks and so on? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Theoretically, yes, whether in practice that would happen I 

would have to have a detailed looked through the other rules to look at 10 

because I think there are a number of other requirements in terms of 

things like access standards which have dimensions on them and – 

well, shall I say I would be surprised if the combination of the other 

standards that are required in terms of the various things that have to be 

met would not actually achieve what you needed to achieve but, you 15 

know, I haven’t undertaken that exercise. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   So basically you would need to be careful in removing those 

minimum dimensions? 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   That is all, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Carranceja? 25 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you very much, Ms McIntyre, you can 

be excused for now, thanks very much to you and the other experts that 30 

have contributed so far. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.39 pm] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, that means there is no further Crown witnesses, sir, 35 

the other ones are to be taken as read so that is it for the Crown, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right, so we will deal with closings later and so 

forth, thanks very much, Mr Carranceja.  Ms Walsh? 

 40 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, sir.  I have got some copies of my legal 

submissions here to distribute. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. Just when you are ready, Ms Walsh. 

45 
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  [4.40 pm] 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon. So these submissions are filed 

on behalf of Ngāi Tahu Property and Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu and Ngā 

Rūnanga, and in the time available that we’ve had to review the latest 5 

proposal, primarily it seems to address Ngāi Tahu Properties concerns 

relating to the activity status and most of Te Rūnanga’s outstanding 

concerns with the exception of some amendments. 

 

 In terms of the controlled activity status for the new neighbourhood 10 

zone, the Panel might recall that Ngāi Tahu Property provided a 

significant amount of input through evidence and legal submissions on 

proposal 14 and that of course included in the scope of that hearing the 

subdivision rules for the new neighbourhood zone. 

 15 

 And, sir, I don’t wish to traverse what I’ve set out at paragraphs 4 

through 7, but that is just to, I guess for your benefit to cast your mind 

back to that evidence and to summarise the relevant parts of the 

transcript and the agreement that was reached between Ngāi Tahu 

Property and the Council’s witnesses that controlled activity status in 20 

respect of the New Neighbourhood Zones was agreed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS WALSH:   So at paragraph 8, sir, Ngāi Tahu Property doesn’t seek to 25 

repeat that evidence, but Mr Jones’s evidence is focusing on the matters 

addressed by the Council’s technical witnesses that relate to capacity. 

 

 So in relation to subdivision for other zones and the activity status that 

that should have, at paragraph 11 I’ve had the benefit of reading the 30 

Crown’s opening submissions and particularly in relation to the scope 

of conditions and those which can frustrate consents, I fully support 

those submissions and gratefully adopt those. 

 

 So cutting straight to the heart of the issue at paragraph 12, instead of 35 

traversing those issues I’ll just get to the capacity standard that we’ve 

been talking about and that’s a standard that was put forward by Mr 

Jones in the mediation report and it appears to have largely been 

accepted by the Council in its latest version, albeit with different 

wording. 40 

 

 And in my submission, such an approach will give all of the parties the 

best of both worlds by allowing for a controlled activity regime where 

capacity can be demonstrated and where it can’t be a restricted 

discretionary framework will apply. 45 
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 And that way all of the issues identified by the Council in its primary 

evidence, in respect of its inability to decline applications or impose 

conditions can be satisfied whilst giving certainty to developers where 

capacity exists. And this is the approach that was set out in Mr Jones’s 

evidence, the third approach. 5 

 

 It also has the benefit of not relying on constraints mapping per se, and 

I say that per se because that’s not to say that constraints mapping 

obviously wouldn’t be very helpful and can be used as an adjunct to 

demonstrate whether capacity is available under those standards. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS WALSH:   And other ways to ascertain whether capacity is available under 

that standard would be through the applicant providing a servicing 15 

report from a qualified engineer or of course by seeking confirmation 

from the Council servicing team that capacity exists. There are various 

options to demonstrate capacity and they could be included as advice 

notes to the rule to make it more certain. 

 20 

 Regardless of whether a capacity standard of this sort exists, it is clear 

from the Council’s evidence that it is going to have to determine 

whether capacity exists at some stage in the consent process, and it 

must be doing that as part of its processing of the applications at 

present. 25 

 

 It is therefore preferable or more preferable for that termination to take 

place before or at the start of the consent process to avoid expensive 

redesigns. 

 30 

 The capacity standard put forward by Mr Jones does not offend any 

case law principles relating to certainty of rules in my submission. It is 

generally accepted that rules which require a subjective judgement to 

be made in order to determine the activity status can create problems 

and can be found to be invalid. 35 

 

 However in relation to establishing capacity, which is a technical issue, 

either there is capacity or there is not, and while that may in some 

instances require an expert to undertake an evaluation to determine 

capacity, that is not akin to a subjective judgement, controlled activity 40 

standards are not invalid simply because they require such a valuation. 
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  [4.45 pm] 

 

 Section 77a of course contemplates that conditions attaching to 

controlled activity rules can be provided, sorry, provided they relate to 

matters under sections 108 and 220.  The matters in those sections are 5 

often of a technical nature in the capacity standard falls directly within 

the realm of section 1081C which requires services or works to be 

provided so consequently such matters can be provided as matters for 

control under the rule itself. 

 10 

 In a further approach which builds on the capacity standard and 

Mr Jones and the Council’s framework is of course the process we have 

been talking about today which is certification and in my submission it 

is not necessary for all subdivision applications to be certified as 

having capacity and I would see this certification process working 15 

alongside the rule to provide another option to demonstrate compliance 

of the capacity standard rather than every application having to go 

through that process. 

 

 So if the Panel is attracted to the idea of a more formal certification, 20 

much the same way as being discussed in previous hearings before the 

Panel, a certification regime could exist in house at the Council or 

perhaps through a Panel of approved engineers.  Either way, it is 

submitted that these issues of refinement in a capacity standard of some 

sort can in principle appropriately control servicing and is capable of 25 

providing all parties with a certainty they desire. 

 

 At paragraph 21 there are of course some ring fenced matters.  These 

relate to those matters which is subject of deferral such as springs and 

silent file areas and also other matters that have been identified as 30 

forming part of stage two and three and both submitters support the 

ring fencing of those matters in a particular activity status that should 

apply to those when they are dealt with in evidence at later stages. 

 

 There are some other minor issues for Ngāi Tahu property at paragraph 35 

22 and these submissions were drafted primarily before the Council’s 

revised version came through so paragraph 22 may now be obsolete.  

Paragraph 23 we have identified and Ms Stevens will be able to take 

through this in her highlights package but where there was only one 

remaining outstanding matter there now appears to be more and that is I 40 

think as a result of some matters perhaps being left out of the Council’s 

revised proposal. 

 

 So what I anticipate, sir, is attached to Ms Stevens’ evidence she had an 

appendix which identified all the outstanding matters so I suggest that 45 

we update that for you and provide that by way of memorandum later 
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in the hearing.  So unless you have any questions, sir, I am happy to - - 

- 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I will just check with my Panel members, I have just 

got one.  Just going back to around about paragraph 18 and I think you 5 

made the submission there about certification that it is not a necessary 

prerequisite.  You would want to make sure, would we not, that this 

entry standard into the status of control was not the subject of an 

inherent dispute between the Council and the applicant as to whether it 

was there or was not otherwise we would have people making 10 

applications for declaration or something to that affect which could 

make things a lot more problematic.  Did I hear you correctly in that? 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes, and I will explain that further, sir.  What I was meaning 

was that there appears to be areas from the Council’s technical 15 

evidence that a fairly indisputable, that there is capacity. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So for instance, say there was a map that was on a website 

that coloured the area green and gave it a big tick, and you would only 

have certified? 20 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes, you would not need to go through certification for that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you.  All right, so do you want to call 

Ms Stevens? 25 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes, I will call Ms Stevens. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will see how we go on time. 

30 
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<TANYA JANE STEVENS, sworn [4.49 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS WALSH [4.50 pm] 

 

MS WALSH:   We need a clock in this room. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well it is ten to five. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, we don’t have a clock 

 

MS WALSH:   Good afternoon, Ms Stevens.  Can you please confirm your full 

name for the record is Tanya Jane Stevens? 10 

 

MS STEVENS:   Yes, I do.  

 

MS WALSH:   And that you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 

8 June 2015. 15 

 

MS STEVENS:   I have. 

 

MS WALSH:   And that you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

the introductory paragraphs to that statement. 20 

 

MS STEVENS:   I do. 

 

MS WALSH:   Do you have any amendments or corrections you wish to make 

to that statement? 25 

 

MS STEVENS:   No, I don’t. 

 

MS WALSH:   So can you confirm that your statement is true and correct to 

the best of your knowledge and ability? 30 

 

MS STEVENS:   Yes, I can. 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you.  Now can you just take the Panel through a short 

highlights package and then remain for any questions.  35 

 

MS STEVENS:   Thank you.  Similar to some of the other - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Actually Ms Stevens, I might just get you to pause for a 

minute, just to make sure all the Commissioners have got everything 40 

ready. 

 

MS STEVENS:   Sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 45 
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MS STEVENS:   Similar to some of the other witnesses there may be a little bit 

of adlibbing, and please also excuse the cough lozenge, that might be 

preferable to the coughing. 

 

 Good afternoon, tena koutou. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Tena koe. 

 

MS STEVENS:   The Te Rūnanga and Ngā Rūnanga submissions sought the 

following.  To provide for the retention of indigenous biodiversity in 10 

subdivision, to protect water bodies, including springs from the outset 

of development, and to protect cultural landscapes from inappropriate 

subdivision.  To encourage a comprehensive assessment of the values 

of any site at subdivision stage, and to provide for customary access 

where appropriate. 15 

 

 As Ms Walsh has explained, a number of the cultural and heritage 

matters for the most part have been deferred until phase 3 when the 

Cultural and Natural Heritage Chapter is notified. 

 20 

 So following from the amendments incorporated into the Revised 

Proposal dated 21 May and the rebuttal version of the Proposal there 

are two outstanding points.  The first is customary access and the 

second is stormwater discharge, and I will also just cover off those 

matters that perhaps may not have made the transition into the version 25 

that was circulated this morning. 

 

 Customary access.  As noted in my evidence and the rebuttal evidence 

of Mr Long, the term “customary access” was discussed during formal 

mediation.  The use of the term was agreed to by both Mr Long and 30 

Ms McIntyre on the proviso that an explanation would be provided.  As 

recorded in my evidence, I considered that such a term would be useful 

throughout the Plan and not just for the benefit of the Subdivision 

Chapter. 

 35 

 For that reason, I propose that the term should be included in the 

Introduction Chapter.  The detail on this will be set out in the evidence 

of Ms Murchison in due course on behalf of Te Rūnanga and 

Ngā Rūnanga in the consideration of the Introduction Chapter. 

 40 

 Related to this point, I have considered the evidence of Ms Kim Seaton, 

on behalf of K Bush Road with regard to policy 8.1.2.7 (vii), and 

rebuttal evidence on that policy by Mr Long.  Ms Seaton is concerned 

that the policy as drafted is unclear as to what sites access is required 

for. 45 
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 I agree with Mr Long at paragraph 4.7 of his rebuttal, that this would be 

an appropriate location to use the term “customary access”, which with 

the amendments sought as part of the Introductory Chapter will provide 

greater clarity to plan users. 

 5 

 Further to that, I note as discussed that some agreed amendments, and 

in particular policy 8.1.1.4, which Mr Long and I had agreed to the 

inclusion of reference to customary access, haven’t followed through to 

the version which was circulated this morning.  It appears that there 

may be some matters that have been agreed, and if possible I would 10 

like to take the time to provide you with a comprehensive list. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well this evidence is not being cross-examined, and 

Ms Viskovic I am mindful of that election.  I am just wondering 

whether it is most convenient if we just allow the witness to 15 

supplement that list and have it in perhaps tomorrow. 

 

MS STEVENS:   That would be absolutely fine. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly.  20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then we can decide on that basis whether we accept it 

in on the basis of an agreement statement. 

 

MS WALSH:   Yes, sir.  25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Or have you recalled.  Thank you. 

 

MS STEVENS:   Finally, stormwater discharge.  Mr Long in his rebuttal 

evidence provides amended wording for policy 8.1.3.4.  As stated in 30 

my evidence, I am broadly comfortable with policy 8.1.3.4 J and L, as 

set out in Mr Long’s Revised Proposal, albeit I note that policy 8.1.3.4 

was a subject of mediation in the hearing on the Residential Chapter. 

 

 For the most part I am willing to accept the revised wording to that 35 

policy as included in the rebuttal version, and that circulated last night.  

The revised wording now incorporates reference to low impact urban 

design and is therefore closer to that which was agreed in mediation 

and heard during the Residential Hearings. 

 40 

 I do, however, have concerns with the inclusion of the phrase that uses 

“natural processes” as I believe that this gives an impression that low 

impact design should use natural waterways and stormwater 

management.  This would be at odds with Ngāi Tahu values. 

45 
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  [4.55 pm] 

 

  I therefore prefer the phrase that imitates natural processes or 

alternatively the deletion of that phrase.  In the event of deleting that 

phrase I believe the sentence would still convey the intent of the policy.  5 

I do have a version of that policy to table today, however, I can also 

add that to the memo for completeness if that is easier. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think what the best approach would be would be for 

you to be excused at this point, not be the subject of questions and to 10 

allow you to supplement your evidence with that additional statement 

for that to be coming in tomorrow sometime. 

 

 Ms Walsh, I wonder if you could coordinate with the secretariat as to 

when that fits into the timetable and we will simply call this witness 15 

then, have you re-sworn and ask any questions we might have. 

 

 Ms Viskovic, if there is anything in that list which you think you would 

like to review your position on cross-examination for, that can be 

accommodated if you ask.  I do not know – maybe there is nothing, but 20 

I do not know. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So perhaps if you just coordinate with Ms Walsh on 25 

timing so that no one is embarrassed. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I think that might be it for the day.  Could the Council 30 

please think overnight about the indication I made earlier in response to 

– I think there seems to be a reasonable amount of desire for a 

caucusing approach to be undertaken to produce another iteration to see 

if further refinements can be achieved at least between the Crown and 

the Council I am hearing that. 35 

 

 It is not intended as an opportunity for witnesses to be put under 

pressure by parties seeking to extract something for a process; that is 

not how it works.  The Panel’s questions elicit the areas where the 

Panel would be assisted so the concept of caucusing is different for 40 

mediation of course and I am inclined to think subject to Council’s 

views that caucusing is probably the more appropriate in the sense as I 

tested with Ms McIntyre that the experts are then dealing with the 

matters under the code and there does not seem to be such a great deal 

of difference between parties such that babysitting is required from 45 

clients. 
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 So it is over to you as to what you are asking us to do but I would like 

parties to confer, perhaps Ms Viskovic, if you were to – given it was 

your original idea – perhaps you could test with relevant other parties 

as to whether or not they would be wanting to be part of it and to 5 

update us in the morning. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly, sir.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that all right?  At some stage tomorrow anyway, if you 10 

could find that out. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, well we will see you all tomorrow. 15 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 4.58 PM UNTIL 

TUESDAY, 24 JUNE 2015 


